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NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K containsxfard-looking statements within the meaning of $eeurities Exchange Act of 1934 and the
Securities Act of 1933, which are subject to rigksgl uncertainties. The forward-looking statememttuide statements concerning, among other
things, our business strategy (including anticigatends and developments in, and management fdgraur business and the markets in
which we operate), financial results, operatingittss revenues, gross margin, operating expensedygts, projected costs and capital
expenditures, research and development prograihes, @ad marketing initiatives and competition. dme cases, you can identify these
statements by forward-looking words, such as "mayjght," "will," "could," "should," "expect," "pla," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate,"
"predict,” "intend" and "continue," the negativephural of these words and other comparable tertogyo The forward-looking statements are
based on information available to us as of thadililate of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and@urent expectations about future events,
which are inherently subject to change and invoisies and uncertainties. You should not place urrdliance on these forward-looking
statements. We undertake no obligation to updateofithese statements for any reason. Actual evantssults may differ materially from
those expressed or implied by these statementsdwsious factors, including but not limited teetimatters discussed in the section entitled
“ltem 1A: Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this FA®K. You should carefully consider the numerosksiand uncertainties described in such
section.

PART |
ltem 1: Business

We design, develop, manufacture, sell aigbsrt precision, high performance advanced serdiector wafer probe card products and
solutions. Semiconductor manufacturers use ourmmfibe cards to perform wafer sort and test orsémiconductor die, or chips, or the
whole semiconductor wafer, which is prior to siragidn of the wafer into individual separate chipsring wafer sort and test, a wafer probe
card is mounted in a prober, which in turn is canteé to a semiconductor tester. The wafer probe isaised as an interface to connect
electronically with and test individual chips omvafer. Our wafer probe cards are used by our custein the front end of the semiconductor
manufacturing process, as are our parametric bnénprobe cards. We introduced our first wafeq@greard based on our MicroSpring®
interconnect technology in 1995. We offer prodwtd solutions that are custom designed for semigtind manufacturers' unique wafer
designs and enable them to reduce their overallafdsst.

The oversupply of memory devices in thdygaart of our fiscal 2008 coupled with the overdlonomic slowdown had a significant
impact on global semiconductor device manufactuand produced a challenging environment for ouaaded wafer test products. Overall,
our revenue declined year-over-year in each ofrthr semiconductor device segments we address—igriRandom Access Memory, or
DRAM, NAND and NOR Flash and System on Chip, or Sokese results were due to a number of factotadinyg the relative supply and
demand of various semiconductor devices and emdlpts incorporating those devices, device manufaxguefforts to conserve cash by
pulling back on production and by delaying the rashpew technology nodes. To face these challenges$pcused on demand-generation
including working to win over customers with an iraped full-wafer contact product platform. At thense time, management resized the
organization to better align operations with theibass environment, match demand, and to improgeatipg efficiency. We also moved more
resources closer to our customers, by extendingatipn Japan, Singapore and South Korea. As the y@gressed, the oversupply of men
devices in the market was compounded by lower ddnfanconsumer electronics, further exacerbatiragipction imbalances.
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Products

Our products are based on our propriegghrologies, including our MicroSpring interconniethnology and design tools. Our
MicroSpring interconnect technology, which includesilient spring-like contact elements, enableoysroduce wafer probe cards for
applications that require reliability, speed, pséan and signal integrity. We manufacture our M&pang contact elements through precision
micro-machining and scalable semiconductor-likeenédbrication processes. Our MicroSpring contaotssprings that optimize the relative
amounts of force on, and across, a bond pad dtimatest process and maintain their shape andgositer a range of compression. These
characteristics allow us to achieve reliable, ele@t contact on either clean or oxidized surfageduding bond pads on a wafer. MicroSpring
contacts enable our wafer probe cards to make bdsdf thousands of touchdowns with minimal maiater for many device applications.
The MicroSpring contact can be attached to manfases, or substrates, including printed circuitrdeasilicon wafers, ceramics and various
metalized surfaces.

Since its original conception, the MicroiBgrcontact has evolved into a library of springmbs and technologies. Our designers use this
library to design an optimized custom wafer proaeldor each customemique application. Since developing this fundaraktgchnology, w:
have broadened and refined it to respond to the&sing requirements of testing smaller, fastermmace complex semiconductor devices. We
continue to invest in research and developmentitie8 around our interconnect technologies, intigcur micro-electro-mechanical systems,
or MEMS, technology, as our MicroSpring contactgenacaled in size with the evolution of semicondrs:t

Our MicroSpring contacts include geomethjcprecise tip structures. These tip structuresthe part of our wafer probe cards that come
into physical contact with the devices being tested are manufactured using proprietary micro-rimaicy) semiconductor-like processes.
These tip structures enable precise contact withlldond pad sizes and pitches. Our technologyalifor the design of specific geometries of
the contact tip that deliver precise and prediegtabdctrical contact for a customer's particulgiaption.

Our wafer probe cards are custom prodietsédre designed to order for our customers' unigafer designs. For high parallelism merr
test applications, our products require large amrdact array sizes because they must accommaaet®t thousands of simultaneous contacts.
Our current technology enables probe cards foatedpplications to be populated with over 40,000tacts. This requirement poses
fundamental challenges that our technology addsegseuding the planarity of the array, the foreeded to make contact and the need to
touch all bond pads with equal accuracy. We hawveldped wafer probe cards that use array sizesnmgrfigom 50 mm x 50 mm up to array
sizes suitable for contacting all die on a 300 mafiewsimultaneously, in combination with complexltinlayer printed circuit boards that we
have designed.

We have invested and intend to continuevest considerable resources in our wafer probe dasign tools and processes. These tools
and processes enable automated routing and tnagth ladjustment within our printed circuit boardsl greatly enhance our ability to rapidly
design and lay out complex printed circuit boardctures. Our proprietary design tools also enabl® design wafer probe cards particularly
suited for testing today's low voltage, high powkips. Low voltage, high frequency chips requirpesior power supply performance. Our
MicroSpring interconnect technology is used to pewva very low inductance, low resistance electpedh between the power source and the
chip under test.

Because our customers typically use ouewarfobe cards in a wide range of operating tentpers, as opposed to conducting wafer p
test at one predetermined temperature, we havgraesicomplex thermal compensation characteristtosdur products. We select our wafer
probe card materials after careful consideratiothefpotential range of test operating temperataneisdesign our wafer probe cards to provide
for a precise match with the thermal expansionaxttaristics
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of the wafer under test. As a result, our wafebproards are able to accurately probe over a faryge of operating temperatures. This feature
enables our customers to use the same wafer pestidar both low and high temperature testing withe loss of performance. In addition, for
those testing situations that require positionaligacy at a specific temperature, we have desigrader probe cards optimized for testing at
such temperatures.

We have many spring shapes, different géaeady-precise tip structures, various array sizes andrdes/printed circuit board layouts t
enable a wide variety of solutions for our cust@n@ur designers select the most appropriate setekements, or modify or improve upon
such existing elements, and integrate them withotluer technologies to deliver a custom solutiotinoged for the customer's requirements.

Our technology investment yielded sevedaimces in fiscal 2008. In July, we announced ateelwnology to enhance probe card
performance and productivity. The new technologygwn as RapidSoak™ technology, is designed to eethestime required for the probe
card to reach thermal stability. By shorteningtihee needed to bring a probe card to a desirede¢eaityre, RapidSoak technology improves
productivity during probe card installation, waéxchanges, lot changes and probe card maintensliadetaining thermal stability also has a
positive effect on contact accuracy, since vanetim temperature cause expansion and contragtiioducing contact alignment challenges.

In November 2008, we introduced DC-BoosE¢hnology to help our customers lower their tefitiehcy by enabling the test of more
devices on a single wafer simultaneously. The D@dBtechnology allows our customers to use testenrels more efficiently, increasing test
throughput, and extending the life of their exigttast equipment. This technology incorporatesiegfibn specific integrated circuits into our
products in order to multiply the number of devioes customers can test in parallel, bringing a degree of intelligence to the probe card
providing a roadmap for further parallelism improments on new device designs and tester platforms.

The Harmony™ eXP full-wafer contact solatiwas introduced in December 2008, the culminatioseveral platform improvements to
support 300 mm DRAM wafer test requirements. The Rarmony eXP solution incorporates mechanical anements to improve planarity
(touch all contacts on an even plane), includesve MicroSpring contactor design to enable pad pitchs small as 60 microns, and allows a
20% reduction in pad size compared to previous rgeioa Harmony products. In combination with certaf our other proprietary
technologies, including our RapidSoak technolobg, Hlarmony eXP solution enables our customersrtirage their test cost reduction and
test technology roadmaps as they transition tolsmaévices.

Customers

Our customers include manufacturers inDRAM, Flash and SoC markets. Our customers usevatar probe cards to test DRAM chips
including DDR, DDR2, DDR3, SDRAM, PSRAM, mobile DRA and Graphic DRAM, NOR and NAND flash memory chigerial data
devices, chipsets, microprocessors and microcdetsol
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Three customers accounted for 51.3% ofewenues in fiscal 2008, four customers accourde63.0% of our revenues in fiscal 2007,
and three customers accounted for 47.3% of ounte&in fiscal 2006, as follows:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2008 2007 2006

Elpida 27.1% 26.2% 22.7%

Intel Corporatior 12.¢ 10.C 12

Spansior 10.7 14. *

Powerchig * 1224 12.C
* Less than 10% of revenues.

Information concerning revenue by geograpégion and by country based upon invoicing lasatippears under "ltem 7: Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &esults of Operations—Revenues—Revenue by Geogr&agion" and Note 12—
Operating Segment and Geographic Information oNbees to our Consolidated Financial Statementsstwéire included elsewhere in this 10-
K.

Backlog

Our backlog was $40.9 million at Decembgr2008 compared to $46.8 million at December 29,72 We manufacture our wafer probe
cards based on order backlog and customer commntismeraddition, due to our customers' short dejitene requirements, we at times
produce our products in anticipation of demandofar products. Backlog includes only orders for vahieritten authorizations have been
accepted and shipment dates within 12 months hese assigned. In addition, backlog includes sem&genue for existing product service
agreements to be earned within the next 12 mo@thstomers may delay delivery of products or cano#érs prior to shipment, subject to
possible cancellation penalties. Due to possibéaghs in delivery schedules and cancellationsddrsr our backlog on any particular date is
not necessarily indicative of actual sales for smgceeding period. Delays in delivery schedulegaaradreduction in backlog during any
particular period could have a material adversectfbn our business and results of operations.

Manufacturing

Our wafer probe cards are custom prodetswe design to order for our customers' uniquiema@esigns. We manufacture our products

at our facility located in Livermore, Californianiled States, and we are ramping parts of our naatwfing processes in regions within Asi
part of our global regionalization strategy.

Another aspect of our global regionalizattrategy we are implementing is the movemenpefational resources and capabilities to
different country regions in Asia to be closer to oustomers in order to enhance our customerigaktips, improve our responsiveness and
increase our product serviceability. The first ghabthis strategy was focused on Singapore, wiverbave established design, sales,
procurement and administrative functions. We algaldished test and assembly manufacturing opesatioSouth Korea in the fourth quarter
of 2008. During fiscal 2008, we decided not to jgext with the construction of a new manufacturirgjlitsg at our proposed site in Singapore,
and in February 2009, we terminated our land leffee in Singapore and surrendered the land tdetbsor. We plan to expand our capabilities
in Singapore to include front-end manufacturingcesses.

Our proprietary manufacturing processehliohe wirebonding, photolithography, plating and atlergical processes, dry and electro-

deposition, and complex interconnection systemgeSihe critical steps in our manufacturing proagsperformed in a Class 100 clean room
environment. We
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also expend considerable resources on the assamtbliest of our wafer probe cards and on qualibtrob

We depend upon suppliers for some critcahponents of our manufacturing processes, inaudaramic substrates and complex printed
circuit boards, and for materials used in our maaotufring processes. Some of these components aediatgare supplied by a single vendor.
Generally, we rely on purchase orders rather thag-term contracts with our suppliers which sulger to risks including price increases and
component shortages. We continue to evaluate atigensources of supply for these components anch&terials.

We maintain a repair and service capalbitityivermore, California, United States. We algovide repair and service capabilities in our
service centers in Gyeonggi-do, South Korea; Dnes@ermany; Yokohama City, Japan and Jubei Citjwdia.

Research, Development and Engineering

The semiconductor industry is subject fmddechnological change and new product introdunstiand enhancements. We believe that our
continued commitment to research and developmeahbantimely introduction of new and enhanced waf@be test solutions and other
technologies related to our MicroSpring intercoririechnology are integral to maintaining our contpet position. We continue to invest
considerable time and resources in creating stredtprocesses for undertaking, tracking and conmgietur development projects, and plan to
implement those developments into new productahrelogy offerings. We continue to allocate sigrafit resources to these efforts and tc
automation and information technology to providditidnal efficiencies in our research and develophaetivities.

Research and development expenses werd 86lion for fiscal 2008, $61.0 million for fisc&l007, and $46.6 million for fiscal 2006.

Our research and development activitiedudiing our product engineering activities, areedied by individuals with significant expertise
and industry experience. As of December 27, 20@8had 199 employees in research and development.

Sales and Marketing

We sell our products utilizing a proprigtaales model that emphasizes the customer'scimsbf ownership as it relates to the costs of
test. With this sales model, we strive to demomsthaw test costs can be reduced by simulatinguktmer's test floor environment, includ
testers and probers, utilizing our products andpaming the overall cost of test to that of convemail wafer probe cards.

We sell our products worldwide primarilydligh our direct sales force, a distributor ané¢hindependent sales representatives. As of
December 27, 2008, we had 27 sales professiomaldoith America, South Korea, Taiwan, Singapore daghn, we sell our products through
our direct sales force. In Europe, our local stdasn works with two independent sales represeemawnd in North America our sales force
works with one independent sales representativindriPeople's Republic of China, we sell througindXpCorporation, our regional distributc
We also have the ability to sell our products digeto customers in the People's Republic of Chinaluly 2008, we terminated our agreement
with Spirox for the distribution of our productshfialaysia, Philippines and Singapore and transiibto a direct sales model in those count

Our marketing staff located in Livermorelifrnia, United States, Jubei City, Taiwan ankyi@ Japan, works closely with customers to
understand their businesses, anticipate trendsl@fimte products that will provide significant teatal and economic advantages to our
customers.
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We utilize a highly skilled team of fielg@lication engineers that support our custometh@gintegrate our products into their
manufacturing processes. Through these custonaiomrships, we develop a close understanding dbmesr and product requirements,
thereby accelerating our customers' production amp

Environmental Matters

We are subject to U.S. federal, state andl] and foreign governmental laws and regulatrefeting to the protection of the environment,
including those governing the discharge of polltganto the air and water, the management and s@é hazardous substances and wastes,
the clean-up of contaminated sites and the maintenaf a safe workplace. We believe that we corpbll material respects with the
environmental laws and regulations that apply tan@uding those of the California Department @fic Substances Control, the Bay Area
Quality Management District, the City of Livermdi¢ater Resources Division and the California Divisad Occupational Safety and Health.
We received two notices of violation in fiscal 2087d one notice of violation in the first quartéfiscal 2008 from the City of Livermore
regarding violation of certain applicable wasteeavatischarge limits. For each notice received, veenptly investigated the violation, took
what we believed to be appropriate steps to addihessause of the violation, and implemented ctirreaneasures to prevent a recurrence. We
implemented additional waste water treatment cdipabi consultation with the City of Livermore, drpurchased additional waste water
discharge capacity, which we required as a resultiothen increased manufacturing capacity, thhaihg City of Livermore. No provision has
been made for loss from environmental remediafaduilities associated with our Livermore facilitedause we believe that it is not probable
that a liability has been incurred as of Decemlyer2D08.

While we believe that we are in compliaircall material respects with the environmentaldaamd regulations that apply to us, in the
future, we may receive additional environmentalation notices, and if received, final resolutidrtiee violations identified by these notices
could harm our operations, which may adversely thpar operating results and cash flows. New lam& r@gulations, stricter enforcement of
existing laws and regulations, the discovery of/mesly unknown contamination at our or othergsivr the imposition of new cleanup
requirements could also harm our operations, tlyeaelversely impacting our operating results anth ¢asvs.

Competition

The highly competitive wafer probe card kedtis comprised of many domestic and foreign camgsa and has historically been
fragmented with many local suppliers servicing uidlial customers. Our current and potential comgetin the wafer probe card market
include Advantest Corporation, Aehr Test SystemdSA Co., Ltd., Cascade Microtech, Inc., Feinme&tibH, Korea Instrument Co., Ltd.,
Japan Electronic Materials Corporation, SV Prohe,,IMicronics Japan Co., Ltd., Microfriend Incechnoprobe Asia Pte. Ltd.,
MicroProbe, Inc., Phicom Corporation, Tokyo Cathhdéoratory Co., Ltd., Tokyo Electron Ltd., TouckdoTechnologies, Inc.,

TSE Co., Ltd. and Wentworth Laboratories, Inc., amothers. In addition to the ability to addressen@robe card performance issues, the
primary competitive factors in the industry in wiiwe compete include product quality and reliapilirice, total cost of ownership, lead
times, the ability to provide prompt and effectatestomer service, field applications support anmkliness of delivery.

Some of our competitors are also suppbéisther types of test equipment or other semicotattequipment, or offer both advanced w
probe cards and needle probe cards, and may haag=gfinancial and other resources than we doeXpect that our competitors will enhance
their current wafer probe products and that they maoduce new products that will be competitivithwour wafer probe cards. In addition, it
is possible that new competitors, including testipapent manufacturers, may offer new technolodias teduce the value of our wafer probe
cards.
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Additionally, semiconductor manufactureraynimplement chip designs that include built-irf$est capabilities or similar functions or
methodologies that increase test throughput andredite some or all of our current competitive adagas. Our ability to compete favorably
may also be adversely affected by (1) low volunaeos that do not meet our present minimum volurgairements, (2) very short cycle time
requirements which may be difficult for us to me8),long-standing relationships between our coitgrstand certain semiconductor
manufacturers, and (4) semiconductor manufactestrstrategies that include low performance sendicotor testers.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part upon ouryabdlitontinue to innovate and invest in researahdavelopment to meet the semiconductor
testing requirements of our customers, to mairdgath protect our proprietary technology and to cahdur business without infringing the
proprietary rights of others. We rely on a combimrabf patents, trade secrets, trademarks andaingl restrictions on disclosure to protect
our intellectual property rights.

As of December 27, 2008, we had 547 ispaents, of which 282 are United States patent&bdare foreign patents. The expiration
dates of these patents range from 2013 to 2027isSued patents cover many of the features ofrdardonnect technology, as well as some of
our inventions related to wafer probe cards antihiggswafer-level packaging and test, sockets asseémblies and chips. In addition, as of
December 27, 2008, we had 597 patent applicatiendipg worldwide, including 171 United States agatiions, 426 foreign national or
regional stage applications and 27 Patent Cooperatieaty applications. We cannot provide any aswe that our current patent applications,
or any future patent applications that we may fil#l, result in a patent being issued with the segpthe claims we seek, or at all, or whether
any patents that we may obtain will not be chaléehgr invalidated. Even if additional patents asied, our patents might not provide
sufficiently broad coverage to protect our progaigtrights or to avoid a third party claim agaiose or more of our products or technologies.

We have both registered and unregistesatbtnarks, including FormFactor, DC-Boost, HarmdwigroSpring, MicroForce, MicroLign,
RapidSoak, TRE, TrueScale and the FormFactor logo.

We routinely require our employees, custansuppliers and potential business partnerster érto confidentiality and non-disclosure
agreements before we disclose to them any sensitipeoprietary information regarding our produteghnology or business plans. We req
our employees to assign to us proprietary inforamatinventions and other intellectual property toegate, modify or improve.

Legal protections afford only limited proten for our proprietary rights. We also may netduccessful in our efforts to enforce our
proprietary rights. To date, for example, we hagerbunsuccessful in our efforts to enforce cedéiour patent rights in South Korea.
Notwithstanding our efforts to protect our propaigtrights, unauthorized parties may attempt toyagpects of our products or to obtain .
use information that we regard as proprietary. Ftiome to time, we have become aware of situationsrev others are or may be infringing on
our proprietary rights. We evaluate these situat@asthey arise and elect to take actions ag&iesetcompanies as we deem appropriate.
Others might independently develop similar or cotimgetechnologies or methods or design around atergs, or attempt to manufacture and
sell infringing products in countries that do ntvbagly enforce intellectual property rights or éhahvalid our intellectual property rights. In
addition, leading companies in the semiconductdustry have extensive patent portfolios and othillectual property with respect to
semiconductor technology. Actions have been fitethe U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and patiices in other countries, challenging
the validity of certain of our patents. In the ftguwe might receive claims that we are infringiniggllectual property rights of others or that «
patents or other intellectual property rights anealid. We have received in the past,
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and may receive in the future, communications ftbird parties inquiring about our interest in lisérg certain of their intellectual property or
more generally identifying intellectual propertyathmay be of interest to us.

We have invested significant time and resesiin our technology and as a part of our ongeffayts to protect the intellectual property
embodied in our proprietary technologies, including MicroSpring interconnect technology and degigrcesses, we may pursue actions to
enforce our intellectual property rights againétiinging third parties.

For a description of the material patematel proceedings in which we are involved, seenilB: Legal Proceedings".
Employees

As of December 27, 2008, we had 940 redulktime employees, including 199 in research and dgveént, 125 in sales and marketi
106 in general and administrative functions, and iBloperations. By region, 785 of our employeesawe North America, 56 in Japan, 21 in
Taiwan, 36 in South Korea, 26 in Singapore, anthlBurope. No employees are currently covered bgllactive bargaining agreement. We
believe that our relations with our employees aredy

In January 2009, we announced a globabesozation and cost reduction plan that reducedytmbal workforce. We had 784 regular full-
time employees after the January 2009 global redrgton.

Available Information

We maintain a website lattp://www.formfactor.comWe make available free of charge on our websiteaonual report on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current report$orm 8-K and amendments to those reports filediori$hed pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15
(d) of the Exchange Act, as soon as reasonablytipaséte after we electronically file such matemath, or furnish it to, the SEC. The reference
to our website does not constitute incorporatioméfgrence of the information contained at the site

The public may also read and copy any nadsethat we file with the SEC at the SEC's PuBleference Room at 100 F Street N.E.,
Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain infation on the operation of the Public ReferencerRby calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-
0330. The SEC also maintains an Internet websitedbntains reports and other information regarisgers, such as FormFactor, that file
electronically with the SEC. The SEC's Internet gihis located dittp://www.sec.gov
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Directors and Executive Officers

Directors. The names of the members of our board of directheir ages as of December 27, 2008 and theiemt occupations are set
forth below.

Name of Director Age Current Occupation

Dr. Homa Bahram 53 Senior Lecturer at the Haas School of Businessyésgity of California at Berkele
Dr. Thomas J. Campbe 56 Presidential Fellow and Distinguished Visiting Rrefor of Law at Chapman Univer:
G. Carl Everett, Jr 58 Partner at Accel LLI

Dr. Igor Y. Khandros 54 Chairman of Board of Directors of FormFactor, |

Lothar Maier 53 Chief Executive Officer and Director of Linear Techogy Corporatiot

James A. Prestridc 7€ Director of FormFacto

Dr. Mario Rusce\ 52 Chief Executive Officer and Director of FormFacting.

Harvey A. Wagne 67 Chief Executive Officer, President and DirectoiGafregiver Services, In

Dr. Homa Bahramhas served as a Director since December 2004. &wabni is a Senior Lecturer at the Haas Schoolusiriss,
University of California at Berkeley. Dr. Bahrama$ibeen on the Haas School faculty since 1986sawdtiely published on organizational
design and organizational development challengddrands in the high technology sector. Dr. Bahreummiently serves on the board of
directors of one privately held company. Dr. Bahrhoids a Ph.D. in organizational behavior froma@stiniversity, United Kingdom.

Dr. Thomas J. Campbedilas served as a Director since January 2006. Dnp8ell previously served as a Director from Julp2€hrougl!
November 2004, when he resigned to become the Oire€ Finance for the State of California. Dr. Gabell has served as a professor al
Haas School of Business since August 2002. Dr. @aths currently on leave from the University cdiornia at Berkeley to serve as
Presidential Fellow and Distinguished Visiting Risdor of Law at Chapman University in Orange, Galifa. Dr. Campbell was the Dean of
the Haas School of Business at the University dif@aia at Berkeley from August 2002 to July 20@&king a leave of absence from this post
when he became California Director of Finance.@ampbell was the California Director of FinancenfrBecember 2004 through November
2005. Dr. Campbell was a professor at Stanford Batwool from 1983 to August 2002. Dr. Campbell sdrag a U.S. congressman from 1989
to 1993 and from 1995 to January 2001, and asifo@ah state senator from 1993 to 1995. Dr. Canfideo served as Director of the Federal
Trade Commission's Bureau of Competition from 1881983. Dr. Campbell serves on the board of dimsodf Visa Inc., a publicly traded
company, where he is Chairman of the Governancendtiee and a member of the Compensation CommifteeCampbell holds a B.A., an
M.A. and a Ph.D. in economics from the UniversityChicago, and a J.D. from Harvard Law School.

G. Carl Everett, Jrhas served as a Director since June 2001. Mr. BEvfetended GCE Ventures, a venture advisement filmmpril
2001. Mr. Everett has served as a partner at Adde] a venture capital firm, since 2002. From Feloyul 998 to April 2001, Mr. Everett
served as Senior Vice President, Personal Systemg@f Dell Inc. During 1997, Mr. Everett was opersonal sabbatical. From 1978 to
December 1996, Mr. Everett held several managepwsitions with Intel Corporation, including SenMice President and General Manage
the Microprocessor Products Group, and Senior Piasident and General Manager of the Desktop Ptediroup. Mr. Everett currently
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serves on the board of directors of three privatelg companies. Mr. Everett holds a B.A. in bustnadministration and a Doctorate of laws
from New Mexico State University.

Dr. Igor Y. Khandrogounded FormFactor in April 1993. Dr. Khandros Basved as Chairman of our Board of Directors sihoee 2008
and as a Director since our company's foundingKbandros served as our Chief Executive Officenfrépril 1993 to June 2008.
Dr. Khandros also served as our President fromlAB83 to November 2004. From 1990 to 1992, Dr.iklras served as the Vice Presider
Development of Tessera Technologies, Inc., a pesvad chip scale packaging technology that he eméied. From 1986 to 1990, he was
employed at the Yorktown Research Center of IBMpgbaation as a member of the technical staff anchaager. From 1979 to 1985,
Dr. Khandros was employed at ABEX Corporation, stiog foundry and composite parts producer, aseareh metallurgist and a manager,
and he was an engineer from 1977 to 1978 at thituiesof Casting Research in Kiev, Ukraine. Dr.afldros holds an M.S. equivalent degree
in metallurgical engineering from Kiev Polytechiistitute in Kiev, Ukraine, and a Ph.D. in metadjyifrom Stevens Institute of Technology.

Lothar Maierhas served as a Director since November 2006. Mreivhas served as the Chief Executive Officerantember of the
board of directors of Linear Technology Corporatiarsupplier of high performance analog integraiezlits, since January 2005. Prior to tl
Mr. Maier served as Linear Technology's Chief OtiegeOfficer from April 1999 to December 2004. Begqgoining Linear Technology,

Mr. Maier held various management positions at €gpiSemiconductor Corporation, a provider of higifggmance, mixed-signal,
programmable solutions, from 1983 to 1999, mostméy as Senior Vice President and Executive Viesigent of Worldwide Operations.
Mr. Maier holds a B.S. in chemical engineering frtiva University of California at Berkeley.

James A. Prestridgeas served as a Director since April 2002 and éased as our Lead Independent Director since J0A8.2
Mr. Prestridge served as Chairman of our Boardiodd@ors from August 2005 to June 2008. Mr. Prdgeiserved as a consultant for
Empirix Inc., a provider of test and monitoringwadns for communications applications, from OctoP@01 until October 2003. From June
1997 to January 2001, Mr. Prestridge served asector of five private companies that were amalgach&nto Empirix. Mr. Prestridge served
as a director of Teradyne, Inc., a manufactureusdmated test equipment, from 1992 until 2000. Riestridge was Vice-Chairman of
Teradyne from January 1996 until May 2000 and skagExecutive Vice President of Teradyne from 1993 May 1997. Mr. Prestridge
holds a B.S. in general engineering from the U.&/all Academy and an M.B.A. from Harvard Universif. Prestridge served as a Captai
the U.S. Marine Corps.

Dr. Mario Ruscevhas served as our Chief Executive Officer since R008 and a member of our board of directors siaoceary 2008,
when he joined our company. Dr. Ruscev previoustyedd as our President from January 2008 to Jud@. Bior to FormFactor, Dr. Ruscev
served as President of Testing Schlumberger Qilfgdrvices of Schlumberger Limited, a services amygsupplying technology, project
management and information solutions for optimiziegformance in the oil and gas industry, from Ap€06 to December 2007. He also held
several executive positions at Schlumberger dutia@3 year career with that company, includingskient of Schlumberger Water and
Carbon Services from April 2002 to March 2006, Riesst of Wireline Schlumberger Oilfield Servicesrit January 2001 to March 2002 and
President of Geco-Prakla Schlumberger Oilfield ®e/from April 1999 to December 2000. Dr. Rusaeseived a Doctorate in Nuclear
Physics from Université, Pierre et Marie Curie ariB, France and a Ph.D. in Nuclear Physics frome Uaiversity.

Harvey A. Wagnehas served as a Director since February 2005. Mg’ joined Caregiver Services, Inc., a providentome care
services, as the President and Chief Executive@ffind a member of the board of directors on Afrd008. Mr. Wagner founded the H.A.
Wagner Group, LLC, a consulting firm, where he daved as managing principal since July 2007. Magkér previously served as President
and Chief Executive Officer of Quovadx, Inc. (nowaithvision, Inc.), a
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software and services company, from October 20Q4ip 2007, and as a member of the board of diredbQuovadx from April 2004 to July
2007. From May 2004 through October 2004, Mr. Wageeved as acting President and Chief Executifie€fof Quovadx. Prior to joining
Quovadx, he served as Executive Vice PresidenCimef Financial Officer of Mirant Corporation, amdependent energy company, from
January 2003 through April 2004. Prior to joiningrdht, Mr. Wagner was Executive Vice President ioflce, Secretary, Treasurer, and C
Financial Officer at Optio Software, Inc., a prosidf business process improvement solutions, ffeliruary 2002 to December 2002. From
May 2001 to January 2002, he performed independ®argulting services for various corporations. Hs @hief Financial Officer and Chief
Operating Officer for PaySys International, In@anfr December 1999 to April 2001. Mr. Wagner alsoagion the board of directors of

Cree, Inc., a publicly traded company, where Hehairman of the Audit Committee and a member ofNbeninating and Governance
Committee. Mr. Wagner serves on the Board of Statte., a publicly traded company, where he isi@han of the Audit Committee, a
member of the Governance Committee and a memhbbedompensation Committee. Mr. Wagner holds a/&.B. accounting from the
University of Miami.

Executive Officers. Our executive officers in fiscal 2008, theieags of December 27, 2008 and their positions evittcompany in
fiscal 2008 are set forth below.

Name Age Position

Dr. Mario Rusce\ 52 Chief Executive Office

Jean B. Verne 47 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
Richard M. Freema 60 Senior Vice President, Operatic

Stuart L. Merkadea 47 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Seg

Dr. Mario Ruscevhas served as our Chief Executive Officer since R008 and a member of our board of directors siaceary 2008,
when he joined our company. Dr. Ruscev previoustyedd as our President from January 2008 to Jud@. Bior to FormFactor, Dr. Ruscev
served as President of Testing Schlumberger Qilfgdrvices of Schlumberger Limited, a services amygsupplying technology, project
management and information solutions for optimiziegformance in the oil and gas industry, from Ap€06 to December 2007. He also held
several executive positions at Schlumberger duria@3 year career with that company, includingslent of Schlumberger Water and
Carbon Services from April 2002 to March 2006, Riesst of Wireline Schlumberger Oilfield Servicesrit January 2001 to March 2002 and
President of Geco-Prakla Schlumberger Oilfield ®e/from April 1999 to December 2000. Dr. Rusaeseived a Doctorate in Nuclear
Physics from Université, Pierre et Marie Curie ariB, France and a Ph.D. in Nuclear Physics frome Uaiversity.

Jean B. Verngbined our company in March 2008, as Chief Finan@idicer and Senior Vice President. Mr. Vernet\poeisly served as
the Director of Risk and Assistant Treasurer at Rido Alcan, one of five product groups of Rio Tarplc, a leading international mining
group from July 2007 to March 2008. Prior to jomiRio Tinto, Mr. Vernet worked for more than 10 seat Schlumberger Limited, a services
company supplying technology, project managemedti@formation solutions for optimizing performancethe oil and gas industry, from
October 1996 to June 2007, where he held seveydkkelership positions, including Finance Dire@od Controller of the REW Wireline
Business Unit and Corporate R&D, from July 2004uae 2007 and Treasurer of Atlantic Asia from Jan@803 to June 2004, as well as
various risk management and treasury roles. Mrn®teholds a M.S. degree in mechanical engineering the Ecole Centrale de Lyon in
France an M.B.A in analytic finance and accounthogn the University of Chicago and a B.S. equiveiermathematics and physics from
Lycée Janson de Sailly in France.
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Richard M. Freemamhas served as our Senior Vice President, Manufagtsince January 2009. Mr. Freeman previouslyexeas our
Senior Vice President Operations from Septembe#d 20@ecember 2008. Mr. Freeman previously serge@haef Operating Officer at
ChipPAC Inc. a provider of semiconductor packaguawgign, assembly, test and distribution servioas fNovember 2000 to December 2003.
He also served as Senior Vice President of Manuifiaagt for Cypress Semiconductor Corporation, fropriA1999 to November 2000. Prior to
this, Mr. Freeman spent over 20 years in semicaiedumcanufacturing at National Semiconductor Corpioraand Fairchild Semiconductor
International, Inc., the last position as Vice Rtest of Worldwide Wafer Manufacturing. Mr. Freemlaolds a M.S. degree in chemistry from
the University of Arizona and a B.S. degree in cls¢m from Michigan Technological University.

Stuart L. Merkadeahas served as one of our Senior Vice Presidents shttober 2003 and as our General Counsel anétascsince
October 2002. Mr. Merkadeau previously served asadrour Vice Presidents from October 2002 to Saptr 2003, and as our Vice President
of Intellectual Property from July 2000 to Octol2602. From 1990 to July 2000, Mr. Merkadeau practiaw as an associate and then a
partner with Graham & James LLP, where he speeidlin licensing and strategic counseling in intlial property matters. Mr. Merkadeau is
admitted to practice in California and registeregtactice before the U.S. Patent and Trademaric®©ffr. Merkadeau holds a B.S. in
industrial engineering from Northwestern Universityd a J.D. from the University of California atd.Angeles.

Iltem 1A: Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the followirigk factors, as well as the other informationhis Annual Report on Form 1K; in evaluating
FormFactor and our business. If any of the follayiisks actually occur, our business, financialditon and results of operations would
suffer, the trading price of our common stock cadgdline and you may lose all or part of your inkent in our common stock.

Our operating results are likely to fluctuate, whiccould cause us to miss market analyst or invesgpectations and cause the trading pr
of our common stock to decline.

Our operating results have fluctuated anlhst and are likely to continue to fluctuate aAgsult, we believe you should not rely on
period-to-period comparisons of our financial résals indicators of our future performance. Somi@important factors that could cause our
revenues, operating results and outlook to fluetfietm period-to-period include:

. customer demand for and adoption of our prodt
. market and competitive conditions in our industhg semiconductor industry and the economy as deywho
. our ability to improve operating efficiency to aehe operating cash flow break even in the curresirtess environment and to

better position our company for long-term, profieagrowth;

. the timing and success of new technologies andustddtroductions by our competitors and by us;
. our ability to deliver reliable, cost-effective phacts that meet our customers' testing requirenmeragimely manner;
. our ability to bring new products into volume pration on time and at acceptable yields and ¢
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. our ability to implement measures for enablingaiéincies and supporting growth in our design, apgibns, manufacturing and
other operational activities;

. the reduction, rescheduling or cancellation of sd®y our customers;

. our ability to collect accounts receivables owedhy customers;

. our product and customer sales mix and geograpséas mix

. a reduction in the price or the profitability ofrqaroducts:

. the availability or the cost of components and mialte utilized in our products;

. our ability to efficiently optimize manufacturingpacity and to stabilize production yields and esessary to meet customer

demand, ramp production volume at our manufactu@cdities;

. our ability to successfully implement our globajianalization strategy, which includes locatingtagr operational capabilities
and resources in the specific countries where ostomers are located;

. our ability to protect our intellectual propertyaagst third parties and continue our investmemesearch and design activitit

. our ability to obtain tax and other cost advantdga® our expansion of operations into Singapore;

. any disruption in the operation of our manufactgracility;

. the timing of and return on our investments in aesk and development; a

. seasonality, principally due to our customers' pasing cycles

The impact of one or more of these factoight cause our operating results to vary widdlpulr revenues, operating results or outlook
fall below the expectations of market analystswestors, the market price of our common stockatdekline substantially.

Cyclicality in the semiconductor industry is currdlg adversely impacting our sales and may do sehie future, and as a result we would
experience reduced revenues and operating results.

The semiconductor industry has historichien cyclical and is characterized by wide fluttues in product supply and demand. From
time to time, this industry has experienced sigaifit downturns, often in connection with, or inieipation of, maturing product and
technology cycles, excess inventories and declimgsneral economic conditions. The current gl@talinomic and semiconductor downturns
are causing our operating results to decline drigaibt from one period to the next. For example;, @venues in the fourth quarter of fiscal
2008 declined by 66.9% compared to our revenueth&fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 due in signifitpart to continuing challenges in
semiconductor market conditions, particularly ia DRAM and Flash markets, and we cannot provideaasyrance when semiconductor
market conditions will improve. Our business depeheavily upon the development and manufactureof semiconductors, the rate at which
semiconductor manufacturers make transitions tdlemaanometer technology nodes and implementrgdiycles, the volume of production
by semiconductor manufacturers and the overalhfifed strength of our customers, which, in turmpeted upon the current and anticipated
market demand for semiconductors and products, asigfersonal computers and cell phones, that nse@eductors. Semiconductor
manufacturers generally sharply curtail their spegdncluding their equipment spending, and déffieir adoption of emerging technologies
during industry downturns and historically have éved their spending disproportionately more thandicline in their revenues. This is
particularly true when there is a point during adustry cycle in which the semiconductor manufagircosts related to semiconductor dev
approach or exceed the sales price of the devieea.result, we would
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experience reduced revenues due to the decreasmhddor our wafer probe cards by our semiconduaimmufacturer customers, which is
what we are experiencing in this current downtémwcordingly, if we are unable to adjust our leveisnanufacturing and human resources or
manage our costs and deliveries from suppliersspanse to lower spending by semiconductor manurtast our gross margin may continue
to decline and cause us to experience further tpgrimsses.

If we do not effectively restructure our operatiofigr the current global economic and semiconduciownturns and to better position ot
company for long-term, profitable growth, we mighbt succeed.

During an extended period of rapid growtk @xpansion over the last several years, we pilynfacused on growing capacity and
meeting customer mission-critical needs. With therent global economic and semiconductor downsyrwe are now focusing on improving
our operating efficiency to achieve operating dbslv break even in the current business environmaendtto better position our company for
long-term, profitable growth. The timing, lengthdeseverity of the cycles in the semiconductor itiduare difficult to predict. This cyclicality
affects our ability to accurately predict our fuidwperating results and plan our business, andi @sb impair the value of our tangible and
intangible assets. If we do not successfully immatrour global cost reduction plan and other messstar optimizing our financial model for
prevailing market conditions, our competitivenessld be seriously harmed, our ability to invesbur business for future growth may be
negatively impacted and our company might not sedcH we do not successfully restructure our of@na by, for example, placing more
decision-making in regions close to our customemsnihance customer relationships, strengthenindpoat design, application and service
capabilities to improve customer responsivenesagimg our manufacturing structure for shorter eyche and improved product delivery
capabilities, and realigning our research and agreent efforts, and continue to motivate and retainkey employees, we may experience
continued deterioration in our business and ourpgany might not succeed. In addition, as the busiresironment improves, if we are unable
to proactively and effectively manage our operatiand/or realign our controls, systems and infoastire to changing business conditions, we
may not be in a position to boost our personnehufecturing capacity, service capabilities and pmtivity, and support growth in response to
increasing customer demand for our products, wivghld, in turn, have a negative impact on our ofiegaresults. Adverse general economic
conditions may also impair the recovery of our hass.

The recent financial crisis could negatively affectir business, results of operations, and financ@indition.

The recent financial crisis affecting trenking system and financial markets and the goamgern threats to financial institutions have
resulted in a tightening in the credit marketspwa level of liquidity in many financial markets; duextreme volatility in credit, fixed income,
and equity markets. There could be a number abdeibn effects from the credit crisis on our busgescluding a reduction in demand for
consumer and other products incorporating deviested with our wafer probes, which in turn couldssaour customers to curtail their capital
expenditures and to defer their adoption of emergiichnologies, the insolvency of key suppliersuténg in product delays, increased
expense, and increased impairment charges duelioakein the fair values of marketable debt. Fertla prolonged downturn could result in
one or more of our customers filing for bankruppegtection or insolvency proceedings, which cowddatively impact our ability to collect
accounts receivables and realize revenue for ptatipped to such customers. For example, in fid08B, customers, Spansion Japan, Inc.,
Qimonda AG, and Qimonda Richmond, LLC filed sucticars in Japan, Germany, and North America, reggadgt Continued turbulence in
the U.S. and international markets and economigsadeersely affect our liquidity and financial cétimh, and the liquidity and financial
condition of our customers.

16




Table of Contents

If we are unable to efficiently manufacture and rgmproduction of our new probe card products, ourdiness may be materially advers:
affected.

We must continuously improve our manufaogiprocesses in an effort to increase yields andyct performance, lower our costs and
reduce the time it takes for us to design, manufacand deliver our products in volume. If we canoar new products may not be
commercially successful, our revenues may be adlyea$fected, our customer relationships and oputation may be harmed, and our
business may be materially adversely affectednffrdéve our manufacturing processes, we have ingamel may incur in the future
substantial costs as we optimize capacity and gi@hdplement new manufacturing technologies, mettatl processes, purchase new
equipment, upgrade existing equipment and trainrtieal personnel. We have experienced and may exmerin the future manufacturing
delays and other inefficiencies in connection viitiplementation of these improvements and customalifications of new processes, and
expansion of manufacturing capacity and ramp oflpetion volume to meet customer demand, which coalgse our operating results to
decline. We have also experienced and may experiarthe future difficulties in manufacturing ownaplex products in volume on time ant
acceptable yields and cost and installation isgu#i®e field due to complexity of customer desigguirements, including integration of wafer
probe cards with varying customer test cell enviments and testing of semiconductor devices oveida temperature range. For example, we
experienced challenges transitioning our Harmouohitecture-based products from a lower-volume, megjing-assisted process to a high-
volume manufacturing process. These problems heswdted and could result in the future in missegootunities with customers. Any
continued difficulties could cause additional proddelivery delays and lost sales. This increasesolnerability to our competitors and the
likelihood that our customers will seek solutionsnfi other suppliers or to develop solutions thermesellf demand for our products decreases,
we could have excess manufacturing capacity. Heglfcosts associated with excess manufacturingcitgmmuld cause our operating results
to decline. If we are unable to achieve further ufacturing efficiencies and cost reductions, patédy if we are experiencing pricing
pressures in the marketplace, our operating resaltkl suffer.

We derive a substantial portion of our revenuesrfia small number of customers, and our revenuesldadecline significantly if any majo
customer does not place, cancels, reduces or dedaysrchase of our products, or does not pay us.

A relatively small number of customers hasounted for a significant portion of our revenieany particular period. Three customers
accounted for 51.3% of our revenues in fiscal 2@®8|, four customers accounted for 63.0% of ourmegs in fiscal 2007. In fiscal 2008 anc
fiscal 2007, our ten largest customers accounte@8Xd% and 90.7%, respectively, of our revenues.amticipate that sales of our products
relatively small number of customers will contirieeaccount for a significant portion of our revesu€he cancellation, reduction or deferral of
even a small number of purchases of our produetiiignificantly reduce our revenues in any pattc quarter. Cancellations, reductions or
deferrals could result from a downturn in the semdauctor industry, manufacturing delays, qualityediability issues with our products, or
interruptions to our customers' operations duéréy fiatural disasters or other events. Furtherpfmgeause our probe cards are custom pro
designed for our customers' unique wafer designscancellations, reductions or delays may resutignificant, non-recoverable costs. In
some situations, our customers might be able toedar reduce orders without a significant penaliyr customers could also fail to pay all or
part of an invoice for our products. In the currgiatbal economic and semiconductor industry dowrguwe are more exposed to this non-
payment risk because of concerns regarding thedinhviability of certain semiconductor manufaes. For example, in the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2008, we recorded a $4.1 million pre-taxenge to increase our allowance for bad debts esudt of the heightened non-payment risk of
accounts receivable primarily related to one custoamd on February 20, 2009, we filed a complairat California state superior court against
Spansion, LLC in which we are
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seeking, among other things, payment of approxiln&& 1 million for probe cards purchased by anlivdead to Spansion. We may be unable
to recognize revenue and we may incur additionatgéds for bad debt reserve to the extent certaiuio€ustomers continue to face financial
difficulties during this downturn. Customers withdncial difficulties may be forced to materiallduce or discontinue operations, file for
bankruptcy or other relief, or may be acquired hg of our other customers, any of which would fertteduce our customer base.

Industry consolidation may increase our businesski

Consolidation in the semiconductor indusprgrticularly among manufacturers of DRAM, couddluce our customer base, lead to lost or
delayed sales and reduced demand for our wafeepratuls and result in increased pricing pressihaditionally, certain customers may not
want to rely entirely or substantially on a singlafer probe card supplier and, as a result, sustomers could reduce their purchases of our
wafer probe cards.

If we do not innovate and keep pace with technolmjidevelopments in the semiconductor industry, guoducts might not be competitiy
and our revenues and operating results could suffer

We must continue to innovate and to inwesesearch and development to improve our comypetitosition and to meet the testing
requirements of our customers. Our future growibedes, in significant part, upon our ability to weffectively with and anticipate the test
needs of our customers and to develop and supparpnoducts and product enhancements to meet tieesks on a timely and cost-effective
basis. Our customers' testing needs are becoming challenging as the semiconductor industry comesnto experience rapid technological
change driven by the demand for complex circuits #re shrinking in size and at the same timerameasing in speed and functionality and
becoming less expensive to produce. Examples ondisrdriving demand for technological research angbpment include semiconductor
manufacturers' transitions to 70 and below nanonmetinology nodes, to one gigabit density devite§ouble Data Rate II, or DDR I,
architecture devices, and to Double Data RatetDDR lll, architecture devices. Our customersexthat they will be able to integrate our
wafer probe cards into any manufacturing proces®an as it is deployed. Therefore, to meet thepeatations and remain competitive, we
must continually design, develop and introduce timaly basis new products and product enhancenvatiismproved features. Successful
product design, development and introduction amaly basis require that we:

. design innovative and performar-enhancing product architectures, technologies eatilifes that differentiate our produ
from those of our competitors;

. transition our products to new manufacturing tedbgies;

. identify emerging technological trends in our tangearkets;

. maintain effective marketing strategi

. respond effectively to technological changes odpob announcements by others; and
. adjust to changing market conditions quickly anstaxifectively.

Not only do we need the technical expettisienplement the changes necessary to keep dunaéagies current, but we must also rely
heavily on the judgment of our management to gudiei future market trends. If we are unable toliirpeedict industry changes, or if we are
unable to modify our products on a timely basis,might lose customers or market share. In additi@might not be able to recover our
research and development expenditures, which dwaurith our operating results.
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We depend upon the sale of our wafer probe cardssigbstantially all of our revenues, and the majoyriof our wafer probe cards are utiliz:
by semiconductor manufacturers for testing DRAM dess; if we continue to experience a downturn inrdand for our DRAM products,
our revenues could decline further.

We have historically derived substantialllyof our revenues from the sale of our wafer prohrds to manufacturers of DRAM, flash
memory devices, and microprocessor, chipset anet @ C devices. For fiscal 2008 and for fiscal 2@@les to manufacturers of DRAM
devices accounted for 66.4% and 70.9%, respectieélyur revenues, sales to manufacturers of ftlastnory devices accounted for 18.3% and
19.2%, respectively, of our revenues, and salesaoufacturers of SoC devices accounted for 15.38®a8%0, respectively, of our revenues.
We anticipate that sales of our wafer probe caitisepresent a substantial majority of our reventm the foreseeable future. Our success
depends in large part upon the continued acceptaimmar products within these markets and our ghiti continue to develop and introduce
new products that meet our customers' requirentangstimely basis for these markets. In particutagontinue to grow our business, we need
to further penetrate the full wafer contactor flasémory and SoC, markets and to gain additionaketahare with manufacturers of flash
memory and SoC devices. To the extent that we rabla to realize cost reductions and manufactweffigiencies in the production of our
wafer probe cards or if we are not able to timedjivér our products, our revenues and businessatipes could be adversely impacted and our
ability to grow could suffer. As our next generatiwafer probe cards are used in greater volumenmuaercial production, it is possible that
will identify certain areas of technical performartbat require improvement and if we are unabkotainually, efficiently and in a timely
manner improve our products, our operating resatdd be harmed. If chip manufacturers fail to makehitecture, node or technology
transitions as we anticipate, or if anticipate@onounced transitions are delayed, it could adiyensgact our revenues and operating results.
In addition, we might not be able to sustain oréase our revenues from sales of our wafer profws cparticularly if conditions in the
semiconductor market continue to deteriorate onatdmprove or if the market enters into anothewdturn. Any decrease in revenues from
sales of our wafer probe cards could harm our legsimore than it would if we offered a more diviegdiline of products.

The markets in which we participate are competitiaad if we do not compete effectively, our openatresults could be harmed.

We are experiencing increased competiticthé wafer probe card market and we expect cotigreto intensify in the future. Increased
competition has resulted and in the future is jikelresult in price reductions, reduced gross imargr loss of market share. Competitors rr
introduce new competitive products for the sameketarthat our products currently serve. These prisdmay have better performance, lower
prices and/or broader acceptance than our producasidition, for products such as wafer probe sasémiconductor manufacturers typically
qualify more than one source, to avoid dependence single source of supply. As a result, our cusis will likely purchase products from
our competitors. Current and potential competitoctude Advantest Corporation, Aehr Test SystemidSA Co., Ltd., Cascade
Microtech, Inc., Feinmetall GmbH, Japan Electraviamterials Corporation, Korea Instrument Co., L&V, Probe Inc., Micronics
Japan Co., Ltd., Microfriend Inc., MicroProbe Inehicom Corporation, and Technoprobe Asia Pte, Otokyo Cathode Laboratory Co., Ltd.,
Tokyo Electron, Ltd., Touchdown Technologies, IAGSE Co., Ltd. and Wentworth Laboratories, Inc.pamothers. Many of our current and
potential competitors have greater name recognitévger customer bases, more established cust@iagionships or greater financial,
technical, manufacturing, marketing and other resssithan we do. As a result, they might be abtespond more quickly to new or emerging
technologies and changes in customer requiremeenste greater resources to the development, piomaiale and support of their products,
and reduce prices to increase market share. Somg abmpetitors also supply other types of tesiggent, or offer both advanced wafer
probe cards and needle probe cards. Those compdtittt offer both advanced wafer probe cards aedle probe cards might have strong,
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existing relationships with our existing customersvith potential customers. Because we do not affieeedle probe card or other conventi
technology wafer probe card for less advanced egpdins, it may be difficult for us to introducer@advanced wafer probe cards to these
customers and potential customers for certain wafgrapplications. It is possible that existingnew competitors, including test equipment
manufacturers, may offer new technologies thateedbe value of our wafer probe cards.

If our relationships with our customers and compags that manufacture semiconductor test equipmentedierate, our product developme
activities could be harmed.

The success of our product developmenttsfidepends upon our ability to anticipate martetds and to collaborate closely with our
customers and with companies that manufacture semictor test equipment. Our relationships wittséheustomers and companies provide
us with access to valuable information regardinguuf@cturing and process technology trends in th@anductor industry, which enables us
to better plan our product development activitidsese relationships also provide us with opportesito understand the performance and
functionality requirements of our customers, whidiprove our ability to customize our products ttifiutheir needs. Our relationships with
test equipment companies are important to us bedags equipment companies can design our waféeprards into their equipment and
provide us with the insight into their product pdahat allows us to offer wafer probe cards forwghk their products when they are introduced
to the market. Our relationships with our custonzarg test equipment companies could deteriordteif:

. become concerned about our ability to protect timéd#llectual property

. become concerned with our ability to deliver qyatitoducts on a timely basi

. develop their own solutions to address the neete&img improvement;

. implement chip designs that include enhanced Iugelf-test capabilities;

. regard us as a competiti

. introduce their own wafer probe card product;

. establish relationships with others in our industry

. acquire or invest in a competitive wafer probe gaahufacturer or enter into a business venture avitbhmpetitive wafer prok

card manufacturer; or

. attempt to restrict our ability to enter into réaiships with their competitors.

Many of our customers and the test equiiroempanies we work with are large companies. Tresequences of deterioration in our
relationship with any of these companies couldXserbated due to the significant influence thesapanies can exert in our markets. If our
current relationships with our customers and tgstmment companies deteriorate, or if we are untebtievelop similar collaborative
relationships with important customers and tesi@gant companies in the future, our long-term &btld produce commercially successful
products could be impaired.
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Because we generally do not have a sufficient backbf unfilled orders to meet our quarterly revent@rgets, revenues in any quarter a
substantially dependent upon customer orders reediand fulfilled in that quarter.

Our revenues are difficult to forecast hesgawe generally do not have a sufficient backlogndilled orders to meet our quarterly revenue
targets at the beginning of a quarter. Ratherpatantial percentage of our revenues in any qudeeends upon customer orders for our wafer
probe cards that we receive and fulfill in that eia Because our expense levels are based ipantr expectations as to future revenues and
to a large extent are fixed in the short term, vghtnbe unable to adjust spending in time to corspénfor any unexpected shortfall in
revenues. Accordingly, any significant shortfallrefenues in relation to our expectations could bur operating results.

If semiconductor manufacturers do not migrate elents of final test to wafer probe test, market actapce of other applications of oL
technology could be delayed.

We intend to continue to work with certainour customers to migrate elements of final test the device level to the wafer level and to
engage in such activities with other and new custsmrhis migration will involve a change in senmidactor test strategies from concentra
final test at the individual device level to incséay the amount of test at the wafer level. Semdootor manufacturers typically take time to
qualify new strategies that affect their testingmpions. As a result, general acceptance of wafetl-final test might not occur in the near t
or at all. In addition, semiconductor manufacturmaight not accept and use wafer-level final test imay that uses our technology or our
technology capabilities to perform elements oflfbeat on the wafer may not scale with the needseaficonductor manufacturers. If the
migration of elements of final test to wafer prabst does not grow as we anticipate, or if semiootat manufacturers do not adopt our
technology for their wafer probe test requirememtarket acceptance of other applications for otintelogy could be delayed. In addition, if
various manufacturers do not elect to invest inewédst technology enabling the identification nbiwn good die, or KGD, or if the projected
or anticipated investment in such technology isged or reduced, it could delay the introductiorertain of our technologies and negatively
impact our business.

Changes in test strategies, equipment and processetd cause us to lose revenues.

The demand for wafer probe cards depentisge part upon the number of semiconductor desigrehnology and architecture transitions
in chip designs, and the overall semiconductor unlitme. The time it takes to test a wafer depenmis) the number of devices being tested,
the complexity of these devices, the test softypaogram and the test equipment itself. As test nog become increasingly effective and test
throughput increases, the number of wafer probdscaquired to test a given volume of devices desli Therefore, advances in the test
process could cause us to lose sales.

If semiconductor manufacturers implemerp clesigns that include increased built-in selt-tegpabilities or similar functions or
methodologies that increase test throughput, itdcoagatively impact our sales or the migratiorelgiments of final test to the wafer level.
Additionally, if new chip designs or types of chipe implemented that require less, or even nousisg wafer probe cards, or significantly
reduce wafer test complexity, our revenues coulorpacted. Further, if new chip designs are impletee which we are unable to test, or
which we are unable to test efficiently and provide customers with an acceptably low overall ofgest, our revenues could be negatively
impacted. Still further, if semiconductor manufaets reduce generally the amount or degree of wagtithey perform, our revenues could be
negatively impacted.

We incur significant research and developnegpenses in conjunction with the introductiomeiv product architectures and platforms.
Often, we time our product introductions to theaduction
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of new test equipment platforms or the declinabbmanufacturers to adopt a new test platform. Beeaur customers require both test
equipment and wafer probe cards, any delay or giignu in the introduction of new test equipmenttfaiems would negatively affect our
growth.

We manufacture substantially all our products at ofacility in Livermore, California, and any disrupion in the operations of this facility
could adversely impact our business and operatiegults.

Our manufacturing processes require saphted and costly equipment and a specially deslidgmeility, including a semiconductor clean
room. While we are implementing steps to increasentanufacturing capabilities in certain of ourefign subsidiaries, we today still
manufacture substantially all of our wafer probedsaat our facility located in Livermore, CalifoaniAny disruption in our manufacturing,
whether due to contamination in our manufacturirgcess, technical or labor difficulties, destructar damage from fire or earthquake,
infrastructure failures such as power or water tsty@ or any other reason, could interrupt our djmers, impair critical systems, disrupt
communications with our customers and supplierd,cause us to write off inventory, thereby potéltigesulting in the loss of revenues. For
example, during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2084pntamination problem in our manufacturing linesed a yield decline that, in turn, resu
in our inability to timely ship products to our ¢cosiers. In addition, if the previous energy crise€alifornia that resulted in disruptions in
power supply and increases in utility costs wereetmr, we might experience power interruptions stmartages, which could disrupt our
manufacturing operations. This could subject uss$s of revenues as well as significantly highestsof energy. Further, current and potential
customers might not purchase our products if trerggive our lack of a fully operational alternatermafacturing facility to be a risk to their
continuing source of supply.

We are implementing our global regionalization steayy, and if we do not effectively devise and inmpéant an effective global strategic plan
or if we decide to change our strategy, our opengtiresults could be negatively impacted.

We are implementing our global regionalizatstrategy in which we are, in part, moving opiersal resources and capabilities to different
country regions in Asia to be closer to our custanie order to enhance our customer relationskpgtove our responsiveness and increase
our product serviceability. The first phase of thiisategy was focused on Singapore, where we hatablished design, sales, procurement and
administrative functions. We also plan to develdmat-end manufacturing facility there. This portion efrananufacturing plan is currently
hold, and we cannot predict whether, when or intitwan the plan may be restarted. We are devisimgan to execute a phased bring up of
certain operational capabilities in different cayregions in Asia in which we do business. Formegke, we have established assembly anc
capabilities in South Korea. Our global regionalima strategy is subject to a variety of compleestand risks, many of which our executive
team has had little experience in managing at Fagtd¥, and which may divert a substantial amoumusfmanagement's time. Risks stem
from the following, among other things:

. challenges in designing new facilities that carst@ed for future expansion, replicating curremicesses and bringing ne
facilities up to full operation;

. unpredictable costs, redundancy costs and costungefor developing new facilities and acquiringigent (e.g., design ar
construction costs increased at a pace that wel emilhave reasonably anticipated for the Singapmeufacturing plan);

. building local management teams, technical perdamgtother staff for functions that we have naviously conducted outside
of Livermore California, United States;

. technical obstacles such as poor production orga®gield and loss of quality control during thenpeof a new facility
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. requalifications and other procedures that mayeleired by our customers;

. our ability to bring up local suppliers to meet guiality and cycl-time needs

. rapidly changing business conditions that may megpians to be changed or abandoned before theulrémplemented; and
. challenges posed by distance and by differencksguage and culture.

These and other factors could delay usirebbping and implementing our strategy as wellgsir our gross margins, delay shipments
and deliveries, cause us to lose sales, requite wste off investments already made, damage eputation and harm our business, financial
condition and operating results. If we decide targe our current global regionalization strategy,may incur charges for certain costs
incurred. For example, we incurred a $4.4 millimpairment charge related to a write-down of in-pesg construction assets in Singapore for
a manufacturing facility.

If we are unable to continue to reduce the timeakes for us to design and produce a wafer probedcaur growth could be impede:

Our customers continuously seek to redbedime it takes them to introduce new productméoket. The cyclicality of the semiconduc
industry, coupled with changing demands for sendcaior devices, requires our customers to be flexdbd highly adaptable to changes in
the volume and mix of products they must produeehEof those changes requires a new design ancheactesign requires a new wafer
probe card. For some existing semiconductor deytbesmanufacturers' volume and mix of product mespents are such that we are unable to
design, manufacture and ship products to meet szctufacturers' relatively short cycle time requiests. We, for example, have lost sales in
the past where we were unable to meet a custoswdresiule for wafer probe cards for a particulaigiedf we are unable to reduce the time it
takes for us to design, manufacture and ship caofymts in response to the needs of our customersompetitive position could be harmed
and we could lose sales. If we are unable to gresigth capacity in the event demand increases,lilitydo respond to customer requirements
could be challenged and our revenues could be iwegaimpacted.

We obtain some of the components and materials we im our products from a sole source or a limitgobup of suppliers, and the partial «
complete loss of one of these suppliers could cguzeluction delays and a substantial loss of revesu

We obtain some of the components and nadg¢awsed in our products, such as printed circuairéh assemblies, plating materials and
ceramic substrates, from a sole source or a lingitedp of suppliers. Alternative sources are notently available for sole source components
and materials. Because we rely on purchase ordgrsrrthan long-term contracts with the majorityof suppliers, we cannot predict with
certainty our ability to obtain components and mate in the longer term. A sole or limited soustgplier could increase prices, which could
lead to a decline in our gross margin. Our depecg@pon sole or limited source suppliers exposde asveral other risks, including inability
to obtain an adequate supply of materials, lateveiéés and poor component quality. In additior #bility of any of these suppliers to timely
provide us with sufficient quality materials would adversely affected if they are forced to redurodiscontinue operations due to financial
difficulties, which is a heightened risk during therent economic downturn. Disruption or termiaatof the supply of components or
materials could delay shipments of our productmatge our customer relationships and reduce ountege For example, if we were unable to
obtain an adequate supply of a component or matesamight have to use a substitute componentateral, which could require us to make
changes in our manufacturing process. From tinterte, we have experienced difficulties in receiveigpments from one or more of our
suppliers, especially during periods of high demfamabur products. If we cannot obtain an adegsafgly of the components and materials
we
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require, or do not receive them in a timely mannermight be required to identify new suppliers. Wight not be able to identify new
suppliers on a timely basis or at all. We, as wslbur customers would also need to qualify any sigupliers. The lead-time required to
identify and qualify new suppliers could affect alnility to timely ship our products and cause operating results to suffer. Further, a sole or
limited source supplier could require us to entéw hon-cancelable purchase commitments or paghiarece to ensure our source of supply. In
an industry downturn or in an environment in whighwth is not at a level we projected or anticipammmitments of this type could resul
charges for excess inventory of parts. If we amblato predict our component and materials needsrately, or if our supply is disrupted, we
might miss market opportunities by not being ableneet the demand for our products.

Wafer probe cards that do not meet specificatiomghat contain defects could damage our reputatiaecrease market acceptance of our
technology, cause us to lose customers and revenaied result in liability to us.

The complexity and ongoing developmentwfwafer probe card manufacturing process, combividdincreases in wafer probe card
production volumes, have in the past and coulthénftiture lead to design or manufacturing probldras.example, we have experienced the
presence of contaminants in our plating baths, iwhave caused a decrease in our manufacturingsyeeltiave resulted in unanticipated stress-
related failures when our wafer probe cards areghased in the manufacturing test environment. réhir example is that during the fourth
guarter of fiscal 2004, we experienced a contangngiroblem in our manufacturing line. This contaation problem caused a yield decline
that, in turn, resulted in our inability to timedpip products to our customers. Manufacturing desigors such as the miswiring of a wafer
probe card or the incorrect placement of probeamirglements have caused us to repeat manufactlesign steps. In addition to these
examples, problems might result from a number cifofiss, including design defects, materials failufadures of components manufactured by
our suppliers to meet our specifications, contationan the manufacturing environment, impuritiaghe materials used, unknown sensitivi
to process conditions, such as temperature anddityrrand equipment failures. As a result, our picid have in the past contained and might
in the future contain undetected errors or defefty. errors or defects could:

. cause lower than anticipated yields and lengthdimetg schedules

. cause delays in product shipments;

. cause delays in new product introductions;

. cause us to incur warranty expens

. result in increased costs and diversion of develgmesources

. cause us to incur increased charges due to unusabletory;

. require design modifications; or

. decrease market acceptance or customer satisfactiothese product:

The occurrence of any one or more of tleesmts could hurt our operating results.

In addition, if any of our products faits ieet specifications or has reliability, qualitycompatibility problems, our reputation could be
damaged significantly and customers might be rahtdio buy our products, which could result in alighe in revenues, an increase in product
returns or warranty costs and the loss of existingtomers or the failure to attract new custonf@rs.customers use our products with test
equipment and software in their manufacturing féed. Our products must be compatible with the@mers' equipment and software to form
an integrated system. While we
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have designed our test capabilities and standardpticate the actual test environment of ouraustrs and continually work to improve our
capabilities, it is possible that our wafer prolbedcwill perform differently in the customers' aaktest environments. If our wafer probe card
does not function properly within a customer's ffetest environment, we could be required to padevfield application engineers to locate
problem, which can take time and resources. Iptioblem relates to our wafer probe cards, we ntiglve to invest significant capital,
manufacturing capacity and other resources to cbitreOur current or potential customers also rhggek to recover from us any losses
resulting from defects or failures in our produdtiisibility claims could require us to spend sigesfint time and money in litigation or to pay
significant damages.

If our ability to forecast demand for our productdeteriorates or the predictability of our manufaaing yields does not improve, we cot
incur higher inventory losses than we currently esqence.

Each semiconductor chip design requiresséotn wafer probe card. Because our products aigrdepecific, demand for our products is
difficult to forecast. Due to our customers' shimlivery time requirements, we often design, preauaterials and, at times, produce our
products in anticipation of demand for our produetier than in response to an order. Our manufagtyields, particularly for new products,
have historically been unpredictable and consedyjené generally produce more components for prdres, or actual probe cards, than
forecasted demand. If we do not obtain orders aantieipate or if we continue to produce excesginery to compensate for unpredictable
manufacturing yields, we could have excess or @bsahventory for a specific customer design thatweauld not be able to sell to any other
customer, which would likely result in inventoryiteroffs or material charges for scrap.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteal and disclosure controls, we may not be ableatzurately report our financial results ¢
prevent fraud, which may adversely affect our busss and reputation. In addition, current and potéaltstockholders could lose confiden:
in our financial reporting, which may adversely inggt the trading price of our securities.

Effective internal and disclosure contrale necessary for us to provide reliable finangpbrts and effectively prevent fraud and to
operate successfully as a public company. If wexatprovide reliable financial reports or prevemtuld, our business and reputation may be
harmed. We regularly review and assess our inteaatol over financial reporting and our disclasgontrols and procedures. As part of that
process, we may discover material weaknesses mifisant deficiencies in our internal control adided under standards adopted by the P
Company Accounting Oversight Board, or PCAOB, tlegfuire remediation. A material weakness is a d&fiy, or combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over financiapogting, such that there is a reasonable possilbiiat a material misstatement of the company's
annual or interim financial statements will notdrevented or detected in a timely basis. A sigaiitadeficiency is a deficiency or combination
of deficiencies, in internal control over financiaporting that is less severe than material wesknget important enough to merit attention by
those responsible for the oversight of the comgafityancial reporting. For example, in November 208e completed a review of our
historical practices with respect to inventory \alan. That review indicated that during fiscal 8@&hd the first half of fiscal 2007 we did not
consistently follow our accounting policies for elehining inventory valuation. Specifically, we didt maintain effective controls to ensure
that the estimation process to value inventory d@dpvith our accounting policies. As a result, were required to restate our annual and
interim financial statements for fiscal 2006 angtiim financial statements for the first and secquodrters of fiscal 2007 and to make audit
adjustments to our annual financial statement§igoal 2007. As a result of weaknesses that magdified in our internal controls, we may
also identify certain deficiencies in some of oigttbsure controls and procedures that we beliegaire remediation. If we discover
weaknesses, we will make efforts to improve ousrimal and disclosure controls. However, there iaggurance that we will be successful. If
we fail to maintain effective controls or timelyfeft any
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necessary improvement of our internal and disckosontrols we may not have accurate informatiomaéie management decisions, our
operating results could be harmed or we may casie fail to meet our reporting obligations, whimtuld affect our ability to remain listed
with The NASDAQ Global Market. Ineffective internahd disclosure controls could also cause stocldnsid lose confidence in our reported
financial information and our ability to manage dwsiness, which would likely have a negative dftacthe trading price of our securities.

We might be subject to claims of infringement ohet parties' proprietary rights which could harm agwbusiness.

In the future, as we have in the past, Vighbreceive claims that we are infringing intetlgad property rights of others or inquiries about
our interest in a license, or assertions that veglrzelicense, to the intellectual property. Theisenductor industry is characterized by
uncertain and conflicting intellectual propertyioia and vigorous protection and pursuit of theghts. The resolution of any claims of this
nature, with or without merit, could be time consuoigy result in costly litigation or cause produbipgnent delays. In the event of an adverse
ruling or settlement, we might be required to palystantial damages, cease the use or sale ofgirfgrproducts, spend significant resources to
develop non-infringing technology, discontinue tise of certain technology and/or enter into licesgeements. License agreements, if
required, might not be available on terms accepttbls or at all. The loss of access to any ofrtetlectual property or the ability to use any
of our technology could harm our business. Finagrtain of our customer contracts contain prowisithat require us to defend and/or
indemnify our customers for third party intelledtpeoperty infringement claims, which would increabe cost to us of an adverse ruling or
settlement.

If we fail to protect our proprietary rights, ourampetitors might gain access to our technology, efhtould adversely affect our ability
compete successfully in our markets and harm oueogting results.

If we fail to protect our proprietary righddequately, our competitors might gain accessitéechnology. Unauthorized parties might
attempt to copy aspects of our products or to aldad use information that we regard as proprietatiiers might independently develop
similar or competing technologies or methods oigfearound our patents. In addition, the laws ohynoreign countries in which we or our
customers do business do not protect our intelkégitoperty rights to the same extent as the lavtiseoUnited States. To date, we have not
been successful in our efforts to enforce our pedary rights in South Korea. As a result, our piary rights could be compromised, our
competitors might offer products similar to ourglare might not be able to compete successfully.al§e cannot assure that:

. our means of protecting our proprietary rights w#l adequate;

. patents will be issued from our pending or futyspleations;

. our existing or future patents will be sufficientdcope or strength to provide any meaningful ptaie or commercial advanta
to us;

. our patents or other intellectual property will hetinvalidated, circumvented or successfully @mjed in the United States or

foreign countries; or

. others will not misappropriate our proprietary teslogies or independently develop similar techn@sgduplicate our produc
or design around any of our patents or other ietéllal property, or attempt to manufacture andisg&lhging products in
countries that do not strongly enforce intelleciualperty rights.

We have spent in the past and may be redjtir spend in the future significant resourcemdmitor and protect our intellectual property
rights. We presently believe that it is likely tlwatte or more of our competitors are using methaglekor have implemented structures into
certain of their
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products that are covered by one or more of oetledtual property rights. We have in the past grdiclaims to protect our rights, and we are
currently involved in patent infringement litigati@nd, in certain cases, our competitors haveteiti re-examination proceedings in the U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office and invalidity procagdiin foreign patent offices against certain aof matents. Any litigation, whether or not it
is resolved in our favor, and whether it is ingi@ty us or by a third party, could result in sfigraint and possibly material expense to us and
divert the efforts of our management and techrpeasonnel. In addition, while patents are terrétibaind a ruling on a certain given patent does
not necessarily impact the validity or enforceaypitif a corresponding or related patent in a différcountry, an adverse ruling in one country
might negatively impact our ability to enforce tmresponding or related patent in other countkéslly, certain of our customer contracts
contain provisions that require us to defend anivdemnify our customers for third party intelleatproperty infringement claims, which
would increase the cost to us of an adverse rufirggich a claim. An adverse determination could akgatively impact our ability to license
certain of our technologies and methods to ottaerd,result in our competitors being allowed to padiducts with, or add to their products,
features and benefits contained in our producesethy reducing our competitive advantages oveetbempeting products.

We may not be able to recruit or retain qualifie@gsonnel, which could harm our business.

We believe our ability to successfully mgaand grow our business and to develop new prediegends, in large part, on our ability to
recruit and retain qualified employees, particylduilghly skilled technical, sales, management, keydstaff personnel. Competition for
qualified resources is intense and other compan@shave greater resources available to providstantial inducements to lure key persor
away from us or to offer more competitive compeinsapackages to individuals we are trying to hidditionally, we have implemented
global cost reduction plans in which we have redumar workforce and our current stock price is gigantly below the exercise prices
associated with stock options granted to emplogeesthe past several years, which makes it chgilhgnto retain key people and recruit new
talent, as needed. While we are implementing, daud o implement programs that will include goais dttracting employees and programs,
which include goals of employee retention, and veg igrant additional equity compensation to cerémployees outside of our yearly equity
grant program for retention purposes, there camob@ssurance that we will be able to successfatiyuit and retain the qualified personnel we
require.

We may make acquisitions and investments, whichldquut a strain on our resources, cause ownershifution to our stockholders and
adversely affect our financial results.

While we have made no acquisitions of besses, products or technologies in the past, wemadyge acquisitions of complementary
businesses, products or technologies in the futfeemay also make certain investments in compleangmr supplementary businesses,
products or technologies in the future. Integratiegvly acquired businesses, products or technaidgte our company could put a strain on
our resources, could be expensive and time congyraimd might not be successful. Future acquisiteorsinvestments could divert our
management's attention from other business conesithexpose our business to unforeseen liabibtiesks associated with entering new
markets. In addition, we might lose key employe&slenintegrating new organizations. Consequently,might not be successful in integrating
any acquired businesses, products or technolagyesmight not achieve anticipated revenues andbeosfits. Investments that we make may
not result in a return consistent with our projees upon which such investments are made, or ntayrecadditional investment that we did
originally anticipate. In addition, future acquigiis could result in customer dissatisfaction, @eniance problems with an acquired company,
potentially dilutive issuances of equity securitigghe incurrence of debt, contingent liabilitipsssible impairment charges related to gooc
or other intangible assets or other unanticipatexhts or circumstances, any of which could harmbusiness.
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As part of our sales process, we could incur sulbsii sales and engineering expenses that do natulein revenues, which would harm ot
operating results.

Our customers generally expend signifiedfdrts evaluating and qualifying our products ptim placing an order. The time that our
customers require to evaluate and qualify our wafebe cards is typically between three and 12 hwahd sometimes longer. While our
customers are evaluating our products, we mightrisabstantial sales, marketing, and research enel@pment expenses. For example, we
typically expend significant resources educatingmospective customers regarding the uses anditseeokour wafer probe cards and
developing wafer probe cards customized to therpialecustomer's needs, for which we might notdimbursed. Although we commit
substantial resources to our sales efforts, we tmigher receive any revenues from a customer. ¥ample, many semiconductor designs
never reach production, including designs for whighhave expended design effort and expense. liti@ddrospective customers might
decide not to use our wafer probe cards. The leofgtime that it takes for the evaluation process for us to make a sale depends upon many
factors including:

. the efforts of our sales force and our distribwiod independent sales representati

. the complexity of the customer's fabrication preess

. the internal technical capabilities of the custonaad

. the customer's budgetary constraints and, in pgaticthe customer's ability to devote resourcebédoevaluation process.

In addition, product purchases are fregyentbject to delays, particularly with respectame customers for which our products may
represent a small percentage of their overall ageb. As a result, our sales cycles are unpretictélwe incur substantial sales and
engineering expenses without generating revenuegperating results could be harmed.

Our failure to comply with environmental laws andgulations could subject us to significant fines dtiabilities, and new laws and
regulations or changes in regulatory interpretatioor enforcement could make compliance more difficahd costly.

We are subject to various U.S. federatestad local, and foreign governmental laws andlegipns relating to the protection of the
environment, including those governing the discharfpollutants into the air and water, the manag#rand disposal of hazardous substances
and wastes, the cleanup of contaminated siteshench&intenance of a safe workplace. We could isgbstantial costs, including cleanup
costs, civil or criminal fines or sanctions anddhparty claims for property damage or personalrinjas a result of violations of or liabilities
under environmental laws and regulations or nongl@nce with the environmental permits requiredat facilities.

These laws, regulations and permits alstdcgequire the installation of costly pollutionrteol equipment or operational changes to limit
pollution emissions or decrease the likelihoodagfidental releases of hazardous substances. Itiaddihanging laws and regulations, new
laws and regulations, stricter enforcement of éxgstaws and regulations, the discovery of previpusiknown contamination at our or others'
sites or the imposition of new cleanup requirementdd require us to curtail our operations, reswur future expansion, subject us to liability
and cause us to incur future costs that could lmannoperations, thereby adversely impacting ouratpeg results and cash flow.

Because we conduct most of our business internadihn we are subject to operational, economic, fir@al and political risks abroad

Sales of our products to customers outiddJnited States have accounted for a signifiparnitof our revenues. Our international sale
a percentage of our revenues were 78.2% and 822% f
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fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007, respectively. Addittiy, certain of our South Korean customers puretiasough their North American
subsidiaries. In the future, we expect internaticades, particularly in Europe, Japan, South Kamg Taiwan, to continue to account for a
significant percentage of our revenues. Accordinglg will be subject to risks and challenges thatwould not otherwise face if we conduc
our business solely in the United States. The&s dad challenges include:

. compliance with a wide variety of foreign laws aedulations

. legal uncertainties regarding taxes, tariffs, qapéxport controls, export licenses and other tkadeers;

. political and economic instability in, or foreigorflicts that involve or affect, the countries afr@customers;

. difficulties in collecting accounts receivable dondger accounts receivable payment cyc

. difficulties in staffing and managing personneftdbutors and representativi

. reduced protection for intellectual property rigltsome countries;

. currency exchange rate fluctuations, which coufdafthe value of our assets denominated in logakacy, as well as the pri

of our products relative to locally produced pragtc
. seasonal fluctuations in purchasing patterns ierotbuntries; and

. fluctuations in freight rates and transportatiosrdjptions.

Any of these factors could harm our exigtimernational operations and business or impairability to continue expanding into
international markets.

Changes in our tax rates, inability to realize odeferred tax assets or exposure to additional tebilities could adversely affect our
operating results.

We are subject to income taxes in both.thi#ted States and various foreign jurisdictiong] anr domestic and international tax liabilities
are subject to the allocation of expenses in difiejurisdictions. Our effective tax rate couldadukversely affected by changes in the mix of
earnings in countries with different statutory tates, the inability to realize our deferred tageds, as a result of recurring losses, changes in
tax laws such as reducing the export sales andnmasand development tax credits, changes in oeradipnal activities in connection with
implementation of our global regionalization stggteand material audit assessments. For examplizagon of our deferred tax assets, which
are predominantly in the United States, is depehdemur ability to generate sufficient future thlaincome in the United States. If we
determine that we may not be able to realize sooniom of our deferred tax assets in the future weoeilld record a valuation allowance against
the deferred tax assets that could result in aafditiincome tax expense. In addition, the amouitiafme taxes we pay could be subject to
ongoing audits in various jurisdictions and a matexssessment by a governing tax authority codieesely affect our operating results.

We may not obtain the tax and other benefits tha anticipate through the expansion of our operat®mto Singapore, which could
negatively impact our operating results.

We have initiated the first phase of oumpany's global regionalization strategy in Singap@ur plan, portions of which we have
delayed, to build a front-end wafer manufacturiagility in Singapore, is driven in substantial paytthe tax and other benefits that we believe
are obtainable by operating in that country. THes®efits include favorable tax exempt status grhbtethe Singapore government, subject to
meeting certain conditions, as well as lower |ladmsts for qualified technical personnel. Howeviewe do not fulfill the conditions for our
granted tax status for any reason, we may notmltai full tax benefits, the tax benefits couldskapany future tax benefits that we may
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seek may not be granted, and any benefits fromitsogayments, or cost sharing payments, which liageased our effective tax rate.
Additionally, our tax rate could be adversely imigacby any change in our planned operations in&iacg, if we do make such a change.
Consequently, our effective corporate income té& naay not decrease as we expect but instead, enagim approximately the same or
increase. In addition, the other benefits of opegaih Singapore may not materialize. The inabildyobtain the anticipated tax and other
benefits through the expansion of certain operatioto Singapore could negatively impact our opegatesults.

The trading price of our common stock has been dadikely to continue to be volatile, and you mighot be able to sell your shares at or
above the price that you paid for them.

The trading prices of the securities ohtemlogy companies have been highly volatile, andhfdanuary 1, 2008 through February 21,
2009, our stock price has ranged from $33.16 aestoe$14.48 a share. The trading price of our comstock is likely to continue to be subji
to wide fluctuations. Factors affecting the tradprgce of our common stock include:

. variations in our operating results;
. our forecasts and financial guidance for futureques;
. announcements of technological innovations, newlyets or product enhancements, new product adapéibsemiconductc

customers or significant agreements by us or bycouarpetitors;

. reports regarding our ability to bring new produate volume production efficiently;
. the gain or loss of significant orders or custom
. changes in the estimates of our operating resultb@nges in recommendations by any securitieystsahat elect to follow ot

common stock;

. rulings on various of our pending litigations amdgeedings relating to intellectual property mastt

. seasonality, principally due to our customers' pasing cycles

. market and competitive conditions in our indussgmiconductor industry and the economy as a whaole;
. recruitment or departure of key personnel.

In addition, if the market for technologpaks or the stock market in general experiences ¢d investor confidence, the trading price of
our common stock could decline for reasons unrelaieur business, operating results or finan@aldition. The trading price of our common
stock also might decline in reaction to events #ifgct other companies in our industry even isthevents do not directly affect us.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation andylaws or Delaware law might discourage, delay oeyent a change of control of oL
company or changes in our management and, therefatepress the trading price of our common stock.

Delaware corporate law and our certifia#tencorporation and bylaws contain provisions tbatld discourage, delay or prevent a change
in control of our company or changes in our managerthat the stockholders of our company may desdrargageous. These provisions:

. establish a classified board of directors so tloaai members of our board are elected at one;time
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. provide that directors may only be removed "forsand only with the approval of 662/3% of ourcktwlders;
. require supe-majority voting to amend some provisions in outtifieate of incorporation and bylaw
. authorize the issuance of "blank check" prefertedksthat our board could issue to increase thebmuraf outstanding shares

and to discourage a takeover attempt;

. limit the ability of our stockholders to call spakimeetings of stockholder

. prohibit stockholder action by written consent, ghhrequires all stockholder actions to be takesmmeeting of our stockholde
. provide that the board of directors is expressihatized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws;

. establish advance notice requirements for nominatior election to our board or for proposing mattbat can be acted upon

stockholders at stockholder meetings.

In addition, Section 203 of the Delawaren@al Corporation Law may discourage, delay or @n¢a change in control of our company
addition, each of our named executive officers @thin other officers of the company have entaremichange of control severance
agreements, which were approved by our Compens@tiommittee, which could increase the costs assstiaith a change of control and th
potentially deter such a transaction.

Iltem 1B: Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
ltem 2: Properties

Our corporate headquarters, which inclsddss, marketing, administration, manufacturingireering, and research and development
facilities, is located in Livermore, California, Wed States. Our corporate headquarters is contpaka campus of six buildings totaling
approximately 210,000 square feet. We presentlel¢laose six buildings. We also own one buildingctviwas a part of our older
manufacturing facility and which we are no longsing. That building is presently for sale. In agit we also lease office, repair and service,
and/or research and development space outside &frihed States. The leases expire at various tihtesgh 2021. We believe that our
existing and planned facilities are suitable for current needs.
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Information concerning our properties aPetember 27, 2008 is set forth below:

Square
Location Principal Use Footage Ownership
Livermore, California, Corporate headquarters, sales, marketing, procisigid, manufacturing, service and repi 208,11: Leased
United State: engineering, distribution, research and developr
Tokyo, Japal Sales office, marketing, product design, reseanchdevelopmer 10,58 Leasec
Jubei City, Hsinchu, Sales office, product design, field service andiserand repair center 18,18¢ Leased
Taiwan
Gyeonggi-do, South Sales office, product design, field service, sexyiepair center and test and assembly 7,97¢ Leased
Korea
Yokohama City, Japa Field service and service and repair ce 8,771 Leasec
Singapore Sales office and product desi 4,11t Leasec
Munich, Germany Sales office 91¢ Leasec
Milan, Italy Sales office and field servit 91t Leasec
Hiroshima, Japa Research and developmt 64z Leasec
People's Republic of Sales office 194 Leased
China

Iltem 3: Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be subject tmlggoceedings and claims in the ordinary courdeuginess. As of the filing of this Form ¥0-
we were not involved in any material legal procegdi other than the proceedings summarized befothel future we may become parties to
additional legal proceedings, including proceedidgsigned to protect our intellectual property tsggind to collect past due accounts
receivable from customers that require us to sgégmficant resources.

Patent Litigation

We initiated patent infringement litigationthe United States against Phicom Corporatidfoiea corporation, and its U.S. subsidiary,
both collectively "Phicom", and against Microniepan Co., Ltd., a Japan corporation, and its WiBsidiary, both collectively "Micronics
Japan.” In 2005, we filed a patent infringementdaivin the United States District Court for thesBict of Oregon against Phicom charging
that it is willfully infringing four U.S. patentat cover key aspects of our wafer probe cards—Ra&nt Nos. 5,974,662, entitled "Method of
Planarizing Tips of Probe Elements of a Probe @askmbly," 6,246,247, entitled "Probe Card Assenalnlgt Kit, and Methods of Using
Same," 6,624,648, entitled "Probe Card Assemblg'®894,152, entitled "Fabricating Interconnectd @ips Using Sacrificial Substrates.” In
2006, we also filed an amended complaint in thees@megon district court adding two additional péden the litigation—U.S. Patent
Nos. 7,073,254, entitled "Method for Mounting arlity of Spring Contact Elements" and 6,615,488itied "Probe Card Assembly and K
And Methods of Making Same." Phicom answered theptaint and the amended complaint by denying igiment, alleging defenses and
asserting counterclaims seeking adjudications erv#fidity, infringement and enforceability of queitents. Also
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in 2006, we filed a patent infringement lawsuitlie United States District Court for the Northeristbct of California against Micronics Japan
charging that it is willfully infringing four U.Spatents that cover key aspects of our wafer prabgse—U.S. Patent Nos. 6,246,247, entitled
"Probe Card Assembly and Kit, and Methods of Usagne,"” 6,509,751, entitled "Planarizer for a Senmdcmtor Contactor,” 6,624,648,
entitled "Probe Card Assembly" and 7,073,254, ledtitMethod for Mounting a Plurality of Spring Cawt Elements.” Micronics Japan
answered the complaint by denying infringemenegtig defenses and asserting counterclaims seakjodications on the validity,
infringement and enforceability of our patents. Thenplaints in these actions seek both injunctélefand monetary damages. These two
district court actions have been stayed pendingluéen of the complaint we filed with the UnitedaBes International Trade Commission, or
ITC, which is described below.

On or about November 13, 2007, we filedaplaint with the ITC seeking institution of a fahinvestigation by the ITC into the
activities of Micronics Japan and its U.S. subsidi@ollectively MJC) as well as Phicom. The regadsnvestigation as filed encompassed
U.S. Patent Nos. 5,994,152, entitled "Fabricatimtgriconnects and Tips Using Sacrificial Substra®&$09,751, entitled "Planarizer for a
Semiconductor Contactor," 6,615,485, entitled "ler@lard Assembly and Kit, And Methods of Making Saree624,648, entitled "Probe Card
Assembly," 7,168,162, entitled "Method of Manufautg a Probe Card" and 7,225,538, entitled "Retil@ontact Structures Formed and T
Attached to a Substrate," and alleges that infrimgret by each of Micronics Japan and Phicom of tedfthe identified patents constitute
unfair acts in violation of 19 U.S.C. Section 133%e ITC complaint alleges violations of Sectiory 38 the Tariff Act of 1930 in the
importation into the United States of certain probed assemblies, components thereof, and cedstied DRAM and NAND flash memory
devices and products containing such devices tifidhge patents owned by FormFactor, and requestmanent exclusion order banning
importation into the United States of infringingpducts and certain downstream products. The agseatents currently in the investigation are
U.S. Patent Nos. 5,994,152, 6,509,751, 6,615,48b7¢225,538.

On or about December 13, 2007, the ITC igiexl public notice that it voted to institute aneéstigation of certain probe card assemblies,
components thereof and certain tested DRAM and NAIREh memory devices and products containing slestices. The products at issue in
this investigation are probe card assemblies, waietused to test semiconductor devices that hese fabricated on silicon wafers, memory
chips that have been so tested, and products oorgauch chips.

The investigation (337-TA-621) was origigakferred to the Honorable Theodore R. EssexT@nadministrative law judge, and in July
2008 was reassigned to the Honorable Charles Bodkylan ITC administrative law judge, who will makn initial determination as to whet
there is a violation of Section 337; that initigtermination is subject to review by the ITC. Ti€lhas announced a scheduled hearing date
commencing on February 23, 2009; which would likegult in the issuance of an initial determinatigrthe administrative law judge on or
before June 19, 2009. The target date for the Ifi@$ determination is October 19, 2009. ITC reimédrders in Section 337 cases are
effective when issued and become final 60 days ef$e&iance, subject to Presidential review. OrbouaJanuary 23, 2009, the administrative
law judge, after a September 2008 hearing, isswggim construction ruling interpreting and defigiterms of certain of the claims of the
patents-in-suit. On or about January 28, 2009, elentarily withdrew our allegations to the extemat they encompassed our U.S. Patent
No. 7,168,162, and on or about February 13, 208%tiministrative law judge issued an initial deteation holding invalid the asserted cla
of our U.S. Patent No. 6,624,648, after findingpagt of the claim construction ruling that onelod terms in the asserted claims of that pate
indefinite. We appealed that initial determinatafrinvalidity to the ITC panel on or about Februas;, 2009.
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In addition to the United States litigasomve also initiated actions in Seoul, Korea agdtfscom. In 2004, we filed two actions in Seoul
Southern District Court, located in Seoul, Southrdég against Phicom alleging infringement of ourdém Patent Nos. 252,457, entitled
"Method of Fabricating Interconnections Using Claner Elements and Sacrificial Substrates,” 324,@64itled "Contact Tip Structures for
Microelectronic Interconnection Elements and MethotiIMaking Same," 278,342, entitled "Method ofekibg the Orientation of Probe
Elements in a Probe Card Assembly" and 399,21@tleshtProbe Card Assembly;" as well as two actiassfiled in 2006 in Seoul Central
District Court against Phicom alleging infringemenftertain claims of its Korean Patent No. 252,46@ seeking injunctive relief. These
actions are all pending, except that (i) in Feby207, the Seoul Central District Court dismisead preliminary injunction complaint related
to Korean Patent No. 252,457 (ii) in April 2008e tBeoul Southern District Court dismissed our camnplas it related to Korean Patent
Nos. 252,457 and 324,064, and (iii) in July 200@, $eoul Central District Court dismissed the oarihtomplaint related to Korean Pat
No. 252,457. We appealed the dismissals to thel$tigh Court except the dismissal of the preliminarjunction claim.

In response to our initiation of the inffsment actions in Korea, Phicom filed in the Kor&#ellectual Property Office, or KIPO,
invalidity actions challenging the validity of soroeall of the claims of each of our four paterttgsaue in the Seoul Southern District Court
infringement actions. KIPO dismissed Phicom's amgkes against all four of the patents-at-issueedPhiappealed the dismissals of the
challenges to the Korea Patent Court. In 2005 thiee& Patent Court issued rulings holding invalidaie claims of our Korean Patent
Nos. 278,342 and 399,210. In 2006, the Korea P&teutt issued a ruling holding invalid certain otai of our Korean Patent No. 324,064, .
also issued a ruling upholding the validity of édarean Patent No. 252,457. We appealed the Patamt @wvalidity rulings to the Korea
Supreme Court. Phicom appealed the Patent Coimgrah Korean Patent No. 252,457 to the Korea Supr€ourt. In September 2007, the
Korea Supreme Court affirmed the Patent Court gslinolding invalid certain claims of our KoreandtdtNos. 278,342 and 399,210. In April
2008, the Korea Supreme Court affirmed the PatenttGuling holding invalid certain claims of ouokean Patent No. 324,064. In June 2008,
the Korea Supreme Court reversed the Patent Qdlirrgrand invalidated certain claims of our Kordzatent No. 252,457 and remanded the
case for further trial to the Patent Court.

Additionally, one or more third parties lkdnitiated challenges in the U.S. and foreign piatéfices against certain of the above and other
of our patents. These actions include re-examingiioceedings filed in the U.S. Patent and Tradkr@dfice against certain of our U.S.
Patents that are at issue in the ITC investigatiod, proceedings in Korea against two of our Kogatents and proceedings filed in Taiwan
against four of our Taiwan patents.

No provision has been made for patent-eeléitigation because we believe that it is notatale that a liability had been incurred as of
December 27, 2008. We will incur material attorndégss in prosecuting and defending the varioustified actions.

Securities Litigation

On October 31, 2007, a plaintiff filed arported stockholder class action in the Unitedet@istrict Court for the Northern District of
California in which our company and certain oftiien officers, including one former officer whaeiurrent director, are named as defendants
under the caption "Danny McCasland, Individuallglam Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated v. Raffactor, Inc., Igor Y. Khandros,

Ronald C. Foster and Richard M. Freeman." Subselyugtaintiffs filed two other purported stockh@dclass actions in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of Califoia under the captions "Yuk Ling Lui, on Behalftéérself and All Others Similarly Situated
FormFactor, Inc., Igor Y. Khandros, Ronald C. Fosted Richard M. Freeman," and "Victor Albertazaiividually and on Behalf of All
Others Similarly Situated v. FormFactor, Inc., IdorKhandros, Ronald C. Foster and Richard M. FraeThe three actions have been
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consolidated. The plaintiffs filed these actionkoiwing our company's restatement of its finansiatements for the fiscal year ended
December 30, 2006, for each of the fiscal quaftarthat year, and for the fiscal quarters endedd®1 and June 30, 2007. In April 2008, the
designated lead plaintiffs filed a Consolidated Awahed Complaint. The plaintiffs claimed violatiorfsSections 10(b) and 20(a), and Rule 10b-
5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, alleghmg the defendants knowingly issued materiallgdand misleading statements regardiny
company's business and financial results priohgéoréstatements. On July 25, 2008, the court gilaheedefendants' motion to dismiss the
Consolidated Amended Complaint with leave to am@mAugust 22, 2008 the designated lead plairfilfs a Second Amended Complaint.
The Second Amended Complaint also alleges violatafrSections 10(b) and 20(a), and Rule 10b-5@f&curities Exchange Act of 1934,
The plaintiffs again claim that defendants knowynigsued materially false and misleading statemesgarding our company's business and
financial results prior to the restatement, as aglfegarding the development of the Harmony priolihe. Plaintiffs seek to recover
unspecified monetary damages, equitable reliefatmineys' fees and costs. Defendants filed a madiaismiss the Second Amended
Complaint on October 6, 2008, and a hearing omtbgon was held on January 16, 2009. We expectlhigaCourt will rule on the current
motion to dismiss within the next several weeks.

No provision has been made for the seegrittigation because we believe that it is nobpfule that a liability had been incurred as of
December 27, 2008.

Stockholder Derivative Litigation

On November 19, 2007, a plaintiff filed @rported stockholder derivative action in the SigreCourt of the State of California for the
County of Alameda in which our company is named asminal defendant and certain of its directoid then officers are named as defend
under the caption "John King, Derivatively on BéledINominal Defendant FormFactor, Inc. v. Dr. IgorKhandros, Dr. Homa Bahrami,

Dr. Thomas J. Campbell, G. Carl Everett, Jr., Lotaier, James A. Prestridge, Harvey A. Wagner,a€. Foster and Richard M. Freem
and FormFactor, Inc." Subsequently, another pRiifiled a second purported stockholder class aciiothe Superior Court of the State of
California for the County of Alameda under the tapt'Joseph Priestley, Derivatively on Behalf offaéactor, Inc. v. Igor Y. Khandros,

Mario Ruscev, James A. Prestridge, Thomas J. Cainptaevey A. Wagner, G. Carl Everett, Jr., HomahBani, Lothar Maier, William H.
Davidow and Joseph R. Bronson, and FormFactor, Tiwe plaintiffs filed these two later actions folling our company's restatement of its
financial statements for the fiscal year ended bexggr 30, 2006, for each of the fiscal quarterdtat year, and for the fiscal quarters ended
March 31 and June 30, 2007. The plaintiffs alldge the defendants breached their fiduciary datiesviolated applicable law by issuing, and
permitting our company to issue, materially falad anisleading statements regarding our compangmess and financial results prior to the
restatements. The plaintiffs seek to recover mopetamages, and attorneys' fees and costs. Thddvixative actions have been consolidated,
and a consolidated amended complaint is to be &edays after the Court in the stockholder clati®a enters a final ruling.

No provision has been made for the stoakdrotierivative litigation because the Company bebethat it is not probable that a liability
been incurred as of December 27, 2008.

Commercial Litigation

On February 20, 2009, we filed a compléantoreach of contract, common counts, accounédtand injunctive relief against
Spansion, LLC, a Delaware limited liability compafigpansion"), in the state superior court locate8anta Clara County, California. The
complaint alleges that Spansion has failed, indired Spansion's obligations under a purchase agneeentered into by us and Spansion, to
pay us for probe cards that we designed, develapddnanufactured pursuant to several purchasesoptiezed by Spansion with us pursua
the agreement. The complaint states that as of
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February 13, 2009, Spansion owed us $8,094,53@rédre cards delivered by us and not paid for bynSipa. In the complaint, we seek
(i) payment of at least $8,094,533, (ii) a tempypanotective order and an injunction enjoining Sgian from assigning or in any way divesting
itself of any monies that we believe Spansion reabirom a certain third party entity, (iii) a pudgment writ of attachment in favor of us over

Spansion's corporate assets and property, (iv3 @vst (v) attorney's fees. As of the date of tlis110-K, Spansion had not yet responded to
the complaint.

We believe that the factual allegations eincimstances underlying the legal proceedingdbigiltem 3 filed against us are without merit.
We also believe that we do not have material mopetamages exposure in these legal proceedingsvthdt individually or in the aggregate
have a material adverse effect on our financiatlian, liquidity or results of operations; howeyérese legal proceedings have been costly
and it is possible we will incur significant, andgsibly material, attorneys' fees, which may notteered by our insurance policies. These
legal proceedings may also divert our managemgmtisand attention away from business operatiohégiwecould prove to be disruptive to ¢
business operations. In addition, an unfavorabteamme or settlement of these proceedings, partigufdt is not covered by or exceeds our
insurance coverage, could individually or in thgregate adversely impact our financial conditigguillity or results of operations.

Item 4:  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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PART Il
ltem 5: Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Skbolder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities
Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdanp@ll Market under the symbol "FORM". The followitaple sets forth the range of high and
low sales prices per share as reported on the jaShidal Market for the periods indicated.

Fiscal 2008 High Low

First Quarte $33.8¢ $16.17
Second Quarte 22.8¢ 17.1¢
Third Quartel 22.4¢  15.5¢
Fourth Quarte 18.92  11.3¢
Fiscal 2007 High Low

First Quarte $47.91 $37.4:
Second Quarte 46.61  38.5(C
Third Quartel 48.4¢  36.5:
Fourth Quarte 47.28  30.9(

The closing sales price of our common sttithe Nasdaq Global Market was $14.48 per shafeebruary 20, 2009. As of February 20,
2009, there were 80 registered holders of reco@otommon stock.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividem our common stock. We currently expect tameth available funds and any future
earnings for use in the operation and developmieotiobusiness. Accordingly, we do not anticipageldring or paying cash dividends on our
common stock in the foreseeable future.
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Stock Price Performance Graph

The following graph shows the total stodklleo return of an investment of $100 in cash onddgloer 31, 2003 through December 31,
2008, for (1) our common stock, (2) the S&P 500ebdnd (3) the RDG Semiconductor Composite Indéixvalues assume reinvestment of
the full amount of all dividends. No cash dividetds/e been declared on shares of our common sste&kholder returns over the indicated
period are based on historical data and are nassecily indicative of future stockholder returns.

5200

$100 :‘M
S50 %
s'} L] L] L L
December 31, December 31, December 31,  December 31, December 31, December 31,
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

—— FormFactor, Inc. —f—S&P 500 —0— RDG Semiconductor Composite

Cumulative Total Return
December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
FormFactor, Inc. 100.0( 137.0: 123.3¢ 188.1: 167.1: 73.7¢
S & P 500 100.0( 110.8¢ 116.3: 134.7( 142.1( 89.5¢
RDG Semiconductor Compos 100.0( 79.8¢ 89.1¢ 84.1¢ 94.7: 47.8:

$100 invested on December 31, 2003, inolydeinvestment of dividends.
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Iltem 6: Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated finahciata are derived from our consolidated finansiatements. This data should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statetseand the related notes, and "ltem 7: ManagemBigtussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations".

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2008(1)(2)(3 2007(3) 2006(3) 2005 2004
(in thousands, except per share date

Consolidated Statements of Operations Date

Revenue! $ 210,18¢ $462,19: $369,21! $237,49' $177,76.
Cost of revenue 173,92¢ 215,48: 184,08° 130,10: 90,78¢
Gross profil 36,26: 246,700 185,12¢ 107,39 86,971
Operating expenst

Research and developmt 65,50¢ 60,95 46,60¢ 28,34¢ 20,64

Selling, general and administrati 95,20¢ 92,55: 71,54( 43,74« 30,221

Restructuring 9,157 — — — —

Impairment of long lived asse 4,40( — — — —

Total operating expens: 174,27. 153,507 118,14¢ 72,09: 50,86¢

Operating (loss) incom (138,01) 93,20 66,97¢ 35,301 36,11
Interest incomt 12,44¢ 22,50¢ 15,18 4,28: 2,45(
Other income (expense), r 653 52¢ 204 (2,097 50C
(Loss) income before income tax (124,91) 116,24( 82,36¢ 38,49: 39,06:
(Benefit from) provision for income taxi (44,29)) 43,35( 25,14¢ 8,31( 13,88¢
Net (loss) incomt $ (80,62) $ 72,89( $ 57,217 $ 30,18. $ 25,17¢
Net (loss) income per share available to commocksilders:

Basic $ (165 ¢ 152 $ 127 $ 07¢ $ 0.67

Diluted $ (165 ¢ 147 $ 121 $ 07 $ 0.6°
Weighte-average number of shares used in per share caboig:

Basic 48,90¢ 48,04+ 45,17: 39,547 37,647

Diluted 48,90¢ 49,55 47,19: 41,59( 40,05¢
Consolidated Balance Sheet Date
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable secu $ 522,89: $570,04¢ $492,39: $211,60¢ $191,48:
Working capital 576,75 622,097 517,21¢ 232,11( 205,10!
Total asset 785,71( 855,32 694,47, 381,36. 302,56¢
Deferred stock based compensation, — — — (2,495 (5,417
Total stockholders' equit 706,06: 756,95( 614,04. 317,78¢ 265,17!

(1) Fiscal 2008 operating results include an impairnoéiarge of $4.4 million related to Singapore carttor-in-progress assets (S
Note 3 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statas).

(2) Fiscal 2008 operating results include restructudharges of $9.2 million relating to our global nganization efforts. (See Note 5 of
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

3 Effective December 31, 2005, the first day of fis2@06, we adopted Statement of Financial Accogn8tendards ("SFAS") No. 123

(R), " Share-Based Paymehbn a modified prospective basis. As a resulthaee included stock-based compensation costs in our
results of operations beginning in fiscal 2006.(Skte 9 of Notes to the Consolidated Financialestants).
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Item 7: Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should kad in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and the relategs included elsewhere in this Annual Report om+0-K. In addition to historical
consolidated financial information, the followingsdussion and analysis contains forward-lookingestaents that involve risks, uncertainties
and assumptions as described under the "Note RegaFebrward-Looking Statements" that appears eaiiliethis Annual Report on Form 10-
K. Our actual results could differ materially frotmose anticipated by these forwrlooking statements as a result of many factorduiting
those discussed under "ltem 1A: Risk Factors" dsevehere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We design, develop, manufacture, sell anqubsrt precision, high performance advanced serdiector wafer probe card products and
solutions. Semiconductor manufacturers use ourmmfibe cards to perform wafer sort and test orsémiconductor die, or chips, or the
whole semiconductor wafer, which is prior to sirggidn of the wafer into individual separate chiyg work closely with our customers to
design, develop and manufacture custom wafer peatss. Each wafer probe card is a custom prodactighspecific to the chip and wafer
designs of the customer. We operate in a singlesitng segment and have derived substantially alunfrevenues from the sale of wafer probe
cards incorporating our proprietary MicroSpringeirionnect technology.

The oversupply of memory devices in thdygaart of our fiscal 2008, coupled with the ovégibbal economic downturn and uncertainty
in fiscal 2008 had a significant impact on globainsconductor device manufacturing, which resulted significant decrease in demand and a
challenging environment for our advanced wafer proérds. Our revenues declined by 54.5%, or $262li@n, in fiscal 2008 as compared to
fiscal 2007. This revenue decline was in each efptoduct markets we address—Dynamic Random Addessory, or DRAM, NAND and
NOR Flash memory and System on a Chip, or SoC.é€Ttessilts were due to a number of factors inclutliregrelative supply and demand
various semiconductor devices and end productspiocating those devices, semiconductor manufactuedforts to curtail spending and
conserve cash by taking capacity offline, redugingduction, delaying the transition to new techgglaodes and postponing the
implementation of tooling cycles. We expect theedetated market conditions for our semiconduct@temers to continue or worsen in fiscal
2009, which could cause our DRAM-based revenuerthér decline in light of the protracted oversyppl DRAM devices, the delay of probe
card purchases by some of our DRAM customers andélay of technology transitions by some of ourADRcustomers.

We incurred a net loss of $80.6 milliorfistal 2008 as compared to net income of $72.9anillor fiscal 2007, primarily due to lower
revenues, the inclusion of $9.2 million of restwrgtg charges, $4.4 million of impairment chargelated to long-lived assets, and $4.1 million
in provision for bad debt reserve due to the heigéd risk of non-payment of certain accounts redgés We implemented two cost reduction
plans in fiscal 2008 which consisted primarily &dlgal workforce reductions, facility consolidaticamd property and equipment impairments.

We expect continued decline in demand forpyoducts that address the DRAM, Flash and SofRetsto persist which will affect our
revenues and profitability into fiscal 2009. Givtbe overall weakness of the United States econordyttze global macroeconomy, and the
current downturn in the semiconductor industry aseffects on demand for our products, we are lent@bprecisely forecast when or if
revenues and profitability will return to previolevels.

Our cash, cash equivalents and marketaiolgrgies totaled approximately $522.9 million &9ecember 27, 2008 as compared to
$570.0 million at December 29, 2007. The decreasaii cash, cash equivalents and marketable siesupilances was primarily due to the
of cash for operating
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activities in fiscal 2008. We believe that we vii# able to satisfy our working capital requiremédatghe next twelve months with the liquid
provided by our existing cash, cash equivalentsraarketable securities. If we are unsuccessfuhiroving our operating efficiency, reduci
our cash outlays or increasing our available chsfugh financing, our cash, cash equivalents antteteble securities will further decline in
the first quarter of fiscal 2009.

In response to the continued deterioraticsemiconductor market conditions, we are focusing@ligning our operations and improving
our operating efficiency to achieve operating ddalv break-even in the current business environnagiatto better position our company for
long-term, profitable growth. In January 2009, wigidted a global reorganization and cost reductilam designed to lower the company's cash
breakeven level in order to enable us to sustaisedwes financially in the current market enviromnés part of the plan, we reduced our
workforce by 22%. We also implemented certain nevesance measures that we expect to result inefatnst savings.

In addition, we are restructuring our opierss through our global regionalization strategy for example, placing more decision-making
in regions close to our semiconductor customeent@ance customer relationships, strengtheningomat design, application and service
capabilities to improve customer responsivenesging our manufacturing structure for shorter eytthe and improved product delivery
capabilities, and realigning our research and agreéent efforts.

We believe the following information is ilmant to understanding our business, our finarstatements and the remainder of this
discussion and analysis of our financial conditiod results of operations:

Fiscal Year. Fiscal years ended December 27, 2008, Dece2®e007 and December 30, 2006 had 52 weeks eacHisOal year enc
on the last Saturday in December.

Revenues. We derive substantially all of our revenuesrfrproduct sales of wafer probe cards. Revenues dnamecustomers are subject
to fluctuations due to factors including, but riotited to, design cycles, technology adoption ratempetitive pressure to reduce prices,
cyclicality of the different end markets into whiohr customers' products are sold and market donditn the semiconductor industry.
Historically, increases in revenues have resultedhfincreased demand for our existing productsirtreduction of new, more complex
products and the penetration of new markets. Wea@xpat revenues from the sale of wafer probescailil continue to account for
substantially all of our revenues for the foresézflture.

Cost of Revenues.Cost of revenues consists primarily of manufdaog materials, payroll and manufacturing-reladedrhead. In
addition, cost of revenues also includes costse@lto the start up of our new manufacturing facilivhich was completed in early 2006 and
costs of the expansion of our manufacturing facilihich was completed in 2007. Our manufacturingrapions rely upon a limited number of
suppliers to provide key components and materalgdr products, some of which are a sole souraeowler materials and supplies based on
backlog and forecasted customer orders. Toolingsatap costs related to changing manufacturingaoteir suppliers are also included in the
cost of revenues. We expense all warranty costsreeahtory provisions or write-offs of inventory egst of revenues.

We design, manufacture and sell a fullyt@omsproduct into the semiconductor test marketcivlis subject to significant variability and
demand fluctuations. Our wafer probe cards are ¢éexroducts that are custom to a specific chipgieand must be delivered on relatively
short lead-times as compared to our overall mantuifiag process. As our advanced wafer probe camlsanufactured in low volumes and
must be delivered on relatively short lead-timeis not uncommon for us to acquire production make and start certain production activities
based on estimated production yields and forecaiathnd prior to or in excess of actual demanadtowafer probe cards. We record an
adjustment to our inventory valuation for estimadédolete and non-saleable
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inventories equal to the difference between th¢ abimiventories and the estimated market valuetagpon assumptions about future demand
and market conditions

Research and DevelopmentResearch and development expenses include sapeslated to product development, engineering and
material costs. Almost all research and developroestis are expensed as incurred. We plan to cantminvest a significant amount in
research and development activities to improveeaithnce existing technologies and to develop nelntdogies for current and new markets
and for new applications. In fiscal 2008, our riekipercentage of revenue expenditure on reseatllevelopment increased as compared to
our expenditures in our fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2q@¥6narily due to the decrease in revenues faafi2008. We expect our relative investment
in research and development to retain at the highative percentage of revenues for the short teratuding through our fiscal 2009, due to
our continued commitment to product improvementd aew product and technology development.

Selling, General and Administrative.Selling, general and administrative expenselsidie expenses related to sales, marketing, and
administrative personnel, provision for doubtfut@gnts, internal and outside sales representativesnissions, market research and
consulting, and other sales, marketing, and adtnéiige activities. These expenses also includésdos enforcing our patent rights and
regulatory compliance costs.

Restructuring. Restructuring charges include expenses retatedhployee termination severance pay and bersafdgroperty,
equipment and facility impairment charges incusdart of our global cost reduction plans.

Impairment of Long Lived AssetsAsset impairment charges include charges assutivith the write down of assets that have noréut
expected benefit or assets for which circumstainadisate that the carrying amount of these assagsmot be recoverable.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our finahoigdition and results of operations are basedupo consolidated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with U.S. geperatiepted accounting principles. The preparatfdhese financial statements requires us
to make estimates and assumptions that affecepherted amounts of assets and liabilities at the ofthe financial statements and the
reported amounts of net revenue and expenses neploeting. Our accounting policies are fundametttainderstanding our financial conditi
and results of operations reported in our finarsialements and related disclosures. We have fidgehtie following accounting policies as
being critical because they require our managetoemiake particularly difficult, subjective and/amplex judgments about the effect of
matters that are inherently uncertain. We evaloateestimates and assumptions on an ongoing hrediwa base these estimates and
assumptions on current facts, historical experigmeel various other factors and assumptions tedtelreved to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ materialty adversely from our estimates. Our managensntiiscussed the development,
selection, application and disclosure of thesécalibccounting policies with the Audit Committefeonir Board of Directors.

Revenue Recognition: We recognize revenue in accordance with Staffotinting Bulletin No. 104, "Revenue Recogniticemd all
related interpretations. Revenue is recognized vellesf the following criteria have been met:

. When persuasive evidence of an arrangement egietgracts and customer purchase orders are ggnesaltl to determine the
existence of an arrangement.
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. Delivery has occurred. Shipping documents and cust@cceptance, when applicable, are used to viglfyery. Revenues
from product sales to our customers other thard@tributor are recognized upon shipment or dejivdepending on the terms
of sale.

. The fee is fixed or determinable. We assess whdftieciee is fixed or determinable based on the gayrerms associated with

the transaction and whether the sales price i®stify) refund or adjustment.

. Collectibility is reasonably assured. We assedgdibility based primarily on the creditworthinesfsour customer as
determined by credit checks and analysis, as wadua customer's payment history.

In instances where final acceptance ofpwaduct, is specified by our customer, revenueeferled until all acceptance criteria have been
met.

In multiple element arrangements, we deigenwhether there is more than one unit of accognfro the extent that the deliverables are
separable into multiple units of accounting, wentbfocate the total fee on such arrangementsatinttividual units of accounting based on
relative fair value of individual elements.

We offer product maintenance and repaaragements to our customers. Amounts due from atomers under these arrangements are
initially recorded as deferred revenues. The feesecognized as revenue on a straight-line bagistbe service period and related costs are
recorded as incurred.

Revenues from the licensing of our desigth @manufacturing technology, which have been iriigant to date, are recognized over the
term of the license agreement or when the sigmificantractual obligations have been fulfilled.

Warranty Accrual: We provide for the estimated cost of productramties at the time revenue is recognized. Whaeanwgage in
extensive product quality programs and processekjding actively monitoring and evaluating the liyaf our component suppliers, our
warranty obligation is affected by product failuates, material usage and service delivery costglied in correcting a product failure. We
continuously monitor product returns for warrantylanaintain a reserve for the related expensesihgsen our historical experience and any
specifically identified field failures. As we selew products to our customers, we must exercissiderable judgment in estimating the
expected failure rates. This estimating processs®d on historical experience of similar produgssyell as various other assumptions that we
believe to be reasonable under the circumstances ¢éxperience an increase in warranty claims @metpwith our historical experience, or if
the cost of servicing warranty claims is greatantexpected, our gross margin could be adverstdygtafl.

Inventory Valuation: We state our inventories at the lower of cpsin€ipally standard cost which approximates actoast on a first in,
first out basis) or market. We review the adequafoyur inventory reserves on a quarterly basisrecdrd adjustments to our inventory
valuation for estimated obsolescence or saleable inventories equal to the difference betvike cost of inventories and the estimated m:
value based upon assumptions about future demahtharket conditions. If actual market conditions kss favorable than those projected by
management, additional inventory reserves may dpained. Inventory write downs once establishednartereversed until the related inventory
has been scrapped or sold.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts: A majority of our trade receivables are deriftenin sales to large multinational semiconductor
manufacturers throughout the world. In order to itworpotential credit losses, we perform ongoingdir evaluations of our customers'
financial condition. An allowance for doubtful acods is maintained for probable credit losses bapet our assessment of the expected
collectibility of all accounts receivable. The allance for doubtful accounts is reviewed on a
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guarterly basis to assess the adequacy of theatiosv We take into consideration (1) any circuntsarof which we are aware of a customer's
inability to meet its financial obligations; and @ur judgments as to prevailing economic condgionthe industry and their impact on our
customers. If a major customer's creditworthinederibrates, or if actual defaults are higher thanhistorical experience, or if other
circumstances arise, our estimates of the recoiligyadf amounts due to us could be overstated, ahditional allowances could be required,
which could have an adverse impact on our revenue.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Longveid Assets to be Disposed of:We account for the impairment of long-livedetssn
accordance with Statement of Financial Accountiten8ard No. 144, "Accounting for the ImpairmenDisposal of Long-Lived
Assets" ("SFAS 144"). We evaluate the carrying galfiour longhved assets whenever certain events or changesciimstances indicate tt
the carrying amount of these assets may not beseeable. Such events or circumstances includegifgunot limited to, a prolonged industry
downturn, a significant decline in our market vatwesignificant reductions in projected future céisiws.

Significant judgments and assumptions egelired in the forecast of future operating resustsd in the preparation of the estimated future
cash flows, including profit margins, long-termdoasts of the amounts and timing of overall magketvth and our percentage of that market,
groupings of assets, discount rates and termimaVtiprrates. In addition, significant estimates asdumptions are required in the determine
of the fair value of our tangible long-lived assételuding replacement cost, economic obsolescearm the value that could be realized in
orderly liquidation. Changes in these estimatedccbave a material adverse effect on the assesavhent long-lived assets, thereby requiring
us to write down the assets.

Accounting for Income Taxes: We are subject to income taxes in the UnitedeStand numerous foreign jurisdictions. As pathef
process of preparing our consolidated financiakst@nts, we are required to estimate our incomestakhis process involves estimating our
actual current tax exposure together with assessimgorary differences that may result in defeteedassets. Management judgment is
required in determining any valuation allowanceorded against our net deferred tax assets. Any salciation allowance would be based on
our estimates of income and the period over whighdeferred tax assets would be recoverable. Windleragement has considered taxable
income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax plansirategies in assessing the need for a valuatiowance, if we were to determine that we
would not be able to realize all or part of our deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustnoetitet deferred tax assets would result in
additional income tax expense in such period. We fevaluated the need for a valuation allowancénagaur deferred tax assets and based or
the weight of the available evidence we have cateduthat it is more likely than not we will be abderealize all of our U.S. deferred tax
assets. We have also evaluated our foreign deftaredssets related to certain net operating laaseésiave concluded that it is more likely
than not that these assets will not be utilizedthedefore, we have recorded a full valuation adlaee for those deferred tax assets.

Our provision for income taxes is subjectolatility and could be adversely impacted byn@ags being lower than anticipated in count
that have lower tax rates and higher than antiegbat countries that have higher tax rates; by gharin the valuation of our deferred tax assets
and liabilities; by expiration of or lapses in tR&D tax credit laws; by transfer pricing; by taxXests of nondeductible compensation; by tax
costs related to intercompany realignments; orianges in tax laws, regulations, or accountinggies, including accounting for uncertain
tax positions or interpretations thereof. Additittphaour current and deferred tax provision is lthea estimates and assumptions that could
differ from the actual results reflected in incotar returns filed. Differences between our tax jBimn and tax return may occur and such
adjustments are recorded when identified.
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Effective at the beginning of the first giea of fiscal 2007, we adopted Financial AccougtBtandards Board ("FASB") Interpretation
No. 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxas Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" KFI8") which is a change
accounting for income taxes. FIN 48 contains a st&p recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positaccounted for in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SAA&)109, "Accounting for Income Taxes" ("SFAS 109 he first step is to evaluate the
tax position for recognition by determining if theeight of available evidence indicates that it @renlikely than not that the position will be
sustained on audit, including resolution of relapgeals or litigation processes, if any. The sé@tap is to measure the tax benefit as the
largest amount that is more than 50% likely of bewalized upon settlement. Significant judgmemeguired in evaluating our uncertain tax
positions and determining our provision for incotaees. Although we believe our reserves are redd®nao assurance can be given that the
final tax outcome of these matters will not be eliéint from that which is reflected in our histoticecome tax provisions and accruals. We
adjust these reserves in light of changing facts@rcumstances, such as the closing of a tax audite refinement of an estimate. To the
extent that the final tax outcome of these maitedifferent than the amounts recorded, such diffees will affect the provision for income
taxes in the period in which such determinatiomé&de. The provision for income taxes includes ffexeof reserve provisions and changes to
reserves that are considered appropriate, as w#tlearelated net interest. Significant judgmerii$® required in determining any valuation
allowance recorded against deferred tax assetsdassing the need for a valuation allowance, wsider all available evidence, including |
operating results, estimates of future taxablenmegoand the feasibility of tax planning strateglaghe event that we change our determination
as to the amount of deferred tax assets that cagdiieed, we will adjust our valuation allowancihaa corresponding effect to the provision
for income taxes in the period in which such deteation is made. As a result of the implementatibRIN 48, our tax assets and liabilities
not differ from the assets and liabilities befod®ption; therefore, we did not record any adjustim@s of the adoption date. In addition,
consistent with the provisions of FIN 48, we resifisd $9.8 million of income tax liabilities frourrent to non-current liabilities because
payment of cash was not anticipated within one pé#ine balance sheet date and we were unable ke meeasonably reliable estimate when
cash settlement with a taxing authority would océurthe adoption date of December 31, 2006, we$1417 million of total gross
unrecognized tax benefit of which $14.0 milliont(néfederal impact on state benefit) of unrecogditax benefits would impact our effective
tax rate if recognized. See Note 10—Income TaxeldrNotes Consolidated Financial Statements s1\Rbrm 10-K, for additional
information.

The amount of income taxes we pay is stiltigeangoing audits by federal, state and foregnauthorities which might result in proposed
assessments. Our estimate for the potential outéonany uncertain tax issue is judgmental in ratttowever, we believe we have adequi
provided for any reasonable foreseeable outconag¢egtto those matters. Our future results may decfavorable or unfavorable adjustment
our estimated tax liabilities in the period theesssnents are made or resolved or when statutesitztion on potential assessments expire.

We have concluded that it is still moreelikthan not that we will be able to realize alloofr domestic deferred tax assets. For the deferrec
tax assets resulting from foreign net operatingdssve have concluded that it is more likely thaintimat this asset will not be utilized and
therefore, we have recorded a full valuation alloeeafor those deferred tax assets.

We calculate our current and deferred raxigion based on estimates and assumptions thiéd ddfer from the actual results reflected in
income tax returns filed. Differences between aurgrovision and tax return may occur and suchsadjents are recorded when identified.
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Stock-Based Compensation: In accordance with SFAS No. 123 (revised 20@4) measure compensation expense for all employee
share-based payment awards using a fair value masttbd, reduced by estimated award forfeitured,ranord such expense in our
consolidated statements of operations.

We consider our accounting policy for shbased compensation to be critical as determitinddir value of awards involves the use of
significant estimates and assumptions. We use ldekEscholes option pricing model to determine the ¥aiue of stock options and employ
stock purchase plan shares. The Black-Scholesmpticing model requires the use of input assunmgtiincluding the expected life, expected
price volatility of the underlying stock, expectéididend yield and risk-free interest rate. Thed&kscholes option pricing model was
developed for use in estimating the fair valuerafléd options, which have no vesting restrictiams are fully transferable. Because our stock
options have characteristics significantly diffearéom those of traded options, changes to thetiapaumptions can materially affect the fair
value of our employee stock options. SFAS No. 12%(Bo requires us to develop an estimate of timebau of share-based payment awards
that we expect to vest. We consider many factomnwdstimating expected forfeitures, including fyetof award and historical experience,
and revise those estimates in subsequent periedsuiél forfeitures differ from those estimates. Wge historical data to estimate pre-vesting
option forfeitures and record stock-based compé@rsaikpense only for those awards that are expeoteest.

The most significant assumptions impactedianagement's judgment are the expected volatititithe expected life of the options. We
base the risk-free interest rate on zero-coupddyieplied from U.S. Treasury issues with remajnierms similar to the expected term on the
options. We do not anticipate paying any cash @wi$ in the foreseeable future and therefore usspected dividend yield of zero in the
option pricing model.

Expected volatility. The value of a stock option is derived frompitdential for appreciation. The more volatile gteck, the more
valuable the option becomes because of the grpassibility of significant changes in stock pri€ur computation of expected volatility is
based on a blend of historical volatility of oummmon stock and implied volatility of traded optidiespurchase shares of our common stock.
Our decision to incorporate implied volatility wiaased on our assessment that implied volatilityutdlicly traded options in our common st
is expected to be more reflective of market conditiand, therefore, can reasonably be expectes addetter indicator of expected volatility
than historical volatility of our common stock.

Expected life. The expected life also has a significant eftecthe value of the option. The longer the tehre,more time the option
holder has to allow the stock price to increaséeuit a cash investment and thus, the more valdhbleption. Further, longer option terms
provide more opportunity to exploit market highaviever, employees are not required to wait unélehd of the contractual term of a
nontransferable option to exercise. Accordingly,ase required to estimate the expected term oppiien. When establishing the expected life
of a newly granted option, the Company appliessthmplified method approach as outlined in Staff dwating Bulleting No. 110. The
simplified method is based on the vesting periodi thie contractual term for each grant, or for eagdting-tranche for awards with graded
vesting. The mid-point between the vesting datethadexpiration date is used as the expected tederuthis method.

We review our valuation assumptions at egelnt date and, as a result, we are likely to ghawr valuation assumptions used to value
stock based awards granted in future periods. Gisatggthe input assumptions could materially affeetestimated fair value of our share-
based payment awards.
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Results of Operation

The following table sets forth our opergtnesults as a percentage of revenues:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2008 2007 2006
Revenue:! 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
Cost of revenue 82.7 46.€ 49.¢
Gross margit 17.5 53.Z 50.1
Operating expense
Research and developmt 31.2 13.2 12.€
Selling, general and administrati 452 20.C 19.4
Restructuring 4.3 — —
Impairment of long lived asse 2.1 — —
Total operating expens: 82.¢ 33.2 32.C
Operating (loss) incom (65.€) 20.z 18.1
Interest income, ne 5.9 4.¢ 4.1
Other income (expense), r 0.3 0.1 0.1
(Loss) income before income tax (59.49 25.2 22.3
(Benefit from) provision for income tax (21.0 9.4 6.8
Net (loss) incomi (38.9% 15.€% 15.2%
Fiscal Years Ended December 27, 2008 and DecemBe2R07
Revenues
Change
Fiscal Fiscal
2008 2007 (Decrease) %
(In thousands)
Revenues by Marke
DRAM $139,563° $328,01¢ $(188,48) (57.5%
Flash 38,43( 88,95¢ (50,52¢) (56.¢)
SoC 32,22 45,21+ (12,997 (28.7)
Total revenue $210,18¢ $462,19: $(252,00) (54.5%

Total revenues declined by 54.5%, or $252illon, in fiscal 2008 as compared to fiscal 2q@#narily due to weak demand for our
advanced wafer probe cards caused by the dowmutheisemiconductor market. For certain of our potslwe also experienced pricing

pressure in light of the availability of competéiproducts, which also contributed to the decréasevenues.

Our revenues for fiscal 2008 were primagignerated by sales of wafer probe cards to manuéas of DRAM devices. Revenues for our
products that address the DRAM segment decreageifisantly in fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 20@Tmarily due to weak market
conditions in which DRAM device pricing fell predipusly, to pricing pressure from our customerseriain of our DRAM products due to
competitive environment, and from increased contipeti Given the price trend of DRAM devices in i$@008, our customers that
manufacture DRAM devices took certain actions tdailispending and conserve cash, including deassto delay test capacity expansions

ramping of key devices.

Revenues from sales to Flash memory dewimeufacturers also decreased significantly in fi20688 compared to fiscal 2007 primarily
due to sales decline of our NOR Flash wafer pravd<cin light of the reduced product ordering pattgf one of our primary NOR Flash

device customers, to
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pricing pressure from our customers on certainunffdash products due to the competitive envirortyemd from increased competition for
full wafer contactor products in the NAND flash rket. Market conditions for Flash memory devices kegeed during fiscal 2008 and, as a
consequence, our customers that manufacture Flastory devices took certain actions similar to o®AM customers which. in turn,
impacted the demand for our products. The weakneN®R Flash can be attributed to certain key ausis pushing their production ramp of
65-nanometer into 2009. We also experienced markeesbduction as a result of pricing pressure otagefFlash memory products due to
competitive environment.

Revenues from manufacturers of SoC dewdeeseased in fiscal 2008 as compared to fiscal poidTarily due to delayed production ra
of a key customer's ongoing transition to advarteetinology nodes in both chipset application agth lperformance fligship microprocessol
which are used in personal computer, gaming anghiga applications. This revenue decline was pafffiset by growth in the Wire-bond SoC
market segment.

We have experienced continued pressurewenues resulting from the global economic down&unt continued economic uncertainty,
particularly as it relates to the lower demanddevices manufactured by our semiconductor custariiéesexpect weak demand for our
products that address the DRAM, Flash and SoC setgrne persist, which will affect our revenues andfitability into fiscal 2009. If our
customers continue to defer purchases of our ptedurtil general economic and semiconductor mar&aditions improve, our business and
operating results will be adversely affected. Gittemnature of the global macroeconomic weaknbes;urrent downturn in the semiconductor
industry and its effects on demand for our produgtsare unable to precisely forecast when oniéneles and profitability will return to
previous levels.

Revenue by Geographic Regit

The following table sets forth our revenbgggeographic region for the periods indicated:

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of
2008 Revenue: 2007 Revenue!
(In thousands)
Japar $ 93,37 44.4% $194,30¢ 42.(%
North America 45,84: 21.¢ 82,08t 17.¢
Taiwan 43,01¢ 20.E 129,93 28.1
South Kores 16,70¢ 7.9 24,75¢ 54
Europe 11,25t 5.4 31,10¢ 6.7
Total revenue $210,18¢ 100.(% $462,19: 100.(%

Geographic revenue information is basetherocation to which we send the customer invoiEes example, certain South Korean
customers purchase through their North Americasiglidries and accordingly, revenues derived frolassep such customers are reflected in
North America revenues. The decrease in revenuessall geographic regions was due to generaliggsemiconductor industry downtu
characterized by weak demand for semiconductorcdsyidelayed production ramps and weak devicengrignvironments.

Gross Profit

Fiscal Fiscal
2008 2007
(In thousands)
Gross profil $36,26: $246,70°
Gross margit 17.2% 53.4%
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Gross margin fluctuates with revenue leveteduct mix, selling prices, factory loading, andterial costs. For fiscal 2008, gross margin
declined compared to fiscal 2007 primarily duehte significant decline in revenue driving lowerttay utilization, thereby increasing unit
manufacturing costs, as well as inventory write-dswand declines in average selling prices. Thifirdewas partially mitigated by lower
personnel costs as a result of our fiscal 2008ajlobst reduction plans. Excess custom invent@iesiot uncommon as our advanced wafer
probe cards are custom designs that must be dedivar relatively short lead-times, and often rezgiirs to acquire and start certain production
activities prior to a firm customer commitment. @exoffs to inventories increased from $12.7 millar 2.7% of revenues in fiscal 2007 to
$16.3 million or 7.7% of revenues in fiscal 200&guimarily to customer cancellations. Gross mafgirfiscal 2008 includes stock-based
compensation expense of $4.8 million, or 2.2% wéneie compared to $5.4 million, or 1.2% of revefardiscal 2007. The decline, in absol
dollars, was primarily as a result of reductionti@adcount as a result of our 2008 global costatémtuplans.

In future periods, we may be required tword additional inventory write-downs if estimateerage selling prices of products held in
finished goods and work in process inventories@arter-end date are below the manufacturingaiose products. Additionally, near term
gross margins will likely be adversely affecteditwrer levels of product revenues in comparisorhtodame periods in the prior fiscal year.

Research and Developme

Fiscal Fiscal
2008 2007
(In thousands)
Research and Developme $65,50¢ $60,95!
% of revenue: 31.2% 13.2%

Research and development expenses increaabdolute dollars in fiscal 2008 as comparefistal 2007 primarily due to an increase in
product development related costs offset by a dsere personnel costs. During fiscal 2008, expersated to new technology and product
development increased $5.2 million, and depreaiadiod facilities and information technology alldeas increased $0.7 million due to
investment in research and development facilittebdevelopment equipment. In fiscal 2008 personasis decreased $1.3 million due to the
work force reductions as well as the temporary snsjon of our company's key employee bonus andt gtadring plans. Stock-based
compensation included within research and developrvas $5.0 million for fiscal 2008 compared toZsBillion for fiscal 2007, with the
decrease in absolute dollars being primarily duetiluctions in headcount as a result of our 200Bajlreorganization plans.

As a percent of revenues, research anda@vent expenses increased in fiscal 2008 as cadparfiscal 2007 primarily due to the
declining revenue base.

Our future operating results depend sigaiftly on our ability to timely deliver reliablegst-effective products that meet our customers'
testing requirements and that have a competitivardge in our marketplace. To do this, we belibeat we must continue to make substantial
investments in our research and development. Weaargnuing our strategic investments in researchdevelopment, including the
development of our next generation parallelism ig@cture and products, fine pitch memory and Iggieducts, advanced MicroSpring
interconnect technology and new process techndotjiee remain committed to product development im aed emerging technologies.
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Selling, General and Administrativ

Fiscal Fiscal
2008 2007
(In thousands)
Selling, general and administrati $95,20¢ $92,55:
% of revenue: 45.2% 20.(%

Selling, general and administrative expensereased in absolute dollars in fiscal 2008 carag to fiscal 2007 primarily due to an
increase in legal costs and allowance for doulstfgbunts offset in part by a decrease in persarost$. During fiscal 2008, outside legal
services incurred for protecting our intellectuedgperty portfolio, tax services and other expenseseased by approximately $5.1 million,
provision for doubtful debts increased by $4.1 imillprimarily due to the heightened risk of collentfrom a customer, and personnel related
costs decreased by approximately $2.7 million pritpndue to the work force reductions as well as thmporary suspension of our key
employee bonus plan and profit sharing plan. Irtadd stock-based compensation included withiirsgl general and administrative expense
was $12.4 million for fiscal 2008 compared to $15i8ion for fiscal 2007, the decrease being priiftyadue to reductions in headcount as a
result of our 2008 global reorganization plans.

As a percent of revenue, selling, genendl@ministrative expenses increased in fiscal 2808ompared to fiscal 2007 primarily due to
the declining revenue base.

Restructuring

Fiscal
Fiscal
2008 2007
(In thousands)
Restructuring Charge $9,157 $ —
% of revenue: 4.3% 0.0%

In both the first and second quarters sfdl 2008, we implemented global cost reductiongtaat included reducing our global
workforce. As part of the first quarter action, eworkforce was reduced by 14% and as part of thergkquarter action, we reduced our
workforce by 12%. The first quarter action alsduided facility consolidation charges related toatang buildings in Livermore, California.
Both plans were implemented to restructure our amyigo better align with the market environment.expenses, including adjustments
associated with our restructuring plans are indude'Restructuring” in the Consolidated Statemefit®perations. During fiscal 2008, we
$6.9 million, representing substantially all of #mployee related expenses for the cost reductams@nd $0.3 million primarily related to a
non-cancellable contract. The remaining employéegted charges will be paid in the first half ofcid 2009. See Note 5 of Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Impairment of lon¢-lived assets

Fiscal
Fiscal
2008 2007
(In thousands)
Impairment of lon-lived asset: $4,40C $ —
% of revenue: 2.1% 0.C%

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, weorled an impairment charge of $4.4 million relatedonstruction in-progress assets in

Singapore based on our decision not to proceedthétltonstruction of a new manufacturing facilitytee proposed site in Singapore. The
impaired
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construction-in-progress assets consisted primafiuilding design costs as well as costs of teragoconstruction structures.

Interest and Other Income (Expense), N

Fiscal Fiscal
2008 2007
(In thousands)
Interest income (expens $12,44¢ $22,50¢
% of revenue: 5.9% 4.%
Other income (expense), r $ 658 $ 52¢
% of revenue: 0.2% 0.1%

The decrease in interest income on cash, equivalents and marketable securities was pitinaresult of lower interest rates and lower
average cash balances during fiscal 2008 as compafescal 2007. Seeking greater investment safe¢yre-allocated our investment
securities from longer maturity, higher yield mupal securities to U. S. government and agencyteharaturity securities during fiscal 2008.
Weighted average yields for fiscal 2008 and fi07 were 2.29% and 4.39%, respectively. Cash, egsivalents, restricted cash and
marketable securities totaled $523.6 million at&wber 27, 2008 compared to $572.2 million at Dee=@B, 2007 with the decrease caused
by our company's use of cash for operating actiwitin fiscal 2008, partially offset by cash proddsy investing and financing activities. Other
income (expense) for fiscal 2008 consisted primarilrealized gains related to the sale of invesit:iand net foreign currency gains related to
Japanese Yen, offset in part by bank fees. Otlwanie (expense) for fiscal 2007 consisted primanflget foreign currency gains related to
Japanese Yen, miscellaneous income, offset by fessk

(Benefit from) Provision for Income Taxes

Fiscal Fiscal
2008 2007
(In thousands)
(Benefit from) provision for income tax: $(44,297) $43,35(
Effective tax rate (35.5% 37.2%

Our effective income tax rate was a bergsib6% in fiscal year 2008 versus a provision aB3#in fiscal 2007. The fiscal 2008 benefit
was negatively impacted by tax charges for taxded$s Singapore but was positively impacted byréirestatement of the U.S. federal research
and development credit and the favorable resolufdasues related to our company's 2004-2006 b@éation during 2008. The Singapore
losses are due to the initial phase of a worldwitecture implemented to align our worldwide affiés with the geographic mix of our
customers. In 2007, we initiated the first phasewfcurrent plan to establish operations in Sigapo provide operational and financial
services to the region. A significant element & tlew structure involves the sharing of certaire@sgs related to the ongoing development of
intangible property. Tax charges to implement tee structure negatively impacted the effectivertte by approximately 4 and 7 percentage
points in fiscal 2008 and 2007, respectively. Thesrges consisted primarily of payments associatddour intellectual property shared
between Singapore and the U. S. We anticipateotiragffective tax rate will be in the mid 30% rarigdiscal 2009 and possibly a lower rate
future years depending on profitability and thangxyurisdiction as we begin to realize operatioaadi tax efficiencies resulting from this
alignment plan and improvement of the current eatin@nd semiconductor industry climate.

On October 3, 2008, the Emergency Econ@tabilization Act of 2008 was signed into law. Untlés law, the research tax credit was
retroactively extended through January 1, 2010 fieoember 31, 2007. This extension of the crediefiged our fourth quarter and full year
effective tax
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rate by less than one percentage point. The Cald#d®008-2009 Budget Bill (Assembly Bill 1452), eted on September 30, 2008, resulted in
two temporary changes to the California income Epst, the bill suspends the use of net operdtisg carryovers for the fiscal 2008 and 2C
Second, the bill limits the use of research taxlitr@arryovers to no more than 50% of the tax ligbbefore credits. While these changes did
not affect our 2008 effective tax rate, they mapautt our 2009 tax provision depending on our pabflity in 2009.

Fiscal Years Ended December 29, 2007 and DecemBe2806

Revenues
Change
Fiscal Fiscal Increase
2007 2006 (decrease %
(In thousands)
Revenues by Marke
DRAM $328,01¢ $272,15! $55,86¢ 20.5%
Flash 88,95¢ 58,16 30,79¢ 52.¢
SoC 45,21« 38,89¢ 6,31¢ 16.2
Total revenue $462,19. $369,21: $92,97¢ 25.2%

Revenues increased 25.2% in fiscal 2007peoed to fiscal 2006.

Our revenues for fiscal 2007 were primagignerated by sales of wafer probe cards to manuéas of DRAM devices, which accounted
for more than half of our revenue growth in fis2BD7. The increase was driven by accelerated @aljles for probe cards as a result of our
customers' continued migration to 70 nanometer sitaleeduce their cost of test and improve proditgtiand by volume production ramps
1 Gb devices. Additionally applications such as it@oRAM and graphic RAM contributed to our DRAM @&we growth. The increase in
DRAM revenues was offset by a seasonal weakneseimobile DRAM business due to decreased demanddbile and consumer
applications. In the fourth quarter, the increasBIRAM revenues was also offset in part due toyeaxkecution issues with our Harmony
architecture-based DRAM products. Approximately 7&26ur DRAM revenues for fiscal 2007 were deriemim 80 nanometer and below
technology products compared to 14% for fiscal 2006

Revenues from sales to flash memory daviaeufacturers increased mainly due to increaseadérfor our NOR flash wafer probe ca
by a significant customer whose high-volume rangulted from the growing demand for consumer apfitioa which utilize multi-chip
packages. Revenues generated from sales to flasiorpelevice manufacturers also increased for ouNRAlash wafer probe cards.
Consumer applications which utilize multi-chip pagks were a major driver for both categories @hfldevices. Semiconductors that are
integrated into multi-chip packages often beneéitrf increased wafer level testing to validate deyierformance before packaging.
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Revenues from manufacturers of SoC devitereased primarily due to the new technology nodesition for area array flip-chip
microprocessor products and existing and key custsnengagements for our TrueScale applicatiotiseimmobile communications, digital
consumer, and automotive controller markets.

Revenue by Geographic Regit

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of
2007 Revenue: 2006 Revenue!
(In thousands)
North America $ 82,08t 17.8% $109,03 29.5%
Europe 31,10¢ 6.7 25,96¢ 7.C
Japar 194,30¢ 42.C 110,76 30.C
South Kores 24,75¢ 54 25,54 7.C
Taiwan 129,93¢ 28.1 97,90: 26.5
Total revenue $462,19: 100.(% $369,21: 100.(%

Geographic revenue information is basetherlocation to which we send the customer invoiEes example, certain South Korean
customers purchase through their North Americasiglidries and accordingly, revenues derived frolassep such customers are reflected in
North America revenues. The decrease in revenulsiith America was due primarily to decreased sakged to product transitiol
combined with decreased customer demand resulimg fiew product delays. The increase in the peagenof revenues in Japan was
primarily due to increased demand from one custamex result of a major 70 nanometer and 1 GBrtgaycle. The increase in percentage of
revenues in Asia Pacific was primarily due to gtowt our business with Taiwan and South Koreanarusts and strong demand related to 70
nanometer and 1 GB transitions. Revenues in Eungpe primarily flat year over year as a percernbtd! revenue.

Gross Profit

Fiscal Fiscal
2007 2006
(In thousands)
Gross profit $246,70° $185,12¢
Gross margir 53.2% 50.1%

The increase in gross margin in fiscal 260mpared with fiscal 2006 was primarily due toh@grevenues combined with improved
factory productivity, cost reductions and lower igfes for inventory reserves which in turn improgedss margin percentage. These
improvements were partially offset by higher watyaexpense associated with the introduction ofva peduct technology and in the fourth
quarter, by lower production levels. Excess cugpoabe card inventory writdewns decreased from $17.6 million or 4.8% of rexnin fisca
2006 to $12.7 million or 2.7% of revenues in fis2@D7 due to cycle time reductions, increase itdgiand improvement in our order
fulfillment process. Excess custom inventoriesrareuncommon for us as our advanced wafer prolsaae custom designs manufactured in
low volumes and must be delivered on relativelyrslead-times, which requires us to acquire proidncmaterials and start certain production
activities based on estimated production yieldsfanecasted demand prior to or in excess of actealand for our wafer probe cards. Gross
margin for fiscal 2007 includes additional stoclséd compensation expense of $5.4 million, or 1.2%wenue, compared to, $4.3 million, or
1.2% of revenue for fiscal 2006, due to the adaptibFAS 123(R) in the first quarter of fiscal 2006
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Research and Developme

Fiscal 200"  Fiscal 200¢
(In thousands)

Research and Developme $60,951 $46,60¢
% of revenue: 13.2% 12.€%

Research and development expenses incréaststal 2007 as compared to fiscal 2006 pritgatiue to an increase in personnel, new
technology, product development related costs aaility expansion. Personnel costs increased $@libmdue to increased headcount while
expenses related to new technology and producia@went increased $6.4 million. Facilities relatedts and depreciation increased
$1.8 million due to new investment in R&D equipmant facilities expansion at our Livermore, Califie; facilities while stock-based
compensation remained fairly consistent for theesperiods. We continued the development of our gereration parallelism architecture
products, fine pitch memory and SoC products, adediMicroSpring interconnect technology and newcess technologies. We also made
incremental investments in new technologies andysts as we focus on new market opportunities.

Selling, General and Administrativ

Fiscal Fiscal
2007 2006
(In thousands)
Selling, general and administrati $92,552 $71,54(
% of revenue: 20.(% 19.4%

Selling, general and administrative experisereased for fiscal 2007 as compared to fise@62lue to increases in expenses related to
personnel costs, facilities expansion, outsidellagd other professional fees and stock-based cosapien. Personnel costs increased
$10.2 million primarily due to increased headcowhtle facilities related costs and depreciatiorréased $0.8 million for fiscal 2007. Legal
and other professional incurred for protecting iotellectual property portfolio, tax and accountseyvices, and other expenses increased
$6.7 million. In addition, stock-based compensat@pense also increased $3.3 million primarily thugcreased headcount and the one-time
modification charge of $1.4 million, incurred dugithe first quarter of fiscal 2007 resulting fronetaccelerated vesting of unvested stock
options and restricted stock units in conjunctidthythe severance agreement of our company's foRresident.

Interest and Other Income (Expense), N

Fiscal Fiscal
2007 2006
(In thousands)
Interest income (expens $22,50¢ $15,18:
% of revenue: 4.9% 4.1%
Other income (expense), r $ 528 $ 204

0.1% 0.1%

The increase in interest income was ddarger cash, cash equivalents and marketable siesuralances throughout fiscal 2007
compared to fiscal 2006 while yields remained reddy flat. Cash, cash equivalents, restricted @sthmarketable securities increased to
$572.3 million at December 29, 2007 compared toi$8lnillion at December 30, 2006. Other incomebfoth fiscal 2007 and 2006 was
mainly comprised of foreign currency gains, prirhyarelated to Japanese Yen, and other expense.
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Provision for Income Taxe!

Fiscal Fiscal
2007 2006
(In thousands)
Provision for income taxe $43,35( $25,14¢
Effective tax rate 37.3(% 30.5(%

Our effective income tax rate was 37.3%sd0al 2007 and 30.5% in fiscal 2006. The fiscad2@rovision was impacted by tax charges
related to our plan to align the structure of owrldwide affiliates with the geographic mix of aawstomers. To effect this alignment, we
initiated the first phase of our current plan teabish operations in Singapore to provide operai@nd financial services to the region. A
significant element of the new structure involMes sharing of certain expenses related to the aggievelopment of intangible property. Tax
charges to implement the new structure impactedishal 2007 effective tax rate by approximatelgefcentage points. These charges
consisted primarily of royalty prepayments assedatith the buy-in for our transfer of intellectymbperty to Singapore that will be taxed in
the U. S. and the loss of certain U.S. tax dednostielated to research and development and certtaém administration expenses. We antici
that our effective tax rate will be in the mid 30&hge in fiscal 2008 and 2009, and possibly a lowatr in future years, as we begins to realize
operational and tax efficiencies resulting fronsthlignment plan.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2008 2007 2006
(Dollars in thousands)
Working capital $576,75¢ $622,09: $517,21¢

Cash and cash equivalent and marketable sec  522,89: 570,04t 492,39

Working capital: The decrease in working capital in fiscal 2088 primarily due to a decrease in our cash, casivaents and
marketable securities balances caused by our cortspase of cash for operating activities in fis2@08, partially offset by cash provided by
investing and financing activities.

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable séms: Cash and cash equivalents consist of depadliisatt major banks, money market
funds and U. S. government securities that atithe ¢f purchase had maturities of 90 days or lessketable securities consist of U. S.
government and agency securities and municipal ddsh, cash equivalents and marketable securitiesle $4.8 million held by our
foreign subsidiaries as of December 27, 2008.

Days sales outstanding from receivable®®0, was 87 days at December 27, 2008 comparbéddbitiays at December 29, 2007. The
increase in DSO is primarily due to the increasmix of customers with longer standard payment seim addition, with the recent challenges
in the semiconductor market, a few of our customérigh are in cash preservation mode are extenuliygnents past their due dates.

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2008 2007 2006
(Dollars in thousands)

Cash (used in) provided by operating activi $(24,37() $ 84,80: $105,37:
Cash provided by (used for) investing activi  40,74:  (95,08Y) (67,337
Cash provided by financing activiti 5,95( 41,48( 214,91

Cash flows from operating activities: Net cash used in operating activities was prilsndriven by the operating loss of $80.6 million
incurred during the fiscal year ended DecembefR08. Non-cash
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charges included in net loss consisted of $32.Ranibf depreciation and amortization, $22.9 milliof stock-based compensation,

$16.3 million in reserves for excess and obsoletentory, $4.1 million in reserves for doubtful aoats and $4.4 million of asset impairment
charges. The net change in operating assets dilitits in the fiscal year ended December 27, 26085.1 million consisted primarily of an
increase in inventories and refundable income taresincrease in an accounts payable and accialglities, offset by a decrease in accounts
receivable.

Cash flows from investing activities: The cash flows provided by investing activitiediscal 2008 primarily relate to the proceedsir
the sale and maturities of a portion of our investtportfolio consisting primarily of municipal bds offset in part by the purchase of U.S.
government and agency securities. In addition, eashused for capital expenditures in support @f peoduct technology, factory capability,
and service center and information technology systpgrades.

We carefully monitor our investments to imiize risks and have not experienced other-tharpteary investment losses. Except for
experiencing declining yields, our investment paitf has not been negatively impacted by the reeeahomic turmoil in the credit markets.

Cash flows from financing activities: The cash flows provided by financing activitiediscal 2008 were primarily attributable to net
proceeds from the exercise of stock options andhases under our 2002 Employee Stock Purchased?|BISPP. Tax benefits related to the
exercise of stock options during the fiscal yeateghDecember 27, 2008 were significantly lower tteanbenefits for the fiscal year ended
December 29, 2007 due to the decrease in stocropkercises.

Our available cash, cash equivalents armtteteble securities declined in each quarter @bfi2008. Given the uncertainty in the global
economy and the downturn in the semiconductor imgusupled with the decrease in demand for oudpets, we are focusing on improving
our operating efficiency to achieve operating déslv break even. Our actions have included openafiexpense reduction initiatives, re-
timing or eliminating certain capital spending aedearch and development projects and re-neggfiltilger payment terms with our vendors.
We believe that we will be able to satisfy our wingkcapital requirements for the next twelve montfith the liquidity provided by our
existing cash, cash equivalents and marketableitesuWe are also considering to establish mastufang and technology partnerships, or to
seek short- and longgrm debt obligations, or to obtain new financiagilities which may not be available on terms falabe to us or at all. O
future capital requirements may vary materiallyrfrthose now planned. However, if we are unsucckssfmproving our operating efficienc
reducing our cash outlays or increasing our avkglabsh through financing, our cash, cash equitakemd marketable securities will further
decline in the first quarter of fiscal 2009.

The following table describes our commitihseto settle contractual obligations in cash aBetember 27, 2008:

Payments Due In Fiscal Year:
2009 201(-2011 2012-201:  After 2013 Total
(In thousands)

Operating lease $5,17¢ $ 8,55t $ 3,63C $ 5,05( $22,41¢
Inventory purchase obligatiol 2,51¢ — — — 2,51¢
Total $7,69¢ $8,55: ¢ 3,63C $ 5050( $24,93:

The table above excludes our liability dimrecognized tax benefits, which totaled $16.7iarilas of December 27, 2008 and are class
as deferred and other logrm tax liabilities on our consolidated balanceetk. As of December 27, 2008, the settlement ghdoioour incom:
tax liabilities cannot be determined; howeversihot expected to be due within the next twelve timan
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As part of our ongoing business, we dopagsticipate in transactions that generate relakigpsswith unconsolidated entities or financial
partnerships, such as entities often referred &irastured finance or special purpose entitieschwivould have been established for the
purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangetsier other contractually narrow or limited pureesAs of December 27, 2008 we were not
involved in any such off-balance sheet arrangements

Indemnification Agreements

We from time to time in the ordinary coutdeour business enter into contractual arrangesneith third parties that include
indemnification obligations. Under these contractueangements, we have agreed to defend, inderaniyor hold the third party harmless
from and against certain liabilities. These arrangets include indemnities in favor of our customierthe event that our wafer probe cards
infringe a third party's intellectual property amar lessors in connection with facility for leaskihbabilities that we may cause. In addition, we
have entered into indemnification agreements withdirectors and certain of our officers, and oylatvs contain indemnification obligations
in favor of our directors, officers and agents. 3hendemnity arrangements may limit the type ofdlaém, the total amount that we can be
required to pay in connection with the indemnifiocatobligation and the time within which an indefizdation claim can be made. The duration
of the indemnification obligation may vary, and foost arrangements, survives the agreement terrisandefinite. It is not possible to
determine or reasonably estimate the maximum patearhount of future payments under these indewetifon obligations due to the varying
terms of such obligations, the history of priorénthification claims, the unique facts and circumesés involved in each particular contractual
arrangement and in each potential future claimrfdemnification, and the contingency of any pot@rtabilities upon the occurrence of events
that are not reasonably determinable. We have ambhy requests for indemnification under thesengements. We have not recorded any
liabilities for these indemnification arrangemeotsour condensed consolidated balance sheet asogfiber 29, 2007.

We believe that substantially all of oudémnities and commitments provide for limitatiomstbe maximum potential future payments
could be obligated to make. However, we are untbéstimate the maximum amount of liability relatedur indemnities and commitments
because such liabilities are contingent upon tleiwence of events which are not reasonably detedohe. Management believes that any
liability for these indemnities and commitments Webnot be material to our accompanying consolidéiteghcial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Please refer to the discussion of our reaecounting pronouncements in NoteS2immary of Significant Accounting Policies of thetBi
to the Consolidated Financial Statements underIRadigm 8 in this Form 10-K.

Iltem 7A: Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MarkRisk

Foreign Currency Exchange RiskWe conduct certain operations in foreign cucies. We enter into currency forward exchange
contracts to hedge a portion, but not all, of éxgsforeign currency denominated amounts. Gainslesgks on these contracts are generally
recognized in income. Because the effect of movésnarcurrency exchange rates on the currency fahwachange contracts generally offs
the related effect on the underlying items beindgeel, these financial instruments are not expeotedbject us to risks that would otherwise
result from changes in currency exchange ratesddeot use derivative financial instruments foding or speculative purposes. The
Company recognized net gain of $0.8 million for tiseal year ended December 27, 2008, from thedkteon in
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foreign exchange rates and the valuation of theggd contracts in our financial statements undesraxpense.

Interest Rate Sensitivity. Our exposure to market risk for changes inregerates relates primarily to our investmentfpdd. We invest
in a number of securities including U.S. agencydist notes, municipal bonds and notes and monekaihfunds. We attempt to ensure the
safety and preservation of our invested principadf by limiting default risk, market risk and ne@stment risk. We mitigate default risk by
investing in high grade investment securities. Biiqy, we limit the amount of credit exposure toissuer, except U.S. Treasuries and U.S.
agencies. We do not use interest rate derivatsteliments to manage interest rate exposures needovest for trading or speculative
purposes. The fair market value of our fixed raeusities may be adversely impacted by increasegénest rates while income earned on
floating rate securities may decline as a resuttagfreases in interest rates. If overall interatgtsrhad fallen by 10% in fiscal 2007, our reported
interest income would have declined approximatdl$nillion, assuming consistent investment levels.

Item 8: Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements amplementary data of FormFactor required by tleisitire included in the section entitled
"Consolidated Financial Statements" of this AnriReport on Form 10-K. See Item 15(a)(1) for a lisbar consolidated financial statements.

Item 9: Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéenting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A:  Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation wf Ghief Executive Officer and Chief Financial @#r, evaluated the effectiveness of the
design and operation of our "disclosure control$ procedures” as defined in the Securities Exché&uageas amended ("Exchange Act")
Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) as of December 278 RDBonnection with the filing of this Annual Repon Form 10-K. Based on that
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chiafdncial Officer concluded that, as of DecemberZ0iQ8, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective to ensure that infornnatie are required to disclose in reports that Yeedii submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported witaitime periods specified in rules and formshef 8EC and is accumulated and
communicated to our management as appropriatéoi ilmely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our company's financial statements in Baam 10-K fairly present, in all material respedts financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of our company as of and for thépsrmpresented in accordance with generally acdegteounting principles in the United
States.

58




Table of Contents
Management's Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

Our management is responsible for estahlisand maintaining adequate internal control dwemcial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act for company. Our management, with the participatioawfChief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of tffeaiveness of our internal control over finanai@porting as of December 27, 2008. This
evaluation was based on the framework establishedernal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO%¥eBaon our assessment under the framewdihtémnal Control—Integrated
Framework, our management concluded that our internal cbotrer financial reporting was effective as of Deateer 27, 2008.

The effectiveness of our internal contre¢iofinancial reporting as of December 27, 2008&en audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent regismrblic accounting firm, as stated in their répdrich appears in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K

Material Weakness Previously Identifi

A material weakness is a deficiency, oombination of deficiencies, in internal control o¥imancial reporting, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstateroétite company's annual or interim financial stagats will not be prevented or detected on a
timely basis.

The following material weakness in interoahtrol over financial reporting existed as of Biaber 29, 2007. We did not maintain
effective controls over the valuation of inventaryd the related cost of revenues accounts. Spabjifieve did not maintain effective controls
to ensure that the estimation process to valueniovg complied with our company's accounting pelciThis control deficiency resulted in the
restatement of our annual and interim financiaiesteents for 2006 and interim financial statemeatgHe first and second quarters of 2007 and
audit adjustments to our annual financial statesétfiscal 2007. Additionally, this control deifmcy could result in a misstatement of the
inventory and cost of revenues accounts that widdlt in a material misstatement of our finanstatements that would not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis.

Management's Remediation of the Material Weak

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008&magement completed the remedial actions deschiéledv. The remediation plan addressed the
design of controls and revision of procedures rdiggrinventory valuation and included:

. Analysis of changes in the level of excess and lebsinventory by categor

. Separate re-performance of excess and obsoletetoryecalculation,

. Hiring personnel with requisite experience and ing ongoing training and supervision, and

. Implementation and independent testing of new sar@vfunctionality for valuing inventory using oumdncial system

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirng

Our management, including our Chief Exeaufficer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluatad internal control over financial
reporting" as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-lts(fdetermine whether any changes in our intezaatrol over financial reporting occurred
during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 that metigr affected, or are reasonably likely to mathyiaffect, our internal control over financial
reporting. Based on that evaluation, changes duhiedourth quarter of fiscal 2008 are describeavalunder "Management's Remediation of
the Material Weakness."
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Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Control systems, no matter how well desijaed operated, can provide only reasonable, remlate, assurance that the control system
objectives are being met. Further, the design gfcamtrol systems must reflect the fact that ttegeeresource constraints, and the benefits
controls must be considered relative to their c@¢sause of the inherent limitations in all cohtigstems, no evaluation of controls can
provide absolute assurance that all control isamésinstances of fraud, if any, within our compaaye been detected. These inherent
limitations include the realities that judgmentglgcision making can be faulty and that breakdosamsoccur because of simple error or
mistake. Control systems can also be circumvenyatidindividual acts of some persons, by collugsibtwo or more people, or by
management override of the controls. The desigangfsystem of controls is based, in part, on aedasumptions about the likelihood of fu
events, and there can be no assurance that amgndedli succeed in achieving its stated goals uradlgpotential future conditions. Over time,
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions or deterioration in the degree of chamge with policies or procedures.

CEO and CFO Certifications

We have attached as exhibits to this FddAK The certifications of our Chief Executive Officand Chief Financial Officer, which are
required in accordance with the Exchange Act. Wdememend that this Item 9A be read in conjunctiothuilie certifications for a more
complete understanding of the subject matter pteden

Iltem 9B: Other Information
None.
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PART Il
Iltem 10: Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govence

Information concerning our board of direstacommittees and directors, including our audihmittee and audit committee financial
expert, appears in our Proxy Statement, underetigos entitled "Proposal No. 1Election of Directors”. Information regarding theminatior
and election of our company's Class Ill directarsp are James A. Prestridge, and Harvey A. Wagthsn,appears under the section entitled
"Proposal No. 1—Election of Directors" in our Pra8tatement. The information in such portions ofRnexy Statement is incorporated in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference.

For information with respect to our direstand executive officers, see Part |, ltem 1 f Annual Report on Form 10-K under the
section entitled "Directors and Executive Officers"

Information concerning Section 16(a) betiafiownership reporting compliance appears inRnaxy Statement under the section entitled
"Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Coampde”. The information in such portion of the Br@®tatement is incorporated in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference.

We have adopted a Statement of Corporatke ©@6Business Conduct that applies to all diretofficers and employees of FormFactor
and a Statement of Financial Code of Ethics thpti@@to our chief executive officer, chief finaakofficer, and other employees in our fina
department. Information concerning these codesappe our Proxy Statement under the section edtitProposal No. 1—Election of
Directors—Corporate Codes". The information in spoftion of the Proxy Statement is incorporatethia Annual Report on Form 10-K by
reference.

ltem 11: Executive Compensation

Information concerning executive officengmensation and related information appears in ooxyPStatement under the section entitled
"Compensation Discussion and Analysis", "Execu@mpensation and Related Information", "Reporhef Compensation Committee" and
"Proposal No. 1—Election of Directors—Compensat@ammittee Interlocks and Insider Participation‘fohmation concerning director
compensation and related information appears irPooxy Statement under the section entitled "Pralplds. 1—Election of Directors”. The
information in such portions of the Proxy Statemisnbcorporated in this Annual Report on Form 1@Kreference.

Item 12:  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners amtanagement and Related Stockholder Matters

Information concerning the security owngssf certain beneficial owners and managementrataded stockholder matters appears in our
Proxy Statement under the section entitled "Sec@inership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Mamaget and Related Stockholder
Matters". The information in such portion of theo®y Statement is incorporated in this Annual ReparForm 10-K by reference.

Information concerning our equity compeiwaplans appears in our Proxy Statement undesebgon entitled "Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Relateckholder Matters-Equity Compensation Plans". The information in spoftion of
the Proxy Statement is incorporated in this AnRgbort on Form 10-K by reference.

Item 13: Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, aditector Independence

Information concerning certain relationshgnd related transactions, including our relatrdgn transactions policy appears in our Proxy
Statement under the section entitled "Certain felahips
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and Related Transactions". The information in guattion of the Proxy Statement is incorporatechis Annual Report on Form 10-K by
reference.

Information concerning director independeappears in our Proxy Statement under the seetititted "Proposal No. 1—Election of
Directors”. The information in such portion of tReoxy Statement is incorporated in this Annual Repo Form 10-K by reference.

Item 14: Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information concerning principal accountfiegs and services and the audit committee's greagl policies and procedures appears in
our Proxy Statement under the section entitledp&sal No. 2—Ratification of Selection of Indepentdeegistered Public Accounting Firm".
The information in such portion of the Proxy Stagetis incorporated in this Annual Report on Fo®rKlby reference.
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PART IV

Iltem 15: Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(@  The following documents are filed as part of thisndal Report on Form -K:

(1) Consolidated Financial Statemer
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfimm
Consolidated Balance She:
Consolidated Statements of Operati
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Ec
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flc
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme
(2) Exhibits:
The exhibits listed in the accompanying Index tdiis are filed or incorporated by reference as phthis Annual Report on Form -

K.

Exhibit
Number

(b) Exhibits: The following exhibits are filed as paftthis Annual Report on Form -K:

Exhibit Description

21.01
23.01
24.01
31.01

31.02

List of Registrant's subsidiarie

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.

Power of Attorney (included in the signature pafjthis Form 1-K).

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantl5 U.S.C. Section 7241, as adopted pursuadécttion 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant15 U.S.C. Section 7241, as adopted pursuantdtioBe302 of the Sarbar-Oxley
Act of 2002.

32.01* Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Cliiginancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Secti@bQ, as adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbal- Oxley Act of 2002

This exhibit shall not be deemed "“filed" for purpe®f Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Adi9&4 or otherwise subject to the
liabilities of that section, nor shall it be deemdorporated by reference in any filing under 8eeurities Act of 1933 or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, whether made before or #fiedate hereof and irrespective of any generalrparation language in any filings
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized, in the City of Livermore, StateGdlifornia, on the 27th day of February
2009.

FORMFACTOR, INC.

By: /sl JEAN B. VERNET

Jean B. vernet
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accoumty Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW BY ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, tleaich of the undersigned whose signature appelans benstitutes and appoir
Jean B. Vernet and Stuart L. Merkadeau, and eattreaf, the undersigned's true and lawful attornieyfact and agents with full power of
substitution, for the undersigned and in the urigeexl's name, place and stead, in any and all tagsdo sign any and all amendments to this
Annual Report on Form 1K-and any other documents in connection therewitld, to file the same, with all exhibits theretothithe Securitie
and Exchange Commission, granting unto said atysrirefact and agents, and each of them, full poavet authority to do and perform each
and every act requisite and necessary to be daher@gipect to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, uahg amendments, as fully to all intents
and purposes as the undersigned might or could gerison, hereby ratifying and confirming all teatd attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his or
their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully dacause to be done by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersighad executed this Power of Attorney as of the ihatieated below.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seéeariixchange Act of 1934, this report has beeresidrelow by the following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Signature Title Date
Principal Executive Officer and Directc

/sl MARIO RUSCEV

Chief Executive Officer and Director February 27, 20(
Dr. Mario Rusce\

Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accourgiffficer:

/s/ JEAN B. VERNET

Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice PresidentFebruary 27, 20(
Jean B. Verne
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Signature
Additional Directors:

/s/ IGOR Y. KHANDROS

Dr. Igor Y. Khandros

/s/ LOTHAR MAIER

Lothar Maier

/sl HOMA BAHRAMI

Homa Bahram

/sl THOMAS J. CAMPBELL

Dr. Thomas J. Campbe

/sl HARVEY A. WAGNER

Harvey A. Wagne

/s/ G. CARL EVERETT, JR.

G. Carl Everett, Ji

/sl JAMES A. PRESTRIDGE

James A. Prestridc

Title Date

Executive Chairman of the Board February 27, 20(

Director February 27, 20(
Director February 27, 20(
Director February 27, 20(
Director February 27, 20(
Director February 27, 20(
Director February 27, 20(
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Foawtbr, Inc:

In our opinion, the accompanying consobdabalance sheets and the related consolidatedrstats of income, stockholders' equity, and
cash flows present fairly, in all material respetite financial position of FormFactor, Inc. arglstibsidiaries at December 27, 2008 and
December 29, 2007 and the results of their operatimd their cash flows for each of the three yigaiise period ended December 27, 2008 in
conformity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States of America. Also in opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control dieancial reporting as of December 27, 2008, basedriteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissic®$0). The Company's
management is responsible for these financialretatés, for maintaining effective internal contreko financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting, included in ManagemeR&port on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting appearing under Item 9A of this Annuap&e on Form 10 K. Our responsibility is to exprepéions on these financial statements
and on the Company's internal control over findneporting based on our integrated audits. We gotetl our audits in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Ovetdiglard (United States). Those standards requaevte plan and perform the audits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether thecfalatatements are free of material misstatemeahiehether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all materidpects. Our audits of the financial statememsidied examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the ishstatements, assessing the accounting prirscied and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financéestent presentation. Our audit of internal cordx@r financial reporting included obtaini
an understanding of internal control over financédorting, assessing the risk that a material wes exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internalrobbtased on the assessed risk. Our audits aldadient performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances. Weyd¢hat our audits provide a reasonable basisdo opinions.

A company's internal control over finanaiborting is a process designed to provide redderassurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures thakefifain to the maintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiiansactions and dispositions of the assetseoédmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgegaparation of financial statements in accor@awih generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expendituree®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readslaassurance regarding prevention or timely dietecf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could hawaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, inedroontrol over financial reporting may not preventetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

/s PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
San Jose, California
February 26, 2009
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FORMFACTOR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 27, December 29,

2008 2007
(In thousands, except share and
per
share data)
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 337,92 $ 315,23:
Marketable securitie 184,96¢ 254,81
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubdfttounts of $4,220 at December 27, 2008 and $
December 29, 2007, respectivi 34,127 69,48¢
Inventories 18,78¢ 29,30¢
Deferred tax asse 23,03¢ 17,99¢
Refundable income taxi 29,41: 2,04:
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 14,70 13,46
Total current asse 642,96 702,34(
Restricted cas 68C 2,25(
Property and equipment, r 113,81 130,88:
Deferred tax asse 20,58( 10,03¢
Other asset 7,674 9,812
Total asset $ 785,71( $ 855,32:

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl $ 3321+ $ 42,89
Accrued liabilities 25,69: 30,02¢
Income taxes payab 1,90¢ 1,32¢
Deferred revenu 4.94¢ 5,63t
Deferred ren 452 462

Total current liabilities 66,20¢ 80,247
Long-term income taxes payak 7,732 12,24¢
Deferred rent and other liabilitie 5,70 5,871

Total liabilities 79,64¢ 98,37:

Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholders' equit
Preferred stock, $0.001 par vali
10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issuedutstdinding at December 27, 2008 and December29,, 2
respectively — —
Common stock, $0.001 par valt
250,000,000 shares authorized; 49,062,308 and 22564 shares issued and outstanding at Decemb20Q8,

and December 29, 2007, respectiv 49 49
Additional paic-in capital 602,29! 573,55:
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 1,922 92¢
Retained earning 101,79¢ 182,41¢

Total stockholders' equi 706,06¢ 756,95(
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $ 78571 $ 855,32

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Fiscal Years Ended

December 27  December 2¢

December 3C

2008 2007 2006
(In thousands, except per share date

Revenue: $ 210,18¢ $ 462,19: $ 369,21!
Cost of revenue 173,92¢ 215,48 184,08°
Gross profit 36,26: 246,70° 185,12¢
Operating expense

Research and developmt 65,50¢ 60,95 46,60¢

Selling, general and administrati 95,20¢ 92,55: 71,54(

Restructuring 9,157 — —

Impairment of lon-lived asset: 4,40( — —

Total operating expens: 174,27: 153,508 118,14¢

Operating (loss) incom (138,01) 93,20¢ 66,97¢
Interest incomt 12,44¢ 22,50¢ 15,18¢
Other income (expense), r 652 52¢ 204
(Loss) income before income tax (124,917 116,24( 82,36
(Benefit from) provision for income tax (44,29)) 43,35( 25,14¢
Net (loss) incomt $ (80,62) $ 72,89 $ 57,217
Net (loss) income per shal

Basic $ (165 $ 152 $ 1.27

Diluted $ (165 $ 147 $ 1.21
Weightec-average number of shares used in per share caboig:

Basic 48,90¢ 48,04+ 45,17:

Diluted 48,90¢ 49,55} 47,19:

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Balances, December 31, 2C

Issuance of common stock in connection with follc
on public offering, net of issuance co

Issuance of common stock pursuant to exercise o
options for casl

Issuance of common stock pursuant to vesting of
restricted stock unit

Issuance of common stock under the Employee S
Purchase Pla

Tax benefit from exercise of common stock opti

Reclassification of unamortized stock-based
compensation upon adoption of SFAS 122

Stocl-based compensatic
Components of other comprehensive inco
Unrealized gain on marketable securities, netx
Translation adjustmen

Net income

Comprehensive incorr

Balances, December 30, 2C

Issuance of common stock pursuant to exercise o
options for casl

Issuance of common stock pursuant to vesting of
restricted stock unit

Issuance of common stock under the Employee S
Purchase Pla

Tax benefit from exercise of common stock opti

Stocl-based compensatic
Components of other comprehensive inco
Unrealized gain on marketable securities, netx
Translation adjustmen

Net income

Comprehensive incor

Balances, December 29, 2C

Issuance of common stock pursuant to exercise o
options for casl

Issuance of common stock pursuant to vesting of
restricted stock unit

Issuance of common stock under the Employee S
Purchase Pla

Tax benefit from exercise of common stock opti

Stocl-based compensatic
Components of other comprehensive inco
Unrealized gain on marketable securities, netx
Translation adjustmen

Net loss

Comprehensive incorr
Balances, December 27, 2C

Common Stock  Additonal Paid-in  Deferred Stock-based Accumulated Other Retained
Shares  Amount Capital Compensation Comprehensive Income (Loss)  Earnings Total
(In thousands, except per share data)

40,236,68 $ 4C $ 268,29: $ (2,49) $ (359 $ 52,317 $317,78¢
5,000,001 5 181,86( — — — 181,86!
1,396,75 2 15,98:¢ — — — 15,98t

18,10¢ — 6C — — — 60
209,78 — 4,48¢ — — — 4,48¢
— — 14,48: — — — 14,48]

— — (2,495 2,49t — — —

— — 22,03¢ — — — 22,03«

— — — — 53 — 53

— — — — 62 — 62

— — — — — 57,217 57,217
57,33:

46,861,33 47 504,70¢ — (244) 109,52¢ 614,04:

1,498,84 2 26,99¢ — — —  27,00(

28,82« — — — — — —
253,25! — 6,56 — — — 6,56¢
— — 9,191 — — — 9,191

— — 26,09: — — — 26,09

_ _ — — 1,11¢ — 1,11«

— — — — 59 — 59

— — — — — 72,89(  72,89(

74,06:

48,642,25 48 573,55: — 92¢ 182,41¢ 756,95(
113,20( — 571 — — — 571
20,50: — — — — — —
286,34¢ — 5,10¢ — — — 5,10¢
— — 52¢ — — — 52¢

— — 22,53: — — — 22,531

— — — — 24€ — 24¢

— — — — 748 — 745

— — — — — (80,627) (80,62:)
(79,62%)

49,062,30 48 $ 602,29! $ — 3 1,92 $ 101,79¢ $706,06:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbessolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27 December 2¢ December 3C

2008 2007 2006
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ (80,62) $ 72,89( $ 57,217
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigesl by operating activitie
Depreciation and amortizatic 32,18: 26,80¢ 22,09:
Stoclk-based compensation expel 22,86¢ 25,92( 21,61¢
Deferred income benefi (15,28)) (9,172) (5,604
Excess tax benefits from equity based compensatams (273) (7,917 (12,519
Provision for doubtful accounts receiva 4,14 — —
Provision for excess and obsolete inventa 16,26¢ 12,69¢ 17,59¢
Loss on disposal of property and equipn 59¢ 31z 377
Non-cash restructurin 98C — —
Impairment of lon-lived asset: 4,40( — —
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivabl 31,20¢ (14,91) (10,59¢
Inventories (6,052 (22,909 (27,706
Prepaids and other current as: (174 (2,63%) (5,897
Refundable income taxi (27,379 — —
Other asset 2,30 (8,835 (570
Accounts payabl (2,596 5,00¢ 7,64¢
Accrued liabilities (3,539 (5,259 10,917
Income tax payabl (3,396 14,61: 15,05:
Deferred ren (425) (45) 2,04¢
Deferred revenue (591) (1,762) 3,68¢
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activi (24,370 84,80: 105,37
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipme (30,245 (48,65¢) (38,136
Purchases of marketable securi (273,92) (225,969 (278,61)
Proceeds from maturities of marketable secur 56,01¢ 41,32t 66,61*
Proceeds from sales of marketable secur 287,33: 138,21( 182,80:
Release of restricted ca 1,57( — —
Net cash provided by (used) in investing activi 40,74 (95,085 (67,337
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuances of common stock, net whigse cost 5,67¢ 33,56: 202,39¢
Excess tax benefits from equity based compensptans 271 7,91 12,51t
Net cash provided by financing activiti 5,95( 41,48( 214,91
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cashaénts 371 (96) 4
Net increase in cash and cash equival 22,69« 31,10: 252,91
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of 315,23 284,13 31,217
Cash and cash equivalents, end of \ $ 337,92¢ $ 315,23 $ 284,13:
Non-cash financing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment through aceqayable and accrue $ 9,72( $ 17,39: 3,82
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Income taxes paid (refunde $ (1,230 $ 41,237 $ 17,63(

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
Note 1—Formation and Business of the Company:

FormFactor, Inc., which was incorporate®alaware on April 15, 1993 (the "Company"), desigievelops, manufactures, sells and
supports precision, high performance advanced serdicctor wafer probe cards. The Company is based/@rmore, California, home to its
corporate offices, research and development, amdifaeturing locations. The Company has facilitie&Jnited States, Japan, Germany,
Taiwan, Italy, South Korea, Singapore and the Resitepublic of China.

Fiscal Year

Our fiscal year ends on the last Saturdayecember. The fiscal years ended on Decemb&@®B, December 29, 2007, and
December 30, 2006, respectively, consisted of 52kaie

Reclassifications
Certain prior period balances have beelassified to conform to the current period preséora
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:
Basis of Consolidation and Foreign Currency Trangian

The consolidated financial statements idelthe accounts of the Company and its wholly owswdbidiaries. All material intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Translation gains and losses resulting fthenprocess of remeasuring into the United Staftédsnerica dollar, the foreign currency
financial statements of the Company's wholly owselsidiaries, for which the United States of Amedollar is the functional currency, are
included in operations. We translate assets abditias of foreign subsidiaries, whose functiooatrency is their local currency, at exchange
rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Wel&t@nevenue and expenses at the monthly averadpege rates. We include accumulated net
translation adjustments in stockholders' equitg asmponent of accumulated other comprehensiveriaco

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financiateaments in conformity with generally acceptedoaicting principles in the United States of
America ("GAAP") requires management to make edeésand assumptions that affect the reported amaifirassets and liabilities, the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdate of the financial statements, and the teg@mounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Actual results could diffesrh those estimates. Estimates may change as fiesmnition is obtained. Significant items
that are subject to such estimates include thesédire of revenue elements, fair value of marketalelurities, allowance for doubtful accounts,
reserves for product warranty, valuation of obsoletd slow moving inventory, valuation and recagnibf stock-based compensation,
provision for income taxes and related deferredatssets, valuation and tax liabilities and accrt@l®ther liabilities. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Foreign Exchange Management

The Company transacts business in variogdn currencies, primarily the Japanese Yen.Gtmpany enters into forward foreign
exchange contracts in an effort to mitigate thksresssociated
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT (Continue d)
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies(Continued)

with currency fluctuations on certain foreign cuncg balance sheet exposures. Gains and lossetirggtdm the impact of currency exchange
rate movements on forward foreign exchange corgtidesignated to offset certain foreign currencaihed sheet exposures and backlog are
recognized as other income (expense), net in tbenaganying consolidated statements of operatiotiseiperiod in which the exchange rates
change. These gains and losses are intended iallgastfset the foreign currency exchange gaind Ersses on the underlying exposures being
hedged. The Company does not use derivative finhimgtruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Net foreign currency realized gains were8$tillion and $58,000 for fiscal 2008, fiscal 20@&spectively. Realized net foreign currency
loss was $524,000 for fiscal 2006.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquidéstments with original or remaining maturities fufte months or less, at the date of purchase,
to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivatesitgle money market and deposit accounts.

Marketable Securities

The Company classifies its marketable debtirities as "available-for-sale". All marketabéeurities represent the investment of funds
available for current operations, notwithstandingitt contractual maturities. Such marketable séegrare recorded at fair value and unreal
gains and losses are recorded to accumulated athgsrehensive income (loss) until realized. At Deber 27, 2008, the Company's net
unrealized gains on marketable securities were $illbn. Realized gains and losses on sale ofath securities are reported in earnings,
computed using the specific identification cost moeit

The Company's fair value determinationif®marketable securities is based either on quotieés for such security or an assessment of
an investment's value based on the creditworthiaedsnterest yield to maturity of the individualksirity using information provided from
commercial financial pricing services.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment

We consider a number of factors in detemngirother-than-temporary impairment. An indicatbimpairment for our marketable debt
securities is a non-recoverable decline in markieefbelow the amount recorded for that investm@éfe.also consider factors such as our
investment horizon, the length of time and the mixte which market value has been less than dostgasons for the decline in market price,
whether industry-wide or issuer-specific, the issutnancial condition, capital strength and n&am prospects, as well as its ability to make
timely future payments, and any changes in crediihgs and any potential actions.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of certain of the Camps financial instruments, including cash andeaguivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable, accrued compensation and other accruatities, approximate fair value because of thaimrs maturities. Estimates of fair value of
fixed-income securities are based on quoted markets from active markets or third party, markasdxd pricing
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT (Continue d)
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies(Continued)

sources which the company believes to be relililese estimates represent the third parties' gaitiddpinion as to what a buyer in the
marketplace would pay for a security in a curree s

Restricted Cash

Under the terms of one of its facility leasthe Company provides security to the landlortthé form of letters of credit. As of
December 27, 2008 and December 29, 2007, restrietgtd includes $680,228 and $2,250,000, respegidiéétters of credit secured by a
certificate of deposit.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of §pshcipally standard cost which approximates aktwst on a first-in, first-out basis) or market
value. The provision for potentially excess andobéte inventory is made based on management'sasalfyinventory levels and forecasted
future sales. Once the value is adjusted, ther@igiost of the Company's inventory less the rdlateentory write-down represents the new
cost basis of such products. Reversal of these watvns is recognized only when the related inugritas been scrapped or sold.

The Company designs, manufactures andaéliby custom product into a market that has badrject to cyclicality and significant
demand fluctuations. Probe cards are complex ptedagstom to a specific chip design and have tddhigered on short lead-times. Probe
cards are manufactured in low volumes; therefoenmal purchases are often subject to minimumimge order quantities in excess of the
actual demand. It is not uncommon for the Compargcuire production materials and start certaipetion activities based on estimated
production yields and forecasted demand prior tm @xcess of actual demand for the Company's wafdye cards. These factors make
inventory valuation adjustments part of the Comfmngrmal recurring cost of revenue. Aggregateritwg write downs were $16.3 million,
$12.7 million and $17.6 million for the fiscal ysagnded December 27, 2008, December 29, 2007, acehitber 30, 2006, respectively. The
Company retains a portion of the excess inventatil the customer's design is discontinued. Theimgry may be used to satisfy customer
warranty demand.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at esstdccumulated depreciation and amortization. &&ion is provided on a straight-line
method over the following estimated useful liveshaf assets, 1 to 20 years for building and impreesgs, 5 to 7 years for machinery and
equipment, 3 to 5 years for computer equipmentsarfivare and 5 years for furniture and fixturesasdehold improvements are amortized ¢
their estimated useful lives or the term of thated lease, whichever is less. Upon sale or re¢éintiof assets, the cost and related accumulatec
depreciation or amortization, are removed fromithkance sheet and the resulting gain or loss lisotefl in operations.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Ass¢o be Disposed of

The Company accounts for impairment of iingd assets in accordance with Statement of Kiahccounting Standards No. 144,
"Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lohgred Assets" ("SFAS No. 144"). SFAS No. 144 regsithat long-lived assets be
reviewed for impairment whenever events or chamgescumstances indicate that the carrying amafiiasin asset may not be
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recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be hettumed is measured by comparing the carrying anafient asset to estimated undiscounted
future net cash flows expected to be generatetidpsset. If the carrying amount of the asset ebeciée estimated future cash flows, an
impairment charge is recognized in the amount bigkthe carrying amount of the asset exceeds ithgdhue of the asset.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Other Risks and thrtainties

The Company maintains its cash and casivaeuts in accounts with four major financial itgtions in the United States of America and
in countries where subsidiaries operate. Depasitisése banks may exceed the amounts of insuraoeiled on such deposits. To date, the
Company has not experienced any losses on its ilepdsash and cash equivalents. Carrying amaafntertain of the Company's financial
instruments including cash and cash equivalentsuads receivable and accounts payable approxirnaatgdlue due to their short maturities.

The Company markets and sells its prodiactésnarrow base of customers and generally doequire collateral. In fiscal 2008, three
customers accounted for 11%, 13%, and 28% of reagenin fiscal 2007, four customers accounted f66,102%, 14% and 26% of revenues
fiscal 2006, three customers accounted for appratdéim 12%, 13%, and 23% of revenues. At DecembgR@0J8, three customers accounted
for approximately 11%, 21% and 26% of accountsivatde.

At December 29, 2007, three customers atedufor approximately12% 13%, 19% and 21% of aototeceivable. The Company
applied a threshold of 10% to disclose such custenidhe Company maintains an allowance for doulatfigbunts potentially uncollectible
accounts receivable based on its assessment obliketibility of accounts receivable. The compaayiews the allowance by considering
factors such as credit quality, age of the accorgusivable balances, and current economic comditibat may affect a customer's ability to

pay.

The Company operates in the intensely cdithpesemiconductor industry, primarily the dynamandom access memory, or DRAM
market, which has been characterized by price @npsapid technological change, short product tfglical market patterns and heightened
foreign and domestic competition. Significant tezlogical changes in the industry could affect opegcaresults adversely.

Certain components that meet the Compaagsirements are available only from a limited nemdf suppliers. The rapid rate of
technological change and the necessity of devejpaid manufacturing products with short lifecyatesy intensify these risks. The inability
obtain components as required, or to develop atem sources, if and as required in the futurejdoesult in delays or reductions in product
shipments, which in turn could have a material astveffect on the Company's business, financiadlitiom, results of operations or cash flo

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue in accordance witff 8tacounting Bulletin No. 104, "Revenue Recognitjband all related interpretations.
Revenue is recognized when all of the followindesia have been met:

. When persuasive evidence of an arrangement egistgracts and customer purchase orders are ggnesait! to determine tt
existence of an arrangement.
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. Delivery has occurred. Shipping documents and cust@cceptance, when applicable, are used to vaelfyery.

. The fee is fixed or determinable. We assess whéflecfiee is fixed or determinable based on the gayrterms associated wi
the transaction and whether the sales price isstify) refund or adjustment.

. Collectibility is reasonably assured. We assededibility based primarily on the creditworthinesisthe customer &
determined by credit checks and analysis, as wdl@ customer's payment history.

In instances where final acceptance optioeluct, system, or solution is specified by thetomer, revenue is deferred until all acceptance
criteria have been met.

In multiple element arrangements, the Camgpetermines whether there is more than one digit@unting. To the extent that the
deliverables are separable into multiple unitsaaioainting, the Company then allocates the totabfesuch arrangements to the individual
of accounting based on relative fair value of imdiixal elements.

The Company offers product maintenancerapéir arrangements to its customers. Amounts i €ustomers under these arrangen
are initially recorded as deferred revenues. The tge recognized as revenue on a straight-lirie basr the service period and related costs
are recorded as incurred.

Revenues from the licensing of the Compadgsign and manufacturing technology, which haenbnsignificant to date, are recognized
over the term of the license agreement or whesitir@ficant contractual obligations have been fiafi.

Warranty Accrual

The Company offers warranties on certaodpcts and records a liability for the estimateiifis costs associated with warranty claims,
which is based upon historical experience and tmgany's estimate of the level of future costs. ffay costs are reflected in the statement
of operations as a cost of revenues. A reconaliatif the changes in the Company's warranty lighisi as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Endec
December 27  December 3C

2008 2007
Warranty accrui-beginning balanc $ 138 % 77¢
Reserve for warranties issued during the 3,98¢ 4,17(
Settlements made during the per (4,279 (3,56%)
Warranty accrui-ending balanc $ 109 $ 1,38

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expassadurred and consist primarily of personnets;adevelopment materials and other related
costs.
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

A majority of the Company's trade receiestdre derived from sales to large multinationalisenductor manufacturers throughout the
world. In order to monitor potential credit losseg perform ongoing credit evaluations of our castes' financial condition. An allowance for
doubtful accounts is maintained for probable crkdises based upon our assessment of the expetietibility of all accounts receivable.
The allowance for doubtful accounts is reviewedauarterly basis to assess the adequacy of thealce. We take into consideration (1) .
circumstances of which we are aware of a custormatslity to meet its financial obligations; an2) ©ur judgments as to prevailing economic
conditions in the industry and their impact on oustomers. If circumstances change, and the finahnondition of our customers are advers

affected and they are unable to meet their findmtiigations to us, we may need to take additi@il@wances, which would result in a
reduction of our net income.

The increase in the allowance for doutdftdounts during fiscal 2008 related primarily t@ @ustomer. The allowance for doubtful

accounts consisted of the following activity fasdal years ended December 27, 2008, December @9,d@ December 30, 2006 (in
thousands):

Balance a
Balance a

Beginning
End of
of Year Additions  Deductions Year

Allowance for doubtful accounts receiva

Fiscal year ended December 30, 2 $ 4% — $ — $ 74
Fiscal year ended December 29, 2 $ 4% — $ — $ 74
Fiscal year ended December 27, 2 $ 74 $4,63t $ (489 $ 4,22

Shipping and Handling Expenses

Costs incurred for shipping and handlingiacluded in cost of revenue at the time the eelaévenue is recognized.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs, included in sales andkating expenses, are expensed as incurred. Adivgrtexpenses in fiscal 2008, fiscal 2007,
fiscal 2006 were approximately $0.2 million, $0.4lion, and $0.4 million, respectively.

Income Taxes

The Company adopted Financial Accountirap8ards Board ("FASB") Interpretation No. 4&ccounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes, an Interpretation of FASB Statement No."10BIN 48") on December 31, 2006, the first daytted first quarter of fiscal 2007. FIN 48
prescribes a recognition threshold and measureatgiiiute for the financial statement recognition aneasurement of a tax position taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return that resuléstax benefit. Additionally, FIN 48 provides gaitte on derecognition, statement of opera
classification of interest and penalties, accougniminterim periods, disclosure, and transitios.&result of the implementation of FIN 48, the
Company's tax assets and liabilities did not diffem the assets and liabilities before adoption.
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Therefore, the Company did not record any cumwagiffect adjustment as of the adoption date. Seée Nb—Income Taxes for additional
information.

The Company accounts for income taxes utigeprovisions of SFAS No. 109, "Accounting focdme Taxes". Under this method, it
determines deferred tax assets and liabilitiescbapen the difference between the financial statgrard tax bases of assets and liabilities
using enacted tax rates in effect for the yearlirctvthe differences are expected to affect taxazleme. The tax consequences of most events
recognized in the current year's financial statdmare included in determining income taxes culygrdyable. However, because tax laws and
financial accounting standards differ in their rgeition and measurement of assets, liabilitiesjtggrevenue, expenses, gains and losses,
differences arise between the amount of taxableniecand pre-tax financial income for a year anevben the tax bases of assets or liabilities
and their reported amounts in the financial statémd3ecause it is assumed that the reported amofiassets and liabilities will be recovered
and settled, respectively, a difference betweenakdasis of an asset or a liability and its regaamount in the balance sheet will result in a
taxable or a deductible amount in some future yaden the related liabilities are settled or theoréed amounts of the assets are recovered,
hence giving rise to a deferred tax asset. The Gommust then assess the likelihood that its dedieiax assets will be recovered from future
taxable income and to the extent it believes thabvery is not likely, it must establish a valuatalowance.

As part of the process of preparing itssmidated financial statements, the Company isirequo estimate its income taxes. This process
involves estimating its actual current tax exposagether with assessing temporary differencesrtfegt result in deferred tax assets.
Management judgment is required in determining\aiyation allowance recorded against our net defietaix assets. Any such valuation
allowance would be based on its estimates of incanakthe period over which our deferred tax asgetdd be recoverable. While
management has considered taxable income and @ngaident and feasible tax planning strategiesgessing the need for a valuation
allowance, if it was to determine that it would betable to realize all or part of its net deferi@dassets in the future, an adjustment to the
deferred tax assets would result in additional finedax expense in such period.

The Company has concluded that it is stdke likely than not that it will be able to reaiall of its domestic deferred tax assets. For the
deferred tax assets resulting from foreign net @jirey losses, it has concluded that it is mordyikiean not that this asset will not be utilized
and therefore, it has recorded a full valuationvaéince for those deferred tax assets.

The Company calculates its current andrdedietax provision based on estimates and assunspii@t could differ from the actual results
reflected in income tax returns filed. Differendexween its tax provision and tax return may oeeuwt such adjustments are recorded when
identified.

The amount of income taxes the Company jsagsbject to ongoing audits by U.S federal, aatesand foreign tax authorities which
might result in proposed assessments. The Compastyrsate for the potential outcome for any unéertiax issue is judgmental in nature.
However, the Company believes that it has adequptelvided for any reasonable foreseeable outc@ba¢ed to those matters. Its future
results may include favorable or unfavorable adjesits to its estimated tax liabilities in the pdribe assessments are made or resolved or
when statutes of limitation on potential assessmexpire.
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Segments

The Company operates in one segment fodék&gn, development, manufacture, sale and suppprecision, high performance advan
semiconductor wafer probe cards, using one measunteof profitability to manage its business.

Stock-based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company &tbSFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Pay(t&hAS No. 123(R)"), using the
modified prospective transition method. Stock-basedrds that were granted prior to January 1, 208@xpensed over the remaining portion
of their vesting period under the same amortizatimthod and, for stock options, using the samevidire measurements which were used in
calculating pro forma stock-based compensationmesg@ender SFAS No. 123. Under SFAS No. 123(R)fainevalue of stock options are
measured using the Black-Scholes option-pricing ehadhile the fair value for restricted stock awaaasl restricted stock units are based on
the quoted price of our common stock on the datgrarfit. For all stock-based awards granted onter danuary 1, 2006, stock-based
compensation expense is amortized on a straightlésis over the requisite service period. SFAS1IS8(R) requires that the deferred stock-
based compensation on the consolidated balance ahélee date of adoption be netted against additipaid-in capital.

The Company has elected to adopt the atetransition method provided under the provisiof Financial Accounting Standards Bc
Staff Position No. FAS 123 (R)-3 "Transition ElectiRelated to Accounting for Tax Effects of Shames®& Payment Awards." The alternative
transition method includes simplified methods takksh the beginning balance of the APIC pooltesldo the tax effects of employee stock-
based compensation, and to determine the subseiguaatt on the APIC pool and consolidated statemehtash flows of the tax effects of
employee stock-based compensation awards thaugtoding upon adoption of SFAS 123 (R). See Netéstock-Based Compensation.

Net (Loss) Income Per Share

Basic net income per share available tomomstockholders is computed by dividing net incawailable to common stockholders by
weighted-average number of common shares outstgfigiirthe period. Diluted net income per shareoimputed giving effect to all potential
dilutive common stock, including options, warramsmmon stock subject to repurchase.
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A reconciliation of the numerator and deivtator used in the calculation of basic and dilutetl(loss) income per share follows (in
thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27 December 2¢  December 3C

2008 2007 2006

Basic net (loss) income per shar
Numerator:

Net (loss) incom $ (80,62) $ 72,89( $ 57,217
Denominator
Weighte-average common stock outstand 48,90¢ 48,04 45,17:
Weightec-average shares used in computing basic net (losgjne per shal 48,90¢ 48,04 45,17:
Diluted net (loss) income per shar
Numerator:

Net (loss) incom $ (80,62) $ 72,89 $ 57,217
Denominator
Weighte(-average shares used in computing basic net (lossire per shai 48,90¢ 48,04« 45,17
Add stock options, restricted stock, ESPP, warrantscommon stock subject to repurcl — 1,51: 2,021
Weighted average shares used in computing dilut¢@ass) income per sha 48,90¢ 49,557 47,19:

The following table sets forth the weightaderage potentially dilutive securities excludeshirthe computation in the table above bec
their effect would have been antidilutive (in thands):

Fiscal Years Endec
December 27 December 2¢  December 3C

2008 2007 2006
Stock options 6,77t 2,741 1,214
Restricted stock unil 594 — —
Total potentially dilutive securitie 7,36¢ 2,741 1,21¢
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Comprehensive Income
Components of comprehensive income (logskwas follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27  December 3C

2008 2007
Unrealized gain on marketable securities, netxbfeb300 in fiscal 2008 and $515 in fiscal 22 $ 1,08( $ 832
Cumulative translation adjustmel 84z 97
Accumulated other comprehensive income (It $ 192 % 92¢

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") B®-1, "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Delivgles," modifies the objective-and-
reliable-evidence-of-fair-value threshold in EITdslie No. O0®1, "Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverablelrhe modification woul
allow the use of an estimated selling price forelivéred elements for purposes of separating el&rniealuded in multiple-element
arrangements and allocating arrangement consideratien neither vendor-specific objective evidemaeacceptable third-party evidence of
the selling price of the undelivered element ar@lable. If this standard is enacted, it couldratbe timing of how the Company records
revenue for future arrangements. As the standandtifinal, the Company cannot currently predictivtine impact of these changes could k
its consolidated financial statements.

In October 2008, the Financial Accountinigrislards Board ("FASB") issued FASB Staff Posi{{tfSP") No. 157-3 "Determining the
Fair Value of a Financial Asset When the MarketTaat Asset Is Not Active" which clarifies the ajeption of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 157 when the ragfér a financial asset is not active and illustsehow an entity would determine fair
value when the market for a financial asset isantitve. The FSP is effective immediately and appigeprior periods for which financial
statements have not been issued, including interiemnual periods ending on or before Septembe2@TB. The adoption of FAS 157-3 did
not have an impact on the Company's consolidatethfiial statements.

In September 2008, the FASB issued FSPLR8-1 and FIN 45-4 ("FSP FAS 133-1 and FIN#%-"Disclosures about Credit Derivativ
and Certain Guarantees: An Amendment of FASB Statefo. 133 and FASB Interpretation No. 45; andi@i¢ation of the Effective Date ¢
FASB Statement No. 161". FSP FAS 133-1 and FIN 4Brénds FASB Statement No. 133 ("SFAS 133"), "Actiog for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities", to requirealfisures by sellers of credit derivatives, inclgdanedit derivatives embedded in hybrid
instruments. FSP FAS 133-1 and FIN 45-4 also ank&®B Interpretation No. 45 ("FIN 45"), "Guarantofscounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirectr@oi@es of Indebtedness to Others", to requiretiaddi disclosure about the current status
of the payment/performance risk of a guarantee.prbeisions of the FSP that amend SFAS 133 and4=lldre effective for reporting periods
ending after November 15, 2008. FSP FAS 133-1 dNd4b-4 also clarifies the effective date in FASBit®ment No. 161 ("SFAS 161"),
"Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Heddictivities". Disclosures required by SFAS 16& effective for financial statements
issued for fiscal years and interim periods
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beginning after November 15, 2008. The Companyiigently assessing the impact of FSP FAS 133-1RANd45-4 on its consolidated
financial results.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. I8¢ Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accountingneiples." The statement is intended to
improve financial reporting by identifying a cortsist hierarchy for selecting accounting princigle®e used in preparing financial statements
that are prepared in conformance with generallgpisx accounting principles The statement is affe&0 days following the SEC's approval
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar€&4®B) amendments to AU Section 411, "The Meaninm&sent Fairly in Conformity
with GAAP". The adoption of this statement is nepected to have a material impact on the Compauyisolidated results of operations and
financial condition.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No.,Blsclosures about Derivative Instruments and ditegl Activities, an amendment of
FASB Statement No. 133." SFAS No. 161 amends apédreds the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 1i#Bthe intent to provide users of
financial statements with an enhanced understarafin) how and why an entity uses derivative imstents; 2) how derivative instruments
and related hedged items are accounted for unde® $fo. 133 and its related interpretations and®y derivative instruments and related
hedged items affect an entity's financial positfomancial performance and cash flows. This statariseeffective for financial statements
issued for fiscal years and interim periods begigrafter November 15, 2008, with early adoptioncemaged. Because SFAS No. 161 only
requires additional disclosures, the adoption mdll have any impact on the Company's consolidatesd¢ial results.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFASIN®G, "Fair Value Measurements”. SFAS No. 157 dsfifair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value, and enhances/édue measurement disclosure. In February 20@8FASB issued FASB Staff Position
(FSP) 157-1, "Application of FASB Statement No. 186 FASB Statement No. 13 and Other Accounting Buocements That Address Fair
Value Measurements for Purposes of Lease Clagsificar Measurement under Statement 13" (FSP 13fd)FSP 157-2, "Effective Date of
FASB Statement No. 157" (FSP 157-2). FSP 157-1 dm&kFAS No. 157 to remove certain leasing transastirom its scope. FSP 157-2
delays the effective date of SFAS No. 157 for altfinancial assets and non-financial liabilitiegcept for items that are recognized or
disclosed at fair value in the financial statememts recurring basis (at least annually), unglleginning of the first quarter of fiscal 2009.
The measurement and disclosure requirements relafathncial assets and financial liabilities weféective for us beginning in the first
quarter of fiscal 2008. The adoption of SFAS No? 1dr financial assets and financial liabilities diot have a significant impact on our
consolidated financial statements. Effective Decen@8, 2008, we adopted SFAS 157 for all nonfinalnecssets and nonfinancial liabilities.
The adoption of this statement is not expectedhteta material impact on the Company's consolida&sults of operations and financial
condition.
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Marketable securities at December 27, 20808isted of the following (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Market
Cost Gains Losses Value
U. S. Treasun $104,81° $ 46 $ — $105,28!
Agency Securitie 60,94: 83€ (249) 61,75¢
Obligations of states and political subdivisi 17,86 12¢€ (60) 17,92¢

$183,62: $ 1,43C $ (84) $184,96¢

The following table shows the gross unmlilosses and fair value for those investments witealized losses that are not deemed to be

other-than-temporarily impaired, aggregated by stweent category and the length of time that indigidsecurities has been in a continuous
loss position as of December 27, 2008 (in thousands

In Loss Position for In Loss Position for

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Fair Value  Gross Unrealized Los  Fair Value  Gross Unrealized Los  Fair Value  Gross Unrealized Los
U. S. Treasun $ 6,45¢ $ - $ — $ — $ 6,45¢ $ —
Agency Securitie 24,94¢ (24) — — 24,94¢ (24)
Obligations of states and political subdivisi 3,77¢ (60) — — 3,77¢ (60)
$35,18:  $ 8) $ — 3 — $3518: % (84)

The net unrealized gains on the Companysstments during fiscal 2008 were caused primasilghanges in interest rates. The Com,
typically invests in highly-rated securities withw probabilities of default. The Company's investimgolicy requires investments to be rated
single-A or better, limits the types of acceptahlestments, concentration as to security holddrduration of the investment.

Market values were determined for eachviiddial security in the investment portfolio. Wherakiating the investments for other-than-
temporary impairment, the Company reviews factachsas the length of time and extent to whichvalue has been below the amortized cost
basis, the financial condition of the issuer, amel@€ompany's ability and intent to hold the invesitfor a period of time, which may be
sufficient for anticipated recovery in market valudich may be maturity.
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Marketable securities at December 29, 2isted of the following (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized Market
Cost Gains Losses Value
U. S. Treasunr $ 9% $§ — $ (1) $ 99
Agency Securitie 52,03: 52k D 52,55¢
Obligations of sates and political subdivisi 200,48t 82¢ (52) 201,26

$25351! $ 1,35: $ (54) $254,81

The following table shows the gross unelilosses and fair value for those investments witealized losses that are not deemed to be
other-than-temporarily impaired, aggregated by stweent category and the length of time that indigidsecurities has been in a continuous
loss position as of December 29, 2007 (in thougands

In Loss Position for In Loss Position for
Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Gross Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Value Loss Fair Value Loss Fair Value Loss
U. S. Treasun $ 994 $§ (1) $ — $ — $ 9949 s (1
Agency Securitie 5,10¢ D — — 5,10¢ D
Obligations of states and political subdivisi 9,84( 27) 9,45¢ (25 19,29¢ (52

$1594( $ (29 $ 945¢ $ (25 $2539¢ $ (54)

Contractual maturities of marketable semgias of December 27, 2008 were as follows @usands):

Amortized Market

Cost Value
Due in one year or les $142,70. $143,14°
Due after one year to five yee 39,73¢ 40,67
Due after five years to 10 yee — —
Due after 10 yeat 1,18¢ 1,14¢

$183,62: $184,96¢

Realized gains on sales or maturities aketable securities were $0.5 million and $50,080fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007, respectively.
Realized losses on sales or maturities of marketsdturities were $1,521 for fiscal 2006.
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Asset Retirement Obligation

The Company accounts for the retiremen&ofjible long-lived assets and the associated eetietment costs in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standard&gctounting for Asset Retirement Obligatidr(8§SFAS 143"). SFAS No. 143 requires that the
fair value of a liability for an asset retiremefligation be recognized in the period in whiclsiincurred if a reasonable estimate of fair value
can be made. In accordance with SFAS No. 143 ainedlue of the liability is added to the carryiagnount of the associated asset and this
additional carrying amount is amortized over tffie &if the asset. The Company's asset retiremeigiatioln is associated with its commitment
to return property subject to operating lease3 &wan, South Korea, Japan and Singapore to thigiinal condition upon lease termination.
The Company estimated that as of December 27, 2308s expected future cash flows of approxime#el200,000 would be required to
fulfill these obligations.

The leasehold improvements are being ameattio depreciation over the term of the leaseiriguhe fiscal years ended December 27,
2008 and December 29, 2007, approximately $2450005321,000 of the leasehold improvements wergt&ed to expense.

Following is a reconciliation of the aggaég retirement liability associated with the Comgsicommitment to return property to original
condition upon lease termination included in norrent deferred rent and other liabilities (in thands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27  December 2¢

2008 2007
Asset retirement obligation beginning bala $ 164: $ 83C
Initial amount recorded for new asset retiremerigakion — 793
Liabilities settlec — (46)
Increase (Decrease) based on revised estimatssetf r@tirement obligatir 191 (28)
Accretion expens 60 93
Asset retirement obligation ending balau $ 189 $ 1,64

Inventories
Inventories consisted of the following {irousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27  December 2¢

2008 2007

Raw materials $ 2147 $ 12,44

Work-in-progress 7,12( 12,97:
Finished goods

Deferred cost of revent 1,76t 48t

Manufactured finished goo« 7,75¢€ 3411

$ 18,78t $ 29,30¢
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Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of thiefiohg (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
Useful Life  December 27  December 2¢€

(in years) 2008 2007

Buildings 20 $ — $ 1161
Machinery and equipme 5t07 109,80¢ 95,01¢
Computer equipment and softwé 3to5 28,37¢ 20,75
Furniture and fixture 5 6,86( 6,792
Leasehold improvemen 1to 15 70,69¢ 70,49
215,74! 194,21¢

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortizz (116,900 (86,760
98,84¢ 107,45t

Land — 30C
Constructio-in-progress 14,96¢ 23,12¢

$ 113,81 $ 130,88:

Depreciation and amortization of propemy &quipment for the fiscal years ended Decembg?@78, December 29, 2007, and
December 30, 2006 was approximately $32.3 millias.8 million, and $20.5 million, respectively.

During fiscal 2008, the Company recogniaadmpairment charge of $4.4 million related to stouction inprogress assets in Singapor
conjunction with its decision not to proceed witle tonstruction of a new manufacturing facilityre proposed site in Singapore. The
construction-in-progress assets impaired includelding design costs as well as costs of tempaostmyctures. The charge was included in
"Impairment of long-lived assets" in the ConsolathStatement of Operations.

Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities consisted of the follmg (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27  December 2¢

2008 2007
Accrued compensation and bene $ 17,40¢ $ 21,42
Accrued commission 967 83¢
Accrued warrant 1,09¢ 1,38:
Other accrued expens 6,22( 6,38¢

$ 25,69! $ 30,02¢
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The Company uses derivative instrumentadoage its exposure to foreign currencies. As afeldder 27, 2008, there were three
outstanding foreign exchange forward contractetbJapanese Yen, South Korean Won and Taiwan Bollde following table provides
information about our foreign currency forward gawcts outstanding as of December 27, 2008:

Contract Amount  Contract Amount

(Local Currency) (U.S. Dollars)
(In thousands)
Japanese Ye 2,324,751 % 25,65¢
Taiwan Dollar 31,26: 98C
South Korean Woil 1,285,26! 93¢
Total USD notional amount of outstanding foreigieleange contrac $ 27,57¢

The contracts were entered into on Decer®®e2008 and mature on January 23, 2009. Theraforgain or loss relating to the
outstanding derivative contracts was recorded &ectmber 27, 2008.

Note 5—Restructuring Charges

In fiscal 2008, the Company implemented testructuring plans, which included reductionsof workforce and consolidation of
facilities. The plans were designed to restructneeCompany to better align with the current madgtironment. All expenses associated with
our restructuring plans are included in "Restrunglrin the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Fiscal 2008 Quarter 1 Cost Reduction Plan

In February 2008, the Company implementgtbbal cost reduction plan that included redudiagylobal workforce. The worldwide
reduction in workforce involved approximately 14%tlwe headcount prior to the reduction. The majasitthe activities comprising the quar
1 cost reduction plan were completed by the enttiefirst quarter of fiscal 2008 and consisted jariity of global workforce reductions and
property and equipment impairments. During fis@0&the Company recorded a charge of $5.3 milkdated to the quarter 1 cost reduction
plan.

Fiscal 2008 Quarter 2 Cost Reduction Plan

In April 2008, the Company implemented ecs®l global cost reduction plan that included réatyds global workforce by approximately
12%, with reductions primarily at the Company's tiokmerica operations. The plan also included thesolidation of a facility in Livermore,
California, United States. A substantial portiortied activities comprising the quarter 2 cost reéidicplan was completed by the end of the
second quarter of fiscal 2008.
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The following table summarizes the actéstrelated to both cost reduction plans as of Deeei27, 2008 (in thousands):

Fiscal 2008 Restructuring
Employee Property Contract
Severance an  and Equipment  Termination

Benefits Impairment and Other Total
Accrual at December 29, 2C  $ —  $ —  $ - $ —
Restructuring charge 7,62¢ 1,11z 41F 9,157
Cash payment (6,902) — (344) (7,24¢
Non-cash settlemen (650) (1,119 — (1,769
Accrual at December 27, 2C $ 77 $ —  $ 71 $ 14¢

The charges above have been reflectedaepans "Restructuring” in the Consolidated Statets of Operations. The remaining accrual
as of December 27, 2008 relates to costs assodcidtiedhe facility consolidation as well as certaigverance costs which are expected to be
paid within the next six months. As such, the redtiring accrual is recorded as a current liablitshin "Accrued Liabilities” in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Note 6—Fair Value

Effective December 30, 2007, the Compargpsetl SFAS No. 157,Fair Value Measurement$ ("SFAS No. 157"). In February 2008,
FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 157-2, ¥etive Date of FASB Statement No. 157," which pdeg a one year deferral of the
effective date of SFAS 157 for non-financial assetd non-financial liabilities, except those thet eecognized or disclosed in the financial
statements at fair value at least annually. The @om adopted the provisions of SFAS 157 with resfeeits financial assets and liabilities
only. SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishémmework for measuring fair value in generaligepted accounting principles, and
expands disclosures about fair value measurem@hR&S No. 157 applies under other accounting proceunments that require or permit fair
value measurements and does not require any newalae measurements. The standard describes\eafai hierarchy based on three levels
of inputs, the first two of which are consideredetvable and the last unobservable, that may lietosmeasure fair value:

. Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for idemitEssets or liabilities.

. Level z—Our investments are priced by pricing vendors wiavided observable inputs for their pricing witht @pplying
significant judgments. Brokers pricing is used rhaimhen a quoted price is not available, the inwestt is not priced by our
pricing vendors or when a broker price is moreafie of fair values in the market in which theestment trades. Our broker
priced investments are labeled as Level 2 investsriaecause brokers price these investments basathdar assets without
applying significant judgments. In addition, allair broker-priced investments have a sufficienele®f trading volume to
demonstrate that the fair values used are apptegdrfar these investments. Our fair value processsgde controls that are
designed to ensure appropriate fair values arededoSuch controls include model validation, revad
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key model inputs, and analysis of period over gkfioctuations and independent recalculation ofgsi

. Level =—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little@market activity and that are significant to thie value of the
assets or liabilities.

The Company measures and reports certandial assets and liabilities at fair value oe@urring basis, including money market funds,
U. S. government securities, municipal bonds, agsecurities and foreign currency derivatives.doadance with SFAS 157, the following
table represents the Company's fair value hieraiwhigs financial assets (cash equivalents andketable securities) measured at fair value on
a recurring basis as of December 27, 2008:

Level 1 Level 2 Total
(In thousands)

Cash equivalent

Money market fund $183,76¢ $ — $183,76!

U. S. government securitit — 20,00( 20,00(

Agency securitie — 79,971 79,971
Marketable securitie

U. S. government securitit — 105,28¢ 105,28!

Municipal bonds — 17,92¢ 17,92¢

Agency securitie — 61,75¢ 61,75¢

Total cash equivalents and marketable secu $183,76! $284,94! $468,71(

Note 7—Commitments and Contingencies:
Environmental Matters

The Company is subject to U.S. federatestad local, and foreign governmental laws andlegipns relating to the protection of the
environment, including those governing the discharfpollutants into the air and water, the manag#rand disposal of hazardous substances
and wastes, the clean-up of contaminated sitestenohaintenance of a safe workplace. The Compalimgvies that it complies in all material
respects with the environmental laws and regulattbat apply to it, including those of the Califiaridepartment of Toxic Substances Control,
the Bay Area Air Quality Management District, thiy®f Livermore Water Resources Division and thaifornia Division of Occupational
Safety and Health. The Company received two noti€esolation in fiscal 2007 and one notice of \&tibn in the first quarter of fiscal 2008,
from the City of Livermore regarding violation oértain applicable waste water discharge limits. éarh notice received, the Company
promptly investigated the violation, took what é@lieved to be appropriate steps to address theaduke violation, and implemented
corrective measures to prevent a recurrence. Tingp@oy has also implemented additional waste wegatrhent capability in consultation w
the City of Livermore and purchased additional wasater discharge capacity, which the Company reduds a result of its then increased
manufacturing capacity, through the City of Livem@oNo provision has been made for loss from emvirental remediation liabilities
associated with the Company's Livermore facilitgdnese the Company believes that it is not probialiea liability has been incurred as of
December 27, 2008.
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While the Company believes that it is imgdiance in all material respects with the enviremtal laws and regulations that apply to it, in
the future, the Company may receive additional mmvhental violation notices, and if received, firedolution of the violations identified by
these notices could harm the Company's operatwamish may adversely impact its operating results eash flows. New laws and regulations,
stricter enforcement of existing laws and regulaiahe discovery of previously unknown contamimatit Company or others' sites or the
imposition of new cleanup requirements could alsorhthe Company's operations, thereby adverselgéting its operating results and cash
flows.

Contractual Obligations
The following table describes our committseio settle contractual obligations in cash aB@tember 27, 2008:

Payments Due In Fiscal Years
2009 20102011 2012201: After 2013 Total
(In thousands)

Operating lease $5,17¢ $ 8,555t $ 3,63C $ 5,050 $22,41¢
Inventory purchase obligatiol 2,51¢ — — — 2,51¢
Total $7,581 $ 8,55 ¢ 3,63C $ 5,05( $24,93:

Rent expense for the fiscal years endededber 27, 2008, December 29, 2007, and Decemb&086, was approximately $6.0 million,
$5.3 million, and $4.2 million, respectively.

The table above excludes liabilities for anrecognized tax benefits, which totaled $16.lfioni as of December 27, 2008 and are
classified as long-term income taxes payable orconsolidated balance sheet. As of December 278,206 settlement period for our income
tax liabilities cannot be determined; howeversihot expected to be due within the next twelve timan

Indemnification Arrangements

The Company from time to time in the ordineourse of its business enters into contractrrahgements with third parties that include
indemnification obligations. Under these contratarsangements, the Company has agreed to defesheininify and/or hold the third party
harmless from and against certain liabilities. Eh@gangements include indemnities in favor of @ugrs in the event that the Company's
wafer probe cards infringe a third party's inteiled property and the Company's lessors in conoreetith facility for leasehold liabilities that
we may cause. In addition, the Company has entetedndemnification agreements with its directarsl certain of its officers, and its bylaws
contain indemnification obligations in favor of tb&ectors, officers and agents. These indemnitgrgrements may limit the type of the claim,
the total amount that the Company can be requargy in connection with the indemnification obtiga and the time within which an
indemnification claim can be made. The duratiothefindemnification obligation may vary, and for sharrangements, survives the agreer
term and is indefinite. It is not possible to detare or reasonably estimate the maximum potentieduant of future payments under these
indemnification obligations due to the varying terof such obligations, the history of prior indefigation claims, the unique facts and
circumstances involved in each particular contralcinrangement and in each potential future claimrfdemnification, and the contingency of
any potential liabilities upon the
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occurrence of events that are not reasonably detabie. The Company has not had any requests denmification under these arrangeme
The Company has not recorded any liabilities festhindemnification arrangements on its condensasotidated balance sheet as of
December 29, 2007.

The Company believes that substantiallpfits indemnities and commitments provide foritations on the maximum potential future
payments it could be obligated to make. However Gbmpany is unable to estimate the maximum amafuiebility related to its indemnities
and commitments because such liabilities are cgatihupon the occurrence of events which are rasorgably determinable. The Company's
Management believes that any liability for thesgeimnities and commitments would not be materidstaccompanying consolidated financial
statements.

Legal Matters

From time to time, the Company may be suthijelegal proceedings and claims in the ordiramyrse of business. As of the filing date of
this Form 10-K, the Company was not involved in amterial legal proceedings, other than the pracgedsummarized below. In the future
the Company may become a party to additional lpgadeedings, including proceedings designed tceptdts intellectual property rights and
to collect past due accounts receivable that reghie Company to spend significant resources.

Patent Litigation

The Company initiated patent infringemétigéation in the United States against Phicom Ceaiion, a Korea corporation, and its U.S.
subsidiary, both collectively "Phicom", and agaikitronics Japan Co., Ltd., a Japan corporatiod,it;U.S. subsidiary, both collectively
"Micronics Japan." In 2005, the Company filed aepainfringement lawsuit in the United States Dést€ourt for the District of Oregon
against Phicom charging that it is willfully infgmg four U.S. patents that cover key aspects®fdbmpany's wafer probe cards—U.S. Patent
Nos. 5,974,662, entitled "Method of PlanarizingsTagd Probe Elements of a Probe Card Assembly,"8622%, entitled "Probe Card Assem
and Kit, and Methods of Using Same," 6,624,648ledt"Probe Card Assembly" and 5,994,152, entitleabricating Interconnects and Tips
Using Sacrificial Substrates." In 2006, the Compalsp filed an amended complaint in the same Oreligirict court adding two additional
patents to the litigation—U.S. Patent Nos. 7,073, Zntitled "Method for Mounting a Plurality of $pg Contact Elements” and 6,615,485,
entitled "Probe Card Assembly and Kit, And Methofi$laking Same." Phicom answered the complaintthecamended complaint by
denying infringement, alleging defenses and asgpdbunterclaims seeking adjudications on the itglithfringement and enforceability of tl
Company's patents. Also in 2006, the Company filgadtent infringement lawsuit in the United Stddéstrict Court for the Northern District
California against Micronics Japan charging tha willfully infringing four U.S. patents that cev key aspects of the Company's wafer probe
cards—U.S. Patent Nos. 6,246,247, entitled "Prodoel @ssembly and Kit, and Methods of Using Samgh08,751, entitled "Planarizer for a
Semiconductor Contactor," 6,624,648, entitled "rGlard Assembly" and 7,073,254, entitled "MethadMounting a Plurality of Spring
Contact Elements." Micronics Japan answered thetzmnt by denying infringement, alleging defensed asserting counterclaims seeking
adjudications on the validity, infringement andacgability of the Company's patents. The compsaimthese actions seek both injunctive
relief and monetary damages. These two districtt@ations have been stayed pending resolutioheotbmplaint that the

90




Table of Contents

FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT (Continue d)
Note 7—Commitments and Contingencies: (Continued)
Company filed with the United States Internatiohelde Commission, or ITC, which is described below.

On or about November 13, 2007, the Comfgey a complaint with the ITC seeking institutioha formal investigation by the ITC into
the activities of Micronics Japan and its U.S sdiasy (collectively MJC) and Phicom. The requesteastigation as filed encompassed U.S.
Patent Nos. 5,994,152, entitled "Fabricating Irdarects and Tips Using Sacrificial Substrates,08,551, entitled "Planarizer for a
Semiconductor Contactor," 6,615,485, entitled "Rr@ard Assembly and Kit, And Methods of Making Sang624,648, entitled "Probe Card
Assembly,” 7,168,162, entitled "Method of Manufattg a Probe Card" and 7,225,538, entitled "Retil@ontact Structures Formed and T
Attached to a Substrate," and alleges that infrimgret by each of Micronics Japan and Phicom of tedfthe identified patents constitute
unfair acts in violation of 19 U.S.C. Section 133%e ITC complaint alleges violations of Sectiory 38 the Tariff Act of 1930 in the
importation into the United States of certain probed assemblies, components thereof, and cedsted DRAM and NAND flash memory
devices and products containing such devices ifidige patents owned by the Company, and reqagsésmanent exclusion order banning
importation into the United States of infringingoducts and certain downstream products. The adseatents currently in the investigation are
U.S. Patent Nos. 5,994,152, 6,509,751, 6,615,48b7¢225,538.

On or about December 13, 2007, the ITC iglext public notice that it voted to institute améstigation of certain probe card assemblies,
components thereof and certain tested DRAM and NAIMEh memory devices and products containing slestices. The products at issue in
this investigation are probe card assemblies, waielused to test semiconductor devices that hese tabricated on silicon wafers, memory
chips that have been so tested, and products oorgasuch chips.

The investigation (337-TA-621) was origigakferred to the Honorable Theodore R. EssexT@nadministrative law judge, and in July
2008 was reassigned to the Honorable Charles BEodkylan ITC administrative law judge, who will n&kn initial determination as to whet
there is a violation of Section 337; that initi@termination is subject to review by the ITC. Ti€lhas announced a scheduled hearing date
commencing on February 23, 2009; which would likegult in the issuance of an initial determinatigrthe administrative law judge on or
before June 19, 2009. The target date for the ITi@a$ determination is October 19, 2009. ITC remédrders in Section 337 cases are
effective when issued and become final 60 days ef$@ance, subject to Presidential review. OrbouaJanuary 23, 2009, the administrative
law judge, after a September 2008 hearing, isswggim construction ruling interpreting and defigiterms of certain of the claims of the
patents-in-suit. On or about January 28, 2009Ci@pany voluntarily withdrew its allegations to #neent that they encompassed its U.S.
Patent No. 7,168,162, and on or about Februar2d@®9, the administrative law judge issued an ihitetermination holding invalid the
asserted claims of the Company's U.S. Patent 18846548, after finding as part of the claim condan ruling that one of the terms in the
asserted claims of that patent is indefinite. ThenBGany appealed that initial determination of iidligy to the ITC panel on or about
February 18, 2009.

In addition to the United States litigapthe Company also initiated actions in Seoul.gdagainst Phicom. In 2004 the Company filed
two actions in Seoul Southern District Court, l@thin Seoul, South Korea, against Phicom allegifiingement of the Company's Korean
Patent Nos. 252,457, entitled "Method of Fabrigatimerconnections Using Cantilever Elements aratificial Substrates," 324,064, entitled
"Contact Tip Structures for Microelectronic Intencection
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Elements and Methods of Making Same," 278,342tledtiMethod of Altering the Orientation of ProbkeBents in a Probe Card Assembly"
and 399,210, entitled "Probe Card Assembly;" as agetwo actions the Company filed in 2006 in Se@eihtral District Court against Phicom
alleging infringement of certain claims of its KarePatent No. 252,457 and seeking injunctive relibése actions are all pending, except that
(i) in February 2007, the Seoul Central Districu@alismissed the Company's preliminary injunctomplaint related to Korean Patent

No. 252,457 (ii) in April 2008, the Seoul South@®istrict Court dismissed the Company's complaint eslated to Korean Patent Nos. 252,
and 324,064, and (iii) in July 2008, the Seoul @aristrict Court dismissed the Company's merinptaint related to Korean Patent

No. 252,457. The Company appealed the dismissdfetS8eoul High Court except the dismissal of ttedipinary injunction claim

In response to the Company's initiatiothef infringement actions in Korea, Phicom filedhe Korean Intellectual Property Office, or
KIPO, invalidity actions challenging the validity ®ome or all of the claims of each of the Compaifiyur patents at issue in the Seoul Sout
District Court infringement actions. KIPO dismisdedicom's challenges against all four of the patattissue. Phicom appealed the dismissals
of the challenges to the Korea Patent Court. Irb26@ Korea Patent Court issued rulings holdinglidvcertain claims of the Company's
Korean Patent Nos. 278,342 and 399,210. In 20@6Ktrea Patent Court issued a ruling holding irdvegrtain claims of the Company's
Korean Patent No. 324,064, and also issued a ruldglding the validity of the Company's KoreandPaiNo. 252,457. The Company
appealed the Patent Court invalidity rulings tokloeea Supreme Court. Phicom appealed the Patant @ding on Korean Patent No. 252,
to the Korea Supreme Court. In September 2007Ktlnea Supreme Court affirmed the Patent Court gglinolding invalid certain claims of
the Company's Korean Patent Nos. 278,342 and 3992 April 2008, the Korea Supreme Court affirmibd Patent Court ruling holding
invalid certain claims of the Company's Korean Rialdo. 324,064. In June 2008, the Korea SupremetCeversed the Patent Court ruling
invalidated certain claims of the Company's KorBatent No. 252,457 and remanded the case for furthkto the Patent Court.

Additionally, one or more third parties lkdnitiated challenges in the U.S. and foreign piatéfices against certain of the above and other
of the Company's patents. These actions includxaeination proceedings filed in the U.S. Patedt Brmdemark Office against certain of the
Company's U.S. Patents that are at issue in tharn¥&stigation, and proceedings in Korea againstdivthe Company's Korean patents and
proceedings filed in Taiwan against four of the @amy's Taiwan patents.

No provision has been made for patent-edlditigation because the Company believes thatribt probable that a liability had been
incurred as of December 27, 2008. The Companyimdlir material attorneys' fees in prosecuting agfeiding the various identified actions.

Securities Litigation

On October 31, 2007, a plaintiff filed arported stockholder class action in the Unitede&t@istrict Court for the Northern District of
California in which the Company and certain oftiten officers, including one former officer whoaigurrent director, are named as defendants
under the caption "Danny McCasland, Individuallglam Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated v. Raffactor, Inc., Igor Y. Khandros,

Ronald C. Foster and Richard M. Freeman." Subselyyuehaintiffs filed two other purported stockh@dclass actions in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of Califioia under the captions "Yuk Ling Lui, on Behalftddérself and All Others
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Similarly Situated v. FormFactor, Inc., Igor Y. Kidros, Ronald C. Foster and Richard M. Freemard"¥ictor Albertazzi, Individually and

on Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated v. Foraagtor, Inc., Igor Y. Khandros, Ronald C. Foster Richard M. Freeman." The three actions
have been consolidated. The plaintiffs filed thastons following the Company's restatement ofiitancial statements for the fiscal year
ended December 30, 2006, for each of the fiscattgrsafor that year, and for the fiscal quarterdezhMarch 31 and June 30, 2007. In April
2008, the designated lead plaintiffs filed a Coitsted Amended Complaint. The plaintiffs claimedlations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a), and
Rule 10b-5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1@3¢ging that the defendants knowingly issued nigtgrfalse and misleading statements
regarding the Company's business and financialtsgsrior to the restatements. On July 25, 2008,cburt granted the defendants’ motion to
dismiss the Consolidated Amended Complaint withdeta amend. On August 22, 2008 the designateddksctiffs filed a Second Amended
Complaint. The Second Amended Complaint also aflef@ations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a), and R@le-5 of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934. The plaintiffs again claim that defendaatswingly issued materially false and misleaditagements regarding the Company's
business and financial results prior to the restat#, as well as regarding the development of therteny product line. Plaintiffs seek to
recover unspecified monetary damages, equitakikf exid attorneys' fees and costs. Defendants dilesbtion to dismiss the Second Amended
Complaint on October 6, 2008, and a hearing omtbgon was has held January 16, 2009. The Compegugcts that the Court will rule on the
current motion to dismiss within the next severabks.

No provision has been made for the seegsrlttigation because the Company believes thatribt probable that a liability had been
incurred as of December 27, 2008.

Stockholder Derivative Litigation

On November 19, 2007, a plaintiff filed @rjported stockholder derivative action in the SigreCourt of the State of California for the
County of Alameda in which the Company is named asminal defendant and certain of its directoid then officers are named as
defendants under the caption "John King, Derivétiem Behalf of Nominal Defendant FormFactor, lacDr. Igor Y. Khandros, Dr. Homa
Bahrami, Dr. Thomas J. Campbell, G. Carl Everett Lbthar Maier, James A. Prestridge, Harvey Agwer, Ronald C. Foster and Richard
Freeman, and FormFactor, Inc." Subsequently, anpiaatiff filed a second purported stockholdeaisd action in the Superior Court of the
State of California for the County of Alameda unttex caption "Joseph Priestley, Derivatively on &8&bf FormFactor, Inc. v. Igor Y.
Khandros, Mario Ruscev, James A. Prestridge, Tham&ampbell, Harvey A. Wagner, G. Carl Everet{,doma Bahrami, Lothar Maier,
William H. Davidow and Joseph R. Bronson, and Faaoiér, Inc." The plaintiffs filed these two latartians following the Company's
restatement of its financial statements for thediiyear ended December 30, 2006, for each ofisbalfquarters for that year, and for the fiscal
guarters ended March 31 and June 30, 2007. Thetiffimiallege that the defendants breached théudiary duties and violated applicable law
by issuing, and permitting the Company to issuaenmlly false and misleading statements regartiiegCompany's business and financial
results prior to the restatements. The plaintiéfisksto recover monetary damages, and attorneysafegcosts. The two derivative actions have
been consolidated, and a consolidated amended aorhid to be filed 30 days after the Court in sheckholder class action enters a final
ruling.
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No provision has been made for the stoakdrodierivative litigation because the Company bebethat it is not probable that a liability
been incurred as of December 27, 2008.

Commercial Litigation

On February 20, 2009, the Company filedm@aint for breach of contract, common countspaat stated and injunctive relief against
Spansion, LLC, a Delaware limited liability compafi$pansion”), in the state superior court locate8anta Clara County, California. The
complaint States that Spansion has failed, in bred&pansion’s obligations under a purchase agneeemtered into by the Company and
Spansion, to pay the Company for probe cards tira€ompany designed, developed and manufactursdgnirto several purchase orders
placed by Spansion with the Company pursuant tagineement. The complaint alleges that as of Fepd® 2009, Spansion owed the
Company $8,094,533 for probe cards delivered byCibvapany and not paid for by Spansion. In the camplthe Company seeks (i) payment
of at least $8,094,533, (ii) a temporary protectivéer and an injunction enjoining Spansion frosigEng or in any way divesting itself of a
monies that the Company believes Spansion recéigeda certain third party entity, (iii) a prejudemt writ of attachment in favor of the
Company over Spansion's corporate assets and prpofey costs and (v) attorney's fees. As of tlagedof this Form 1@, Spansion had noty
responded to the complaint.

The Company believes that the factual aliegs and circumstances underlying the legal mdicgs against the Company as discussed
above are without merit. The Company also beli¢kratit does not have a material monetary damagassere in these legal proceedings that
would individually or in the aggregate have a matexdverse effect on its financial condition, lidjty or results of operations; however, these
legal proceedings have been costly and it is plestile Company will incur significant, and possibhaterial, attorneys' fees, which may no
covered by its insurance policies. These legalgedmngs may also divert the Company's managentenésand attention away from business
operations, which could prove to be disruptiveh® €ompany's business operations. In additionnéavarable outcome or settlement of these
proceedings, particularly if it is not covered byeaceeds the Company's insurance coverage, awdilddually or in the aggregate adversely
impact the Company's financial condition, liquidityresults of operations.

Note 8—Stockholders' Equity:
Preferred Stock

The Company has authorized 10,000,000 shafrendesignated preferred stock, $0.001 par yaloiee of which is issued and outstand
The Company's Board of Directors shall determireripphts, preferences, privileges and restrictiofithe preferred stock, including dividends
rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms@flemption, liquidation preferences, sinking fuedrs and the number of shares constituting
any series or the designation of any series.

Common Stock

Each share of common stock has the righhtovote. The holders of common stock are alstiezhto receive dividends whenever funds
are legally available and when declared by the 8o&Directors, subject to the prior rights of haidl of all classes of stock outstanding having
priority rights as to dividends. No dividends héde=n declared or paid as of December 27, 2008.
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Secondary Public Offering of Common Stock

On March 15, 2006, the Company completedféaring of 5,000,000 shares of its common stddie Company received net proceeds of
$182.0 million after the payment of an aggregat®$®i million of underwriting discounts and comnss and other offering expenses.

Equity Incentive Plans
Stock Option Plans

The Company has options to purchase slediemmon stock outstanding under the 1996 Stodio@glan, the Incentive Option Plan
and the Management Incentive Option Plan (the "$°)aior which it has reserved shares for issuamumexercise of these options. Since the
effectiveness of the Company's 2002 Equity Incenflan in connection with the Company's initial lpubffering, the Company does not gr
any options under the Plans. Under the Plans, tleedBof Directors had the authority to issue inmenstock options to employees and
nonqualified stock options and stock purchase sighconsultants and employees of the CompanyBblaed of Directors had the authority to
determine to whom options would be granted, thebemof shares, the term and exercise price (whicidcnot be less than fair market value
at date of grant for incentive stock options or 880%air market value for nonqualified stock opt)nlf an employee owned stock representing
more than 10% of the outstanding shares, the pfieach share would be at least 110% of the faiketasalue, as determined by the Board of
Directors. Generally, all options are immediatetgreisable and vest 25% on the first anniversamhefvesting commencement date and on a
monthly basis thereafter for a period of an adddidhree years. The options have a maximum tertarofears. Unvested option exercises are
subject to repurchase upon termination of the htddtatus as an employee or consultant. At Dece®e008 and December 29, 2007 no
shares of common stock, were subject to the Conipaigit of repurchase.

On April 18, 2002, the Board of Directodoated the 2002 Equity Incentive Plan ("2002 Plawhich became effective upon the effec
date of the initial public offering of the Compasigommon stock. The 2002 Plan provides for thetgrfiboth, incentive stock options and
nonqualified stock options, restricted stock arstrieted stock units. The incentive stock optioreyrhe granted to the Company's employees
and the nonqualified stock options, and all awattier than incentive stock options, may be gratdezmployees, directors and consultants.
The exercise price of incentive stock options ningsat least equal to the fair market value of comstock on the date of grant. The exercise
price of incentive stock options granted to 10%lshmlders must be at least equal to 110% of therfarket value of common stock on the
of grant and vest over five years. Options grantedier the 2002 Plan are exercisable as determinéteilCompensation Committee of the
Board of Directors, and for options granted one&fiobe February 9, 2006, the options generally extgin years from date of grant, and for
options granted after February 9, 2006, the optgmrerally expire seven years from the date oftgiidre Company initially reserved 500,000
shares of common stock for issuance under the RG2plus any shares that have been reserved bissned under the Company's prior
equity plans, plus any shares repurchased at th@alrpurchase price and any options which expireteafter. In addition, on each January 1,
the number of shares available for issuance uge2®02 Plan will be increased by an amount equald% of the outstanding shares of
common stock on the preceding day.
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Activity under the Plans and the 2002 Rtaget forth below (in thousands, except sharepamdhare data):

Outstanding Options

Weigthed
Average
Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Number of Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price  Life in Years Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 6,587,92° $ 16.9]
Options grante: 2,228,42 38.5¢
Options exercise (1,396,75) 11.5¢
Options cancele (300,70 24.6¢
Outstanding at December 30, 2( 7,118,89 24.3¢
Options grante: 1,729,16i 41.2:
Options exercise (1,498,84) 18.01
Options cancele (737,72) 26.8¢
Outstanding at December 29, 2( 6,611,49 29.1¢
Options grante: 1,141,001 20.7¢
Options exercise (119,679 5.97
Options cancele (946,017 34.8i
Outstanding at December 27, 2( 6,686,82! 27.3¢ 5.06 $4,701,26:
Vested and expected to vest at December 27,  6,195,40: 27.1¢ 5.04 $4,701,26:
Exercisable at December 27, 2( 3,949,19° $ 24.5: 4.7¢ $4,701,26.
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The options outstanding and vested by éserice at December 27, 2008 are as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Remaining  Weighted Weighted
Contractual
Number of Average Number Average
Options Term Exercise Vested and Exercise
Range of Exercise Price Outstanding (in years) Price Exercisable Price
$2.5(-$14.00 821,32( 314 $ 7.8t 803,82( $ 7.7:
$17.0¢-$19.36 1,040,01! 5.91 18.62 246,03( 17.7:
$19.5(-$22.83 741,23¢ 4.34 20.2i 696,64 20.2:
$23.0¢-$25.39 1,057,55: 6.57 24.7¢ 863,15( 24.61
$25.5¢-$37.70 678,20: 5.92 30.22 317,97: 30.1¢
$38.1¢-$39.84 1,091,60! 4.17 39.0¢ 568,34 39.14
$40.05-$41.32 180,24( 5.1¢€ 40.8: 106,07¢ 40.8¢
$41.3¢-$41.39 782,42: 5.27 41.3¢ 212,04¢ 41.3¢
$41.6¢-$47.04 290,83 4.9¢ 443 133,19¢ 44.3(
$47.6:-$47.63 3,40 4.6¢ 47 .63 1,912 47.6:
6,686,832 5.06 $27.3¢ 3,949,19 $24.5:

The aggregate intrinsic value in the tabllesve represents the total pre-tax intrinsic valased on the Company's closing stock price of
$13.47 on December 27, 2008.

The weighted average grant-date fair valuaptions granted during fiscal 2008 was $9.94 Tirinsic value of option exercises during
fiscal 2008 was $1.7 million. Cash received frooctktoption exercises was $0.7 million. In connettiath these exercises, the gross tax
benefit realized by the Company was $0.5 million.

The weighted average grant-date fair valuaptions granted during fiscal 2007 was $18.01e ihtrinsic value of option exercises during
fiscal 2007 was $37.7 million. Cash received frdotk option exercises was $27.0 million. In coniwttvith these exercises, the gross tax
benefit realized by the Company was $9.2 million.

The weighted average grant-date fair valuaptions granted during fiscal 2006 was $18.5% htrinsic value of option exercises for
fiscal 2006 was $41.3 million. Cash received frdotk option exercises was $16.2 million. In coniwttvith these exercises, the gross tax
benefit realized by the Company was $14.5 million.

The Company expects to settle employeesiption exercises by issuing new shares unde2@92 Plan.
Restricted Stock Units

Restricted stock units are converted ihtarss of the Company's common stock upon vestirggame-for-one basis. The vesting of
restricted stock units is subject to the employeefginuing service to
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the Company. Activity of the restricted stock uniteder the Company's equity compensation planthéofiscal year ended December 27, 2008
is set forth below:

Weighted
Average Grant
Shares Date Fair Value

Restricted stock units at December 31, 2 55,43: 25.27
Vested (18,109 24.81
Restricted stock units at December 30, 2 37,32¢ 25.4¢
Grantec 13,65( 38.4¢
Vested(1) (28,829 26.0z
Restricted stock units at December 29, 2 22,15( 32.7¢
Grantec 653,84( 19.8¢
Vested (27,180 21.51]
Cancellec (64,945 19.3¢
Restricted stock units at December 27, 2 583,86 $ 19.9:2

(1) InJanuary 2007, 9,608 shares of the former Prei&lestricted stock units vested. The remain®@16 shares ¢
restricted stock units vested on an accelerateid bager the Separation Agreement with the forntesiglent (See
Note 13—Departure of Executive Officer).

2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On April 18, 2002, the Board of Directoppeoved the 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan Z'EEPP"). The 2002 ESPP is designe
enable eligible employees to purchase shares ofrmomnstock at a discount on a periodic basis thrquagimoll deductions. Each offering peri
has generally been two years in length, consigifrfgur six month purchase periods. Effective frbabruary 1, 2007, the new offering periods
under the ESPP are a 12 month fixed offering pes@mdmencing on February 1 of each calendar yeaeadihg on January 31 of the
subsequent calendar year, and a six month fixestin§f period commencing on August 1 of each calepdar and ending on January 31 of the
subsequent calendar year. The 12 month offeriniggheonsists of two six month purchase periodstaadsix month offering period consists
one six month purchase period. The price of thernomstock purchased is 85% of the lesser of tharfarket value of the common stock on
the first day of the applicable offering periodtbe last day of each purchase period, 1,500,00@ st common stock were initially reserved
for issuance under the 2002 ESPP. In additionntimeber of shares available for issuance under@dg ESPP will be increased on each
January 1 by an amount equal to 1.0% of the oudstgrshares of common stock on the preceding dienpl@&yees purchased 286,349, 253,
and 209,789 shares under this program at a weigiviedige exercise price of $17.84, $25.92, andi®28uring fiscal 2008, fiscal 2007, and
fiscal 2006, respectively.

Note 9—Stock-Based Compensation

The Company applies the provisions of SR&S 123 (R), using the modified prospective trdositmethod. SFAS 123 (R) requires
companies to recognize the cost of employee sexvice
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Note 9—Stock-Based Compensation (Continued)

received in exchange for awards of equity instruiéased upon the grant-date fair value of thosedsv Effective January 1, 2006, the
Company began recognizing compensation expenssfoty-based awards granted after December 31, gR@5unvested awards granted
prior to December 31, 2005. Stock-based compemsatipense for unvested awards granted prior to meee 30, 2005 is amortized based on
the measurement of fair value under SFAS No. 128levawards granted after December 30, 2005 arsuned under the guidance of SFAS
No. 123 (R). Under this method of implementatiorrestatement of prior periods has been made. Timelative effect related to tt
implementation of this new accounting principleoAganuary 1, 2006 was not material.

The table below shows the stock-based cosgi®n charges included in the statement of oot

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27 December 2¢  December 3C

2008 2007 2006
(in thousands)

Stocl-based compensation expense by type of a

Employee stock options(: $ 17,27 $ 22,43t $ 18,85
Employee stock purchase pl 2,44¢ 2,721 2,81
Restricted stock units(: 2,81¢ 93t 36¢
Amounts capitalized as inventa 33C a7y (415)
Total stocl-based compensatic 22,86¢ 25,92( 21,61¢
Tax effect on stoc-based compensatic (7,21¢) (8,702 (6,154
Effect on net (loss) inconr $ 1565( $ 17,21¢ $ 15,46t

(2) Fiscal 2008 includes approximately $256,000 inlsfo@sed compensation resulting from the acceleratidghe vesting
of a portion of the Company's former Chief Finah@#icer's stock options in conjunction with hisgaration agreement
and general release. (See Note 13—Departure ofuixedOfficer).

(2) Fiscal 2007 includes approximately $575,000 inlsfoesed compensation resulting from the acceleratighe vesting
of a portion of the Company's former Presidentislsbptions in conjunction with his separation agnent and general
release.

3) Fiscal 2007 includes approximately $798,000 inlstoased compensation resulting from the acceleratidhe
Company's former President's remaining unvestedatesl stock units in conjunction with his sepamtagreement and
general release.

Stock Options

The exercise price of each stock optioraéxithe market price of the Company's stock ord#te of grant. Most options are scheduled to
vest over four years and expire in either sevetemyears from the grant date. The fair value ehazption grant is estimated on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing motfekddition, the Company estimates forfeitures mvleeognizing compensation expense,
and adjusts its estimate of forfeitures over tlpiigte service
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period based on the extent to which actual forfegudiffer, or are expected to differ, from suctireates. Changes in estimated forfeitures are
recognized as a change in estimate in the periotiarige and will also impact the amount of compeEms&xpense to be recognized in future
periods.

The following weighted-average assumptiwase used in the estimated grant-date fair valleutsions for stock options:

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27 December 2¢  December 3C

2008 2007 2006
Stock Options:
Dividend yield — — —
Expected volatility 53.25% 45.2(% 50.2(%
Risk-free interest rat 3.04% 4.47% 4.8%
Expected life (in years 4.7% 4.7C 4.8(

The Company's computation of expected ilityator fiscal 2008, fiscal 2007 and fiscal 20@&s based on a combination of historical and
market-based implied volatility from traded optiamsthe Company's common stock. The Company balithat including market-based
implied volatility in the calculation of expectedlatility results in a more accurate measure ofviblatility expected in future periods. Prior to
fiscal 2006, the computation of expected volatiitygs based entirely on historical volatility. Tlgkrfree interest rate is based on the U.S.
Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of tharg for periods corresponding with the expectildi an option. When establishing the
expected life of a newly granted option, the Conypapplies the simplified method approach as outlimeStaff Accounting Bulletin No. 110.
The simplified method is based on the vesting pkaiod the contractual term for each grant, or &mhevesting-tranche for awards with graded
vesting. The mid-point between the vesting datethadexpiration date is used as the expected tederuthis method.

During fiscal 2008, the Company grantedrapimately 1,100,000 stock options with an estirddt#al grant-date fair value of
$11.3 million. For fiscal 2007, the Company grargggroximately 1,734,000 stock options with anmeated total grant-date fair value of
$31.5 million. As of December 27, 2008, the unamed stock-based compensation balance related¢& sptions was $44.2 million after
estimated forfeitures, which will be recognized ioae estimated period of 1.6 years based on thghtedaverage days to vest. Approximat
$330,000 of stock-based compensation was capitkilizaventory for fiscal 2008.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The ESPP provides that eligible employeag nontribute up to 15% of their eligible earningaard the semi-annual purchase of the
Company's common stock. Under the ESPP, employagguorchase the Company's common stock througloppagductions at a price equal
to 85% of the lower of the fair market value at biegjinning of the applicable offering period ottet end of each applicable purchase period.
Each offering period has generally been two yaatsrigth, consisting of four six month purchasedqus. Effective from February 1, 2007, the
new offering periods under the ESPP are a 12 mipret offering period commencing on February 1 afte calendar year and ending on
January 31 of the subsequent calendar year, amcheosth fixed offering period
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commencing on August 1 of each calendar year adohg@ron January 31 of the subsequent calendar Yaarl2 month offering period
consists of two six month purchase periods andithenonth offering period consists of one six moptinchase period. During the fiscal year
ended December 27, 2008, 286,349 shares were iasded the ESPP. As of December 27, 2008, the Coynipad $0.1 million of total
unrecognized stockased compensation, net of estimated forfeitudasegtto ESPP grants, which will be recognized akerweighted averay
period of one month. Compensation expense is @kiusing the fair value of the employees' purehights under the Black-Scholes model.
The following assumptions were used in the estichfdé value calculations for the employees' pusehaghts:

Fiscal Years Ended

December 27, December 29, December 30,
2008 2007 2006
ESPP:
Dividend yield — — —
Expected volatility 52.0%—56.2% 37.9%—50.2% 44.2%—61.8%
Risk-free interest rat 1.88%—5.11% 4.96%—5.16% 3.69%—5.18%
Expected life (in years 0.5(—1.00 0.5(—1.00 0.4¢—2.00

Restricted Stock Units

The cost of these awards is determinedyusie fair value of the Company's common stockhendate of the grant, and compensation
is recognized over the vesting period. Restrictedksunits generally vest over four years.

The total fair value of restricted stocktsithat vested during fiscal 2008, fiscal 2007 &sdal 2006 were $0.6 million, $1.2 million, and
$0.6, respectively. As of December 27, 2008, then@any had $9.9 million of unrecognized stock-basmtdpensation costs related to
restricted stock unit grants, which will be recamggd over the weighted average remaining contratéual of 3.1 years. As of December 27,
2008, the Company expected 444,207 restricted stoit& to vest.
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Note 10—Income Taxes:
The components of income (loss) beforenmedaxes were as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27 December 2¢  December 3C

2008 2007 2006
Federa $(111,68() $ 134,72° $ 82,55t
Foreign (13,23 (18,487 (190

$(124,91) $ 116,24( $ 82,36:

The components of the provision for incaaees are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27 December 2¢  December 3C

2008 2007 2006
Current (benefit) provisior
Federa $ (32,249 $ 48,716 $ 27,47
State 98t 80z 2,32¢
Foreign 2,24¢ 3,00z 947
(29,010 52,52 30,75
Deferred (benefit) provisior
Federal (9,240 (9,13%) (4,12¢)
State (6,047 58t (1,47¢)
Foreign — (620) —

(15,28)) (9,177) (5,604
Total provision for income taxe $ (44,29) $ 4335( $ 25,14¢

At December 27, 2008, the Company had Qaii& research credit and net operating loss aammgrds of approximately $2.5 and
$54.5 million, respectively, and foreign net opiergiioss carryforwards of approximately $43.5 moifli The California research credit and

foreign net operating losses can be carried foniraddfinitely. The California net operating losseay be carried forward up to 20 years and
the research credit is subject to limitation in 2@@pending on profitability.
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The components of the deferred tax assetdiabilities are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27  December 2¢

2008 2007
Tax credits $ 163C $ 99
Inventory reservi 20,14¢ 15,83¢
Other reserves and accru 5,79¢ 5,611
Non-statutory stock option 17,744 10,85¢
Net operating loses carryforwar 3,31¢ —
Foreign net operating losses and other tempordigreince 2,01t 2,007
Gross deferred tax assi 50,64 34,40¢
Valuation allowanct (1,395 (1,38%)
Total deferred tax asse 49,24 33,02%
Unrealized investment gail (300 (515)
Depreciation and amortizatic (5,32¢) (4,474
Total deferred tax liabilitie (5,629 (4,989
Net Deferred Tax Asse $ 43,61¢ $ 28,03

Management periodically evaluates the recability of the deferred tax assets and recogritzesax benefit only as reassessment
demonstrates that they are realizable. At such, tiiiités determined that it is more likely thantrthat the deferred tax assets are realizable; the

valuation allowance will be adjusted. As of Decen®g 2008 and December 29, 2007, the Company foaided a valuation allowance for
certain foreign deferred tax assets that it beear® more likely than not unrealizable.

The allowance against deferred tax assetsisted of the following activity for the fiscakégrs ended December 27, 2008, December 29,
2007 and December 30, 2006 (in thousands):

Balance a
Balance a
Beginning
End of
Description of Year Additions  Deductions Year
Allowance against deferred tax as:
Year ended December 30, 2C $ 77¢ $ 661 $ — % 1,44
Year ended December 29, 2C $144C $ 68 $ 121 $ 1,387
Year ended December 27, 2C $138 $ 8 $ — $ 1,39

U.S. income taxes and foreign withholdiagets associated with the repatriation of earnifigsreign subsidiaries were not provided for
approximately $2.5 million of undistributed earrsngf its foreign subsidiaries. The Company intetad®invest these earnings indefinitely in
its foreign subsidiaries. If these earnings westritiuted to the United States in the form of dérids or otherwise, or if the shares of the
relevant foreign subsidiaries were sold or othesvtiansferred, the Company would be subject totiahdil U.S. income taxes (subject to an

adjustment for foreign tax credits) and foreignhhidlding taxes. Determination of the amount of oogmized deferred income tax liability
related to these earnings is not practicable.

103




Table of Contents

FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT (Continue d)
Note 10—Income Taxes: (Continued)

Tax benefits of $0.5 million, $9.2 millioand $14.5 million in fiscal 2008, fiscal 2007, distal 2006, respectively, associated with the
exercise of employee stock options and other enggl@ayock programs were credited to stockholdetstyeq

The items accounting for the differencentssn income taxes computed and the (benefit) gmyvier income taxes consisted of:

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27 December 2¢  December 3C

2008 2007 2006
U.S. statutory federal tax ra $ (43,719 $ 40,68: $ 28,82¢
State taxes and credits, net of federal be (3,637%) 4,12¢ 1,112
Amortization of stoc-based compensation, net of tax be! 1,371 953 1,84(
Research and development cre: (2,327) (4,407 (2,840
Foreign net operating loss 6,26¢ 10,47( —
Tax exempt interest incon (83¢€) (2,48%) —
Foreign taxes at rates different than the L 50 (1,09%) —
Other permanent differenc (1,469 (4,967 (4,342
Change in valuation allowan @) 56 552
Total $ (44,29) $ 43,35( $ 25,14¢

Subject to meeting certain conditions akistment and business operations, we have beetedratfiavorable tax incentive in Singapore
into 2018. To date, we have not realized any firdrstatement benefit from such incentive.

On December 31, 2006, the Company adopfed!8. As a result of the implementation of FIN #8 Company's tax assets and liabilities
did not differ from the assets and liabilities befadoption; therefore, the Company did not reeorgladjustments as of the adoption date. In
addition, consistent with the provisions of FIN #8& Company reclassified $9.8 million of income liabilities from current to non-current
liabilities because payment of cash is not antteigavithin one year of the balance sheet date lem@€bmpany is unable to make a reasonably
reliable estimate when cash settlement with a tpainthority will occur. At the adoption date of [@etber 31, 2006, the Company had
$16.7 million of total gross unrecognized tax bé&seDf this total, $14.0 million, net of the fedébenefit on state issues, of unrecognized tax
benefits would impact our effective tax rate if@gnized. Upon adoption of FIN 48 the Company hgat@gmately $545,000 of accrued
interest and $0 penalties related to uncertaimptesitions. At December 27, 2008, we had gross teected unrecognized tax benefits of
$16.7 million of which $13.5 million if recognizediould impact the effective tax rate.
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The reconciliation of the total amountaiofecognized tax benefits as follows (in thousands)

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27  December 3C

2008 2007
Unrecognized tax benefit beginning bala $ 20,497 $ 16,69¢
Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal 2,45; 5,77z
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 15¢ 702
Reductions for tax positions of prior ye: (4,437 (347)
Reductions to unrecognized tax benefits due tcelapshe applicable statute of limitatic (464) (2,326
Settlement: (1,530 —
Unrecognized tax benefit ending balai $ 16,677 $ 20,49

The Company classifies interest and pezsli part of income tax expense. The Company mezmjinterest expense of $159,000,
$705,000, and $363,000 for fiscal 2008, fiscal 2804 fiscal 2006, respectively. As of December208, the Company had approximately
$343,000 of accrued interest and $0 of penaltilte® to uncertain tax positions.

The amount of income taxes we pay is stiltigeongoing audits by federal, state and foregnauthorities which might result in proposed
assessments. Our estimate for the potential outéonany uncertain tax issue is judgmental in rattdowever, we believe we have adequi
provided for any reasonably foreseeable outconzdaelto those matters. Our future results may decfavorable or unfavorable adjustments
to our estimated tax liabilities in the period #esessments are made or resolved or when stafditegtation on potential assessments expire.
As of December 27, 2008, changes to our uncer&ipositions in the next 12 months, that are reaslgrpossible, are not expected to have a
significant impact on our financial position or uéts of operation.

The Company and its subsidiaries file inedax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction,igas states and non-U.S. jurisdictions. The
Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, statélocal, or notJ.S. income tax examinations by tax authoritiesykears prior to 2002. Tl
Company is currently under examination by the St@alifornia Franchise Tax Board for fiscal yea@94 and 2005.

Note 11—Employee Benefit Plan:

In 1996, the Company adopted a retiremkamt which is qualified under Section 401(k) of theernal Revenue Code of 1986. Eligible
employees may make voluntary contributions to gigament plan of up to 25% of their annual compéing, not to exceed the statutory
amount, and the Company may make matching conioifisit The Company recorded expenses for matchingibations of $1.2 million in
both fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007 and $1.0 milliorfiscal 2006.

The Company provides a tax-qualified prsfiaring retirement plan for the benefit of eligileimployees in the U.S. The plan is designed
to provide employees with an accumulation of fufadgetirement on a tax-deferred basis and profad@nnual discretionary employer
contributions. The Company expensed $0.7 millidh23$nillion, and $4.9 million, for the qualified 8. profit sharing retirement plan in fiscal
2008, fiscal 2007, and fiscal 2006, respectively.
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The Company operates in one segment congsist the design, development, manufacture, sadesaipport of precision, high performai
advanced semiconductor wafer probe cards. In aaocslwith SFAS No. 131,Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise anaté&el
Information” ("SFAS No. 131"), the Company's chief operatimgidion-maker is the Chief Executive Officer, wleeiews operating results to
make decisions about allocating resources andsisggserformance for the entire company. Sincelbmpany operates in one segment ar
one group of similar products and services, alifiicial segment and product line information regulbg SFAS No. 131 can be found in the
consolidated financial statements.

The following table summarizes revenue tyrary based upon invoicing location:

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27 December 2¢  December 3C

2008 2007 2006
United State: 28.4% 30.7% 29.5%
Taiwan 16.Z 20.€ 25.€
Japar 34.€ 28.€ 30.C
Germany 34 34 3.3
Other 8.2 16.4 11.€
Total 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%

The following table summarizes revenue tmydpct group (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Endec
December 27 December 2¢  December 3C

2008 2007 2006

DRAM $ 139,537 $ 328,01¢ $ 272,15¢
Flash 38,43( 88,95¢ 58,16:
SoC 32,22: 45,21¢ 38,89¢
Total revenue $ 210,18¢ $ 462,19: $ 369,21:

Net property and equipment by country wafodows (in thousands):

Fiscal Years Ended
December 27  December 2¢

2008 2007
United State: $ 103,14: $ 117,71t
Japar 4,28: 4,092
South Kore¢ 3,657 2,73¢
Taiwan 2,02 972
Germany 60t 33€
Singapore 10t 5,027
Total $ 113,817 $ 130,88:
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Note 12—Operating Segment and Geographic Informatio: (Continued)
The following customers represented gretiien 10% of the Company's revenues in fiscal 2088l 2007, and fiscal 2006:

Fiscal 200¢  Fiscal 2007  Fiscal 200t

Elpida 27.1% 26.2% 22.1%
Intel Corporatior 12.¢ 10.C 12.€
Spansior 10.7 14.4 *
Powerchig * 12.4 12.C

* Less than 10% of revenue

Note 13—Departure of Executive Officers

In March 2008, the Company entered int@pagation Agreement and General Release (the "SepaiAgreement") with its former
Senior Vice President, and Chief Financial Offiado resigned from the Company effective March 0& In conjunction with the
Separation Agreement, the Company recorded a clofu$@2 million in the first quarter of fiscal 28@or severance payment.

In April 2008, the Company entered intoegp&ation Agreement and General Release with Jorgiginger, its former Senior Vice
President, Product Business Group. The Companywanditinger mutually agreed to eliminate Mr. Tigiar's position as part of the company's
restructuring activities in light of market and mess conditions. In connection with his Separatigneement, the Company recorded a charge
of $0.2 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2088 severance payment.

Note 14—Related Party Transactions

The Company engaged the law firm of Orridkrrington & Sutcliffe LLP in September 2007 t@pide compensation and benefits legal
services. The Company also engaged Orrick in Deee@®07, to represent the Company and certairs ofién directors and officers in the
securities class action litigation and the stoclolderivative litigation, both of which were filéollowing the Company's restatement of its
financial statements in 2007. A partner at Orrigkp is not involved in the above matters, is thather-in-law of Stuart L. Merkadeau, the
Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segretahe Company. Mr. Merkadeau does not haveanfiial or other interest in Orrick's
engagement. Prior to hiring Orrick for each mattee, Company's management discussed the potengjagement with the Company's
Governance Committee of the Board of Directors utlde Statement of Policy regarding Related Peflsansactions. The Governance
Committee reviewed and approved the Orrick engagéraad will continue to monitor the engagememesded. The Company paid Orrick
$1,596,613 and $72,371 in fiscal 2008 and 200 peesvely, for legal services rendered. As of tagedf this Form 10-K, Orrick continues to
provide legal services in the above matters.
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Note 15—Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unauditd)

The following selected quarterly finanaiiata should be read in conjunction with our comisdéd financial statements and the related
notes and "ltem 7: Management's Discussion andy&isabf Financial Condition and Results of Opernaglo This information has been deriv
from our unaudited consolidated financial staterméimat, in our opinion, reflect all recurring adjuents necessary to fairly present this
information when read in conjunction with our colidated financial statements and the related napgearing in the section entitled

"Consolidated Financial Statements". The resuligpafrations for any quarter are not necessarilicative of the results to be expected for any
future period.

Dec. 27 June 28 Mar. 29, June 30, Mar. 31,
Sep. 27 Dec. 29, Sep. 29
2008(1) _ 2008 2008 2008  2007(2) _ 2007 2007 2007
(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue! $39,88¢ $52,58: $52,01¢ $ 65,70: $120,50¢ $125,29: $114,12: $102,27:
Cost of revenue 39,30( 40,58: 40,91: 53,13. 58,92 58,60¢ 49,96¢ 47,98¢
Gross Margir 58¢ 12,00: 11,10: 12,57: 61,58 66,68: 64,15¢ 54,28
Operating Expense
Research and developmt 16,22 17,07¢ 15,82. 16,38¢ 16,24t 16,21¢ 14,38« 14,10:
Selling, general and administrati 26,17( 23,67¢ 22,708 22,65¢ 23,20: 23,36t 23,05t 22,92¢
Restructuring 47:< 141 3,22 5,32( — — — —
Impairment of long lived asse 4,40( — — — — — — —
Total operating expens: 47,26¢ 40,89 41,74¢ 44,36¢ 39,44¢ 39,58: 37,44( 37,03(
Operating (loss) incom (46,67% (28,899 (30,649 (31,799 22,13t 27,09¢ 26,71¢ 17,25!
Interest income, ne 1,63¢ 2,80¢ 3,12¢ 4.87¢ 5,741 5,76¢ 5,557 5,44¢
Other income (expense), r 24¢ 263 (652) 793 29z 41E (61) (119
Income before income tax (44,78¢) (25,82¢) (28,177 (26,12¢) 28,16¢ 33,27¢ 32,21« 22,57¢
(Benefit) from provision for income tax (14,82¢) (11,78 (9,517 (8,16% 13,81¢ 11,05¢ 11,10¢ 7,361
Net (loss) incoms $(29,96() $(14,04) $(18,659) $(17,967) $ 14,35. $ 22,22¢ $ 21,10° $ 15,21:
Net (loss) income per shai
Basic $ (061)$ (0.29% (0.3c)$ (0.37$ 03C$ 04€$ 044 3% 032
Diluted $ (061)$ (0.29% (0.3c)$ (0.30$ 02¢$ 04t $ 0458 031
Weighte-average number of shares used in per share cabnd
Basic 49,06. 48,98t 48,83t 48,74: 48,61( 48,29: 47,89: 47,38
Diluted 49,06. 48,98¢ 48,83t 48,741 49,92« 49,72¢ 49,51¢ 49,06(
1 Fiscal 2008 operating results include a fourth tarampairment charge of $4.4 million related togipore construction-in-progress assets (See Note 3
1)
) Fiscal 2008 operating results include restructudharges of $9.2 million relating to our global iganization efforts, of which, $0.5 million recotduring the fourth quarter of

fiscal 2008. (See Note 5).

Note 16—Subsequent Events

In January 2009, the Company announcedlzagteorganization and cost reduction plan desigadower the company's cash breakeven
level in order to enable the company to sustagififsancially in the current market environmeAs part of the plan, the company reduced its
workforce by 22%. The Company expects to incur epipnately $7.0 million in pre-tax restructuring ces,
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Note 16—Subsequent Events (Continued)

mostly related to employee severance arrangemiaritse first quarter of 2009. The majority of theacges are, or will be, cash expenditures.

In February 2009, the Company enteredantontract for the premature termination of itdléease offer in Singapore and received
$6.8 million in exchange for surrendering the leaf§er and related land to the lessor.
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Set forth below is a list of exhibits tlee being filed or incorporated by reference ihis Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Date of Exhibit Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No First Filing Number  Herewith
3.01 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiothe Registrant as file S-1 333 10/20/0: 3.01
with the Delaware Secretary of State on June 103 10981
3.0z Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Regist 8-K 00C- 5/25/0¢ 3.02
50307
4.01 Specimen Common Stock Certificate S- 333- 5/28/0: 4.01
1/A 8673¢
4.0z Sixth Amended and Restated Rights Agreement byaamong the Registrant S1 333-  4/22/0: 4.0z
and certain stockholders of the Registrant datgd1BR; 2001 8673¢
4.02 Stockholders Agreement by and among the RegistEantgor Y. Khandros S1 333 4/22/0: 4.02
Susan Bloch and Richard Hoffman dated Februarp94 8673¢
4.0¢ Stockholders Agreement by and among the Registantgor Y. Khandros S-1 33z 4/22/0: 4.04
Susan Bloch and Milton Ohring dated April 11, 1¢ 8673¢
4.0t Stockholders Agreement by and among the Regtsttanlgor Y. Khandros, S41 333-  4/22/0: 4.0t
Susan Bloch and Benjamin Eldridge dated Augusfi@24 8673¢
4.0€ Stockholders Agreement by and among the Regtstanigor Y. Khandros, S-1 333- 4/22/0: 4.0€
Susan Bloch and Charles Baxley, P.C. dated SepteBni®©94 8673¢
10.014 Form of Indemnity Agreemet S- 33z 5/28/0z  10.01
1/A 8673¢
10.0241 Form of Change of Control Severance Agreement 10- 000- 3/14/08  10.4¢
K 50307
10.034 1996 Stock Option Plan, and form of option grant S-1 333- 4/22/0z  10.0:%
8673¢
10.044 Incentive Option Plan, and form of option gr: S-1 33z 4/22/0z  10.0¢
8673¢
10.0541 Management Incentive Option Plan, and form of apticant S1 333 4/22/0z  10.0t
8673¢
10.064 2002 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and fafpéan agreements 10- 000- 8/7/0¢  10.0:
Q 50307
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Date of

Exhibit First Exhibit Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No Filing Number  Herewith
10.074 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as ame 1C- 00C- 8/7/07  10.01
Q 5030’
10.0841 Key Employee Bonus Plan, as amended 10- 000- 5/7/07  10.01
Q 5030:
10.091 Employment Offer Letter dated November 17, 2@Dddseph R. Bronson 10- 000- 3/14/0t  10.4¢
K 5030’
10.104 Separation Agreement and General Release datedrya3@ 2007 with Joseph 8-K 00C- 1/31/07 10.01
Bronson 50301
10.114 Employment Offer Letter dated January 27, 2005dodX C. Foste 1C- 00C-  3/14/0f  10.5C
K 5030’
10.121 Separation Agreement and General Release datechM8, 2008 with Ronald C. 8-K 000- 3/26/0¢  10.01
Foster 50307
10.1341 Employment Offer Letter dated November 23, 2@DDt. Mario Ruscev 8-K 000- 1/7/0¢  99.01
5030’
10.144 Employment Offer Letter dated September 25, 200Jbtge L. Titinge! 1C- 00C-  2/27/0¢  10.12
K 5030’
10.154 Separation Agreement and General Release datéidlAp2008 with Jorge L. 8-K 000- 4/21/0¢  10.01
Titinger 5030’
10.164 Employment Offer Letter dated March 1, 2008 tanJB. Vernet 8-K 000- 3/31/0¢ 10.01
5030’
10.174 Written description of definitive agreements torgase bonus targets for cert 8-K 00C- 3/2/0¢ —
executive officers approved on February 24, 2 5030’
10.184 Written description of definitive agreements torgase base salaries for cert 8-K 00C-  4/14/0¢ —
executive officers approved on April 10, 2C 50307
10.1941 Written description of definitive agreement tari@ase director compensation 8-K 000- 5/24/0¢ —
approved on May 18, 20( 50307
10.204  Written description of definitive agreementsrorease base salaries and bonus 8-K 000- 4/20/07 —
targets for certain executive officers approvedipnl 16, 2007 5030’
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Date of
Exhibit First Exhibit Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No Filing Number Herewith
10.214 Written description of definitive agreement regagldirector compensatic 8-K 00C-  5/28/0¢ —
approved on May 21 and 22, 20 50301
10.2Z Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and betweesr®ie Holding S- 333- 6/10/0: 10.1¢
Company LLC (successor to Greenville Investors,)L(’5reenville”) and the  1/A 8673¢
Registrant dated May 3, 20!
10.2% First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Ldgsand between Greenville S- 333- 5/7/0:  10.18.:
and the Registrant dated January 31, 2 1/A 8673¢
10.2¢ Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and betweerr®ike and the Registrant S- 333- 6/10/0: 10.1¢
dated May 3, 200 1/A 8673¢
10.2t First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasartdl between Greenvil S- 33z 5/7/0¢  10.19.:
and the Registrant dated January 31, 2 1/A 8673¢
10.2¢ Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @itkeand the Registrar S- 333 6/10/0: 10.2(
dated May 3, 200 1/A 8673¢
10.27 First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Ldasand between Greenville S- 333- 5/7/0¢  10.20.:
and the Registrant dated January 31, Z 1/A 8673¢
10.2¢ Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and betweerr®ike and the Registrant 10- 000- 11/7/0¢ 10.01
dated September 7, 2004, as amended by First AmamdmBuilding 6 Lease Q 50301
dated August 16, 20(C
21.01 List of Registrant's subsidiarir — — — — X
23.01 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing — — — — X
24.01 Power of Attorney (included on the signature pafghis Form 1(-K) — — — — X
31.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursudnt15 U.S.C. Section 7241, as — — — — X

adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 200z
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Date of
Exhibit First Exhibit Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No Filing Number  Herewith
31.0z Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant15 U.S.C. Section 7241, — — — — X
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 200z
32.01* Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chiginancial Officer pursuant to 18 — — — — X
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Segfiérof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002
* This exhibit shall not be deemed “filed" for purps®f Section 18 of the Securities Exchange A9 or otherwise subject to the

liabilities of that section, nor shall it be deeniedorporated by reference in any filing under Seeurities Act of 1933 or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, whether made before or #fiedate hereof and irrespective of any generalrparation language in any filing

+ Indicates a management contract or compensatomnygslarrangemen
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LIST OF REGISTRANT'S SUBSIDIARIES

SUBSIDIARY NAME JURISDICTION OF ORGANIZATION
FormFactor Europe LTI United Kingdom

FormFactor Germany Gmb Germany

FormFactor Hungary Licensing Limited Liability Comp, Hungary

FormFactor International, In Delaware, United Stat¢
FormFactor, KK Japar

FormFactor Korea, Inc South Kore¢

FormFactor Pte. Ltc Singapore

FormFactor Singapore Pte. L Singapore

EXHIBIT 21.01







EXHIBIT 23.01
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporationdfgrence in the Registration Statements on Forn{I{$8333-106043, 333-115137, 333-
125918, 333-139074, 333-148198 and 333-149411pohFactor, Inc. of our report dated February 2®2€elating to the financial
statements and the effectiveness of internal cbatrer financial reporting, which appears in thirf 10-K.

/sl PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LL

San Jose, California
February 27, 200







EXHIBIT 31.01

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 7241, AS
ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mario Ruscev, certify that:

1. | have reviewed the annual report on Forr-K of FormFactor, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsatimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdth@ periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@&))%(d internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregsused such disclosure controls and proceduies ttesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pneszh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoee with generally accepted accounting principles

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaksire controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusior
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougredis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in the annual report any change in tgesteant's internal control over financial repogtithat occurred during tt
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that hatenadly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationterhal control over financi:
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetaummmittee of the registrant's board of direct@rspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(@)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesiethe design or operation of internal contradiofimancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize ambrt financial information; ar

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a signifrodain the registrant
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2009 /sl MARIO RUSCEV

Dr. Mario Ruscev
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer and Directo







EXHIBIT 31.02

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 7241,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Jean B. Vernet, certify that:

1. | have reviewed the annual report on Forr-K of FormFactor, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omététe a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsatimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdth@ periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@&))%(d internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregsused such disclosure controls and proceduies ttesigned under o
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pneszh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoee with generally accepted accounting principles

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaksire controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusior
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougredis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in the annual report any change in tgesteant's internal control over financial repogtithat occurred during tt
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that hatenadly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadly affect, the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationterhal control over financi:
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetaummmittee of the registrant's board of direct@rspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(@)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesiethe design or operation of internal contradiofimancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize ambrt financial information; ar

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a signifrodain the registrant
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2009 /sl JEAN B. VERNET

Jean B. Vernet
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accoumty Officer)







EXHIBIT 32.01

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report onrrdi0-K of FormFactor, Inc., a Delaware corporation,the period ended December 27, 2008,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissach of the undersigned officers of FormFadtar, certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9@&dBarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to his retpe knowledge:

(1) the annual report fully complies with the requirenseof Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securitieshaxge Act of 1934, ¢
amended; and

(2) the information contained in the annual reportiygiresents, in all material respects, the findnmadition and results of
operations of FormFactor, Inc. for the periods enésd therein.

Date: February 27, 20( /sl MARIO RUSCEV

Dr. Mario Ruscev
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer and Directo

Date: February 27, 200 /s/ JEAN B. VERNE

Jean B. Verne
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accoumty Officer)







